
 

Fall 2015 House of Delegates 
Meeting 
 
 

 
October 3, 2015 
Nashville, Tennessee 

 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HOD is Going Green in Twenty15 
 
 
 

A limited number of printed agenda books will be available at the 
Fall ’15 HOD meeting. Wireless Internet access will be available in the 

HOD meeting ballrooms for your convenience. 
 

Please download the electronic Fall ’15 HOD agenda to your smart 
device prior to the meeting – and go green with us in 2015. 

 

 
 



Agenda Book Contents 
 
SCHEDULE, AGENDAS, SPRING ’15 HOD MEETING MINUTES 

A. Schedule of Events Surrounding House of Delegates Meeting ................................................. 4 
B. Agenda for the Joint Session Meeting ....................................................................................... 5 
C. Agenda for House of Delegates Meeting ................................................................................... 6 
D. Spring ’15 HOD Meeting Minutes .............................................................................................. 7 

 
MISSION, VISION, AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES 

A. HOD Mission, Vision, and Strategic Initiatives ......................................................................... 12 
B. Dashboard Metrics ................................................................................................................... 13 

 
REPORTS 
CAP 

A. Financial Report from CAP Secretary/Treasurer ..................................................................... 19 
B. Council on Accreditation .......................................................................................................... 38 
C. Council on Education ............................................................................................................... 41 
D. Council on Government and Professional Affairs ..................... No report since Spring ’15 HOD 
E. Council on Membership and Professional Development ......................................................... 44 
F. Council on Scientific Affairs ...................................................... No report since Spring ’15 HOD 

 
HODSC Liaisons to Councils 

A. Council on Accreditation .......................................................................................................... 48 
B. Council on Education ............................................................................................................... 49 
C. Council on Scientific Affairs ..................................................................................................... 51 

 
HOD Action Groups 

A. Action Group on Communication Networks ............................................................................. 52 
B. Action Group on Rules III ......................................................................................................... 54 

 
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE HOD RULES 

A. Proposed Amendments to Rules of the CAP House of Delegates .......................................... 55 
 
GATEWAY TO LEADERSHIP 

A. 2016 House of Delegates Steering Committee Elections  
• Election Process Timeline .......................................................................................... 57 
• Candidate Form .......................................................................................................... 58 

 

References 
 
DELEGATE ISSUES 

A. Delegate Chairs Issues ............................................................................................................ 60 
 
REFERENCE DOCUMENTS & FORMS  

A. HOD Roster ............................................................................................................................. 67 
B. HOD Rules ............................................................................................................................... 95 
C. HOD Apportionment .............................................................................................................. 107 
D. Key HOD Dates ..................................................................................................................... 109 
E. Residents Forum Roster ........................................................................................................ 110 
F. Panelists Bios ........................................................................................................................ 117 
G. CAP Value Based Business Center Overview ....................................................................... 119 
H. 2015 CAP Meritorious Awards ............................................................................................... 125 
I. How to Update Your Member Contact Information ................................................................ 126 
J. HOD Discussion Board Location on cap.org – Instructions and 

Guidelines for Posting ............................................................................................................ 128 
K. HOD Reimbursement Form ................................................................................................... 132 

 



 

 
Meeting: House of Delegates 
Date: October 2-3, 2015 
Location: Gaylord Opryland Resort, 2800 Opryland Drive, Nashville, TN 37214 
  t: 615-889-1000 | w: http://www.marriott.com/hotels/travel/bnago-gaylord-

opryland-resort-and-convention-center/ 
Staff:     Jan Glas | t: 847-832-7499 | c: 262-497-5197 | jglas@cap.org 

Maryrose Murphy | t: 847-832-7505 | mmurphy@cap.org 
Patricia Tennant | t: 847-832-7103 | ptennan@cap.org 
Marci Zerante | t: 847-832-7656 | mzerant@cap.org 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Friday, October 2 Event Location 
6:00-7:30 PM 
 

Welcome Reception Delta Lobby A 

Saturday, October 3   
7:00-8:00 AM 
 

Breakfast Delta Lobby A 

8:00-9:30 AM 
 

Joint HODRF Session Delta Ballroom A 

9:30-10:00 AM Sign-in / Credentialing at HOD Governors Ballroom A Foyer 
 

10:00 AM-12:00 PM 
 

House of Delegates Governors Ballroom A 

12:00-1:15 PM 
 

Joint HODRF Lunch Delta Ballroom A 

1:30-4:00 PM 
 

House of Delegates Governors Ballroom A 

4:00-5:00 PM 
 

Networking Reception Water’s Edge 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 4

http://www.marriott.com/hotels/travel/bnago-gaylord-opryland-resort-and-convention-center/
http://www.marriott.com/hotels/travel/bnago-gaylord-opryland-resort-and-convention-center/


 

 
House of Delegates and Residents Forum Fall ’15 Joint Session 
Saturday, October 3, 2015, Nashville, TN     
                         
Time Duration Topic Presenter 
7:00-8:00 AM 1 hr HOD and RF Joint Breakfast 

 
8:00-8:05 AM 
 

5 min Welcome and Introduction of CAP 
Officers, Governors, and Official Guests 
 

Lauren Stuart, MD, MBA  

8:05-8:10 AM 5 min State of the Residents Forum 
 

Lauren Stuart, MD, MBA 

8:10-8:15 AM 5 min State of the House of Delegates 
 

James E. Richard, DO, FCAP 

8:15-8:45 AM 30 min CAP Business Meeting, Swearing In of 
New Board of Governors, and Award 
Presentations 
 

Gene N. Herbek, MD, FCAP 

8:45-8:50 AM 5 min CAP Foundation Leadership Awards 
 

Jennifer Laudadio, MD, FCAP 

8:50-9:05 AM 15 min CAP CEO Update 
 

Charles Roussel 

9:05-9:20 AM 15 min CAP President Update 
 

Gene N. Herbek, MD, FCAP 

9:20-9:25 AM 5 min Closing Remarks 
 

James E. Richard, DO, FCAP 

 
  

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 5



 

House of Delegates Fall ’15 Meeting Agenda  
 
Time Duration Topic Moderator/Presenter Page 
9:30 AM 30 min Sign-In and Credentialing 

 
 

10:00 AM 5 min Welcome & Meeting Overview Kathryn T. Knight, MD, FCAP 
James E. Richard, DO, FCAP 

 

10:05 AM 10 min Strategic Overview 
 

James E. Richard, DO, FCAP  

10:15 AM 20 min HOD Liaisons to Councils and Action 
Group Updates 
 

Martha R. Clarke, MD, FCAP 
Rodolfo Laucirica, MD, FCAP 
HODSC Members 

 

10:35 AM 15 min Action Group on Rules 
Recommendation(s) 
Approve Proposed Amendments to Rules 
 

Sang Wu, MD, FCAP 
James E. Richard, DO, FCAP 

 

10:50 AM 5 min House of Delegates Steering Committee 
Elections 

• Call for Nominations 
• Nominating Committee 
• Election Process 

James E. Richard, DO, FCAP  

10:55 AM  30 min 
 

CAP Answers to Delegate Questions: 
Advocacy Updates 

Emily Green, MD, FCAP 
George Kwass, MD, FCAP 

 

11:25AM 30 min Delegate Issues Open Q&A Alfred  Campbell, MD, FCAP 
 

 

11:55 AM 
 

Break and pass to lunch  

12:00 PM HOD/RF Joint Lunch – Sponsored by PathPAC (Guest Speaker TBD) 
 

 

12:00 PM 
 

 HOD and RF Lunch  

12:20 PM 5 min Welcome & Opening Remarks Kathryn T. Knight, MD, FCAP   

12:25 PM 5 min PathPAC – Introduction of Dr. Coburn Wayne Garrett, DO, FCAP  

12:30 PM 40 min Guest Speaker -- Tom Coburn, MD, 
Former US Senator and 
US Representative 

  

1:10 PM 5 min Closing Remarks Lauren Stuart, MD, MBA  

1:15 PM Break and pass to HOD meeting 
 

 

1:30 PM 1 hr, 
30 min 

It’s All About the Value – A  Panel 
Discussion on Volume to Value for 
Pathologists 
 
 
CAP Response 

James E. Richard, DO, FCAP 
Richard Cooper, Esq. 
Frank Dookie, MBA 
Jeffrey Guy, MD 
Barry Portugal 
R. Bruce Williams, MD, PhD, 
FCAP 

 

3:00 PM 55 min Roundtable Discussions Kathryn T. Knight, MD, FCAP 
 

 

3:55 PM 
 

5 min Closing Remarks James E. Richard, DO, FCAP  

4:00 PM HOD/RF Reception 
 

 

 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 6



 
House of Delegates 
Spring ’15 Minutes  

Meeting: House of Delegates (HOD) 
Date: March 21, 2015 
Location:  Westin Copley Place, Boston, Massachusetts 
  

 
 

1. JOINT SESSION WITH THE CAP RESIDENTS FORUM (RF) 
 
The House of Delegates met with jointly with the Residents Forum to hear updates from the Speaker of 
the House James E. Richard, DO, FCAP; RF Chair Lauren N. Stuart, MD, MBA; CAP President 
Gene N. Herbek, MD, FCAP, and CAP Chief Executive Officer Charles Roussel. 
 
 
2. HOUSE OF DELEGATES’ MORNING SESSION 
 
Welcome 
 
The Speaker of the House and HOD Massachusetts Delegation Chair Michael Misialek, MD, FCAP, 
welcomed participants to Boston. 
 
Dr. Richard explained that this meeting’s agenda is a result of the HOD Steering Committee listening to 
delegates’ concerns and preferences. It is created from delegates’ comments at the Fall ’14 HOD meeting 
and the post-meeting evaluation as well as through Delegate Issues Reports and HOD meeting topic 
surveys.  
 
The Speaker introduced the House of Delegates Steering Committee and appointed Sergeant-at-Arms 
Rodolfo Laucirica, MD, FCAP, as the meeting timekeeper. Dr. Richard presented a review of the House of 
Delegates’ mission and vision. The next four years will focus on sustaining the House and the value it 
provides to the College. 
 
Fall ’14 House of Delegates Meeting Minutes 
 
The Fall ’14 House of Delegates meeting minutes were approved. 
 
Suspend Parliamentary Procedure 
 
Seeing no other business that required voting by delegates during the meeting, parliamentary procedure 
was suspended. 
 
Strategic Overview 
 
The Board of Governors and Delegates evaluations of the HOD and the HODSC were reviewed with the 
Delegates. The scores show room for improvement. It was stated that complacency is the pathway to 
mediocrity and that none of those present should be complacent with the results of the surveys. The 
Delegates were charged with keeping the HODSC and the Speaker accountable for meeting their needs.   
 
The five strategic initiatives that have been endorsed by the Board of Governors were reviewed: 

• Get a Job – an essential function of value that enmeshes the HOD into the infrastructure of the 
College 

• Market the HOD – a mechanism that weaves the HOD into the fiber of CAP councils and 
committees 

• Strengthen Relationships Between Council Chairs and HOD – a strategy that is advanced by the 
HOD Liaison to Councils effort and the direct efforts of the Speaker and Vice Speaker. 

 
 
Draft | Confidential 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 7



 

• Elevate the Stature of House Leadership – a position that places the House in direct contact and 
working with the Board of Governors via the Council chair and vice chairs 

• Create a Communication Network – a critical tool for the HOD to fully deliver on the charge as the 
voice of the membership 

 
Action Group (AG) Updates 
 
AG on Communication Networks 
 
Charge: to take some of the lessons learned in North Carolina and reproduce the communication network 
in more states. 
 
Keith Volmar, MD, FCAP, North Carolina delegate and AG on Communication Networks Chair, reported 
on his firsthand experience in establishing the North Carolina network. A pilot project was initiated in 2013 
with the goal of establishing bidirectional email communication between the HOD and Fellow members in 
the state.  The network is established and has accommodated conducting a survey of legislative priorities, 
sparking renewed interest in legislative issues. Most recently, it has allowed disseminated information on 
the recent Palmetto Local Coverage Determination (LCD) on immunostains. 
 
States in 2015 Pilot: California, Florida, Massachusetts, Michigan, New York, Ohio, Texas 
 
AG on CAP Laboratory Accreditation Program Advisory Group 
 
Charge: to provide member feedback on checklist requirements, improvements to existing programs, 
products and services, ideas for new products and service, and future program strategies. Members 
should be conversant in CAP Cancer Protocols in order to give feedback to the LAP Advisory Group. 
 
Martha R. Clarke, MD, FCAP, HOD Steering Committee Sergeant-at-Arms and HOD Liaison to the AG on 
LAP Accreditation Program Advisory Group, updated the House on recent activity and the value it has 
provided to this Advisory Group. 
 
AG on Pathology Practice Guidances (PPGs) 
 
Charge: to provide member feedback on the readability and applicability including accuracy, 
appropriateness and potential impact to patients and pathology practice on the Center Committee’s new 
product: Pathology Practice Guidances 
 
Emily Green, MD, FCAP, HOD Steering Committee Member-at-Large and HOD Liaison to the AG on 
PPGs, reported that the AG is responsible to review the Center Committee’s PPGs as indicated in the 
Charge. It will also determine if broader feedback is required from the full House of Delegates that may 
result in a meaningful impact on the final PPG. 
 
Dr. Green explained how PPGs are distinctly different from Evidence Based Guidelines. 
 
AG on Rules III 
 
Charge: To provide member feedback on the HOD Rules to determine what changes are needed to 
ensure that the Rules are current, accurately describe the functions of the HOD and its members, are fair 
and appropriate, and structure House activities to best advance the mission of the House. 
 
Sang Wu, MD, FCAP, HOD Steering Committee Member-at-Large and HOD Liaison to the AG on 
Rules III, reported that the AG is asked to focus its review on HOD Steering Committee nominations and 
elections, apportionment, and how to bring open discussions to the House. 

 
 
March 21, 2015 | House of Delegates | Draft | Confidential 
 

 
2 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 8



 

The Action Group intends to provide its recommendations to the HOD Steering Committee for the Fall ‘15 
HOD Meeting. 
 
Dr. Wu announced that the HOD Steering Committee call for nominations will open at the Fall ’15 HOD 
meeting in Nashville and with elections to be held in 2016. 
 
Board of Governors’ Candidate Forums 
 
Dr. Richard introduced the Candidate Forum and explained that it is a highly valued segment, based on 
the Spring ’14 HOD post-meeting survey. This session provides question and answer opportunities for 
delegates to learn about the candidates for each Board position. 
 
The segments were moderated by HODSC members. The ground rules were set and announced to 
candidates and delegates. 
 
President-Elect – Emily Green, MD, FCAP – Moderator 
R. Bruce Williams, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
 
Secretary-Treasurer – Martha R. Clarke, MD, FCAP – Moderator 
Richard R. Gomez, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
George F. Kwass, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
Gail H. Vance, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
 
Governor – Alfred W. Campbell, MD, FCAP - Moderator 
Edward P. Fody, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
Gerald R. Hanson, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
Richard H. Knierim, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
Raouf E. Nakhleh, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
Michael B. Prystowsky, MD, PhD – Candidate 
Frank R. Rudy, MD, FCAP – Candidate 
 
 
3. JOINT LUNCH WITH RF 
 
George Kwass, MD, FCAP, Chair, Council on Government and Professional Affairs, provided an update 
on the College’s Advocacy initiatives and fielded questions from the audience. Wayne Garrett, DO, 
FCAP, Chair, CAP Political Action Committee, provided information on the CAP’s grassroots efforts. 
 
 
4. HOUSE OF DELEGATES’ AFTERNOON SESSION 
 
Continuing the Test Utilization Conversation 
This segment was introduced by covering delegate concerns about what the profession and CAP are 
doing, should be doing, or could be doing to address inappropriate ordering of anatomic pathology tests, 
specifically special stains, during the Fall ’14 HOD meeting. Prior to the Spring ’15 HOD meeting 
delegates were asked to rank topics they want addressed at this meeting and AP Test Utilization was 
ranked number one. 
 
Kathryn T. Knight, MD, FCAP, HOD Vice Speaker, moderated a panel of three pathologists, each 
representing a different perspective, to speak to the issue. The panel members were: 

• Bruce Quinn, MD, PhD, Senior Policy Advisor for Foley Hoag, a national health care policy 
consulting firm and board-certified pathologist 

 
 
March 21, 2015 | House of Delegates | Draft | Confidential 
 

 
3 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 9



 

• Paul Valenstein, MD, FCAP, CAP Secretary-Treasurer and St Joseph Mercy Health Partners 
ACO President 

• W. Stephen Black-Schaffer, MD, FCAP, CAP Council on Government and Professional Affairs 
Vice Chair, CAP Economic Affairs Committee Vice Chair, New England Regional Medicare 
Contractor Advisory Committee Co-Chair 

 
Delegate Issues 
The Delegate Issues segment of the HOD meeting covered issues that delegates identified as important 
to them. The HOD Steering Committee gathers these topics through delegate surveys, the Delegate 
Chair Issues Reports, on the HOD Discussion Board, and delegates’ comments and opinions delivered 
directly to HODSC members. 
 
The session is framed to focus on three themes for this meeting: Maintenance of Certification, 
Accountable Care Organizations, and State Pathology Societies. The HODSC invited Rebecca Johnson, 
MD, FCAP, American Board of Pathology CEO, CAP Board of Governors, Council Chairs and 
professional staff to respond to delegate questions from the floor. 
 
The following topics were discussed and questions were asked by the people listed. The indented and 
bulleted names indicate the people who responded to questions or comments. 
 

Maintenance of Certification 
Candice Black, DO, FCAP – Delegate Chair (New Hampshire) 
Alfred W. Campbell, MD, FCAP – Delegate (South Carolina), HOD Secretary-Treasurer 
Thomas J. Cooper, MD, FCAP – Delegate (California) 
Mary E. Fowkes, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate (New York) 
Jerad M. Gardner, MD, FCAP – Delegate (Arkansas) 
Megha G. Joshi, MD, FCAP – Alternate Delegate (Massachusetts) 
Daniel F.I. Kurtycz, MD, ASC, FCAP – Delegate (Wisconsin) 
Vinod Shidham, MD, FCAP – Delegate (Michigan) 

• Rebecca L. Johnson, MD, FCAP – Delegate (Florida), ABP CEO 
 
Accountable Care Organizations 
Robert C. Babkowski, MD, FCAP – Delegate Chair (Connecticut) 
Michael C. Dugan, MD, FCAP – Delegate (California) 
J. Thomas Molina, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate (Texas) 

• Donald S. Karcher, MD, FCAP – Delegate Chair (District of Columbia) 
 
State Pathology Societies 
Jerad M. Gardner, MD, FCAP – Delegate (Arkansas) 
Vinod Shidham, MD, FCAP – Delegate (Michigan) 
Keith Volmar, MD, FCAP – Delegate (North Carolina) 

• James E. Richard, DO, FCAP – CAP HOD Speaker 
• Paul Valenstein, MD, FCAP – CAP Secretary-Treasurer 

 
ICD-10 
John Newby, MD – Delegate (Maryland) 

• Doug Knapman, Senior Director, CAP Practice Management 
 
Closing Remarks 
Dr. Richard expressed that delegates’ accomplishments are making a difference in the College and their 
voices are being heard. By speaking as a collective voice of CAP membership, they are advancing the 
House mission.   
 
 
 
March 21, 2015 | House of Delegates | Draft | Confidential 
 

 
4 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 10



 

Delegates were strongly encouraged to remain active by completing HOD surveys and signing up for 
future HOD Action Groups. Delegates must continue communicating with their states’ constituents, HOD 
Delegate Chairs, the HODSC, and their members of Congress to have their voices heard. 
 
Delegates were asked to attend important upcoming CAP meetings: the 2015 CAP Policy Meeting 
May 4-6 in Washington, DC; Fall ’15 House of Delegates Meeting October 3 in Nashville, TN; and to 
attend courses at CAP ’15—THE Pathologists’ Meeting™ October 4-7 in Nashville, TN. 

 
 
March 21, 2015 | House of Delegates | Draft | Confidential 
 

 
5 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 11



  

CAP House of Delegates 
 
Mission 
Voice of the Membership 
The House of Delegates (HOD) is the voice of the membership.  
 
Vision 
One College 
The HOD working in partnership with the BOG, Councils and Committees, each performing its 
prescribed task, to advance the strategy of the College and its members. 
 
Strategic Initiatives 

Strategic Initiative Remarks 

Get a Job 

The HOD must provide a function that the CAP views as being 
essential to its operation—a function that won’t get done unless 
the HOD does it. Such a dependency will integrate the HOD 
inexorably into the infrastructure of the CAP. We must determine 
what function best provides value to the CAP and meets our 
talents.   

Market the HOD 

In realizing our vision of One College, the HOD has in good faith 
embraced the College. The College must as a routine matter of 
business embrace the House. We need a mechanism that weaves 
the HOD into the fiber of the Councils and Committees as an asset 
that can be mobilized to advance their agendas, missions, and 
projects.   

Strengthen Relationships 
between Council Chairs 
and the HOD 

We need to strengthen the relationships between Council Chairs 
and the HOD in a manner that ensures that Delegates view 
Council Chairs as partners. We must define a way to improve the 
communications from the HOD to the Council Chairs and from the 
Council Chairs to the HOD.   

Elevate the Stature of 
House Leadership 

The CAP President speaks the voice of the membership to the 
house of medicine, and the House of Delegates speaks the voice 
of the CAP membership to the President. We must define and 
elevate the stature of our position.   

Create a Communication 
Network 

Delegates are accountable for communicating to their constituents 
and with CAP Leadership. We must develop a communication 
network that links Delegates to their constituents for the purposes 
of access, education, and mobilization.  

 
 

 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 12



9/17/2015

1

3.95
4.15 4.13 4.24 4.19 4.32

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Spr2015

HOD

As of March 2015

HOD Meeting Format

3.8

4.24 4.27 4.28
3.94

3.56

4.32 4.46 4.6 4.65

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
HOD BOG

As of March 2015

HODSC Effectiveness

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 13



9/17/2015

2

3.55
3.85 3.94 4.06

3.76

3.17

3.78
3.97

4.15 4.2

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
HOD BOG

As of March 2015

HOD Effectiveness as a Whole

As of September 17, 2015

D
al

la
s

88 97 102
127 135

169

119

181
201

228

272
243

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Spring Fall

Sa
n 

Di
eg

o
C

hi
ca

go

Da
lla

s

Sa
n 

Di
eg

o

Ba
lti

m
or

e

Bo
st

on

O
rla

nd
o

Sa
n 

A
nt

on
io

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

C
hi

ca
go

W
as

hi
ng

to
n

Meeting Registration

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 14



9/17/2015

3

37%

71% 68%

50%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Delegate
Chairs

E
L
E
C
T
I
O
N

Y
E
A
R

E
L
E
C
T
I
O
N

Y
E
A
R

As of March 2015

Delegate Chairs Submitting Issues 
Report

From HOD Delegate to CAP President 

9

9

Non HOD Members HOD Members
© 2013 College of American Pathologists. All rights reserved. 6

9 of the last 18 CAP Presidents were House Delegates

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 15



9/17/2015

4

From HOD Delegate to Governor 

30

45

Non HOD Members HOD Members
© 2013 College of American Pathologists. All rights reserved. 7

45 of the last 75 Governors were House Delegates

HOD Delegates Serving on CAP 
Councils & Committees

238221
Not Serving
HOD Serving

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 16



9/17/2015

5

45 42 44

87

142

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

HOD

As of March 2015

AG Engagement Opportunities

HOD Membership

257 264
313 329

372

459

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
© 2014 College of American Pathologists. All rights reserved. 

As of September 2015

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 17



9/17/2015

6

HOD Positions Filled

77% 78% 80%

92%
96% 98%

88%
93%

11% 13%
18%

31%

44%
50%

32%

44%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2008* 2009 2010 2011* 2012 2013 2014* 2015
© 2014 College of American Pathologists. All rights reserved. 

As of September 2015 – * connotes election year

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 18



 Information 
 

Topic: Report of the Secretary Treasurer      Report no. 
 
From: Paul N. Valenstein, MD, FCAP 

Secretary-Treasurer 
 

 Stephen Myers 
Chief Financial and Operating Officer 
 

Date: August 26, 2015 
 
 

The annual audit of the College of American Pathologists for the year ending December 31, 2014, 
and the comparable period in the prior year, was completed in March, 2015.   Copies of the 
College of American Pathologists’ audited financial statements, including the report of Ernst & 
Young, the College’s independent auditors, for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, are 
attached for information purposes.  
 
The Board of Governors was recently updated on the mid-year results for 2015.  As of June 30, 2015, 
the College had total assets of $191.9 million and net assets (total assets minus total liabilities) of $90.0 
million.  Total assets reflect a decrease of $4.9 million over the prior year due primarily to a decrease in 
long-term investments which were used during the fourth quarter of 2014 to fund projects related to the 
technology infrastructure.  Gross property and equipment increased from $161.2 million to $177.2 
million.  The majority of the increase reflects capitalized computer software as a result of the enterprise 
information technology (IT) system replacement project.  
 
Total liabilities as of June 30, 2015 of $101.8 million are greater than the comparable period in the 
prior year.  A $3.5 million increase in deferred revenue due to increased sales in Proficiency 
Testing (PT) and Laboratory Accreditation Program (LAP) was partially offset by decreases in 
other liability categories.    
 
Year-to-date revenue of $95.0 million exceeds the prior year by $5.2 million and the budget by 
$0.7 million. Growth in PT sales and an increase in LAP fees drive the revenue increase.  The 
revenue for LAP fees and PT are favorable to budget by $1.6 million while all other revenue 
sources combined are below budget.  By way of reference, member dues revenue to date is $1.6 
million.  The forecast is that total CAP revenue will be slightly favorable to budget for the full year 
in total.  Expenses are favorable to budget by $3.6 million and greater than the prior year by $1.7 
million.  The favorable increase in revenue along with the decrease in expenses drives favorable 
Excess Revenue from Operations compared to budget.   
 
The 2015 budget, as approved, included project spend to develop the LIP Strategy, implement portions of 
the IS strategy and fund further improvements in the IT platform.  Currently project spend is slightly lower 
than the 2015 budget.  
 
The 2015 budget called for revenue of $184.3 million and a shortfall of revenues over expenditures of 
$14.0 million, due primarily to the enterprise technology system capital investment.  Cash flow is budgeted 
to be positive. The updated 2015 forecast indicates that we should achieve the budget.   
 

  The Finance Committee met in August to begin the 2016 Budget process.  At the first meeting, the 
committee met with the Executive Operations Team to discuss the underlying strategies driving the 
development of the 2016 Budget.   A preliminary 2016 budget will be presented to the Finance 
Committee in October.  After this meeting, the Finance committee will recommend a target for the 
2016 budget and present this to the Board at the November Board meeting.   

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 19



  
  

 

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  

College of American Pathologists 
Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
With Report of Independent Auditors 

 

Ernst & Young LLP

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 20



  
1501-1386344  

College of American Pathologists 

Financial Statements 

Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 

Contents 

Report of Independent Auditors.......................................................................................................1 

Financial Statements 

Balance Sheets .................................................................................................................................3 
Statements of Activities ...................................................................................................................5 
Statements of Cash Flows ................................................................................................................6 
Notes to Financial Statements ..........................................................................................................7 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 21



 

 

Ernst & Young LLP 
155 North Wacker Drive 
Chicago, IL  60606-1787 

 Tel: +1 312 879 2000 
Fax: +1 312 879 4000 
ey.com 

 

 

  
1501-1386344 1 

Report of Independent Auditors 

The Board of Governors 
College of American Pathologists 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the College of American 
Pathologists, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the 
related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to 
the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

  

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 22



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 

 

 

  
1501-1386344 2 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the College of American Pathologists at December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 


March 6, 2015 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 23



3   1501-1386344

December 31
2014 2013

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents    22,643$         17,475$         
Accounts receivable, trade, net of allowance    

for doubtful accounts of $223 and $300 at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively 71,193           64,500           

Other receivables 629                503                
Inventory 257                305                
Prepaid expenses 5,430             3,151             
Short-term investments and related receivables –                    3,855             

Total current assets 100,152         89,789           

Investments 66,876           78,944           
Note receivable from affiliate 175                175                
Deferred compensation plan assets 3,828             3,710             
Other long-term assets –                    49                  

Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements 5,717             5,693             
Buildings, improvements, and leasehold improvements 24,821           24,756           
Furniture and equipment 14,102           13,839           
Computer software 108,192         98,813           
Projects in progress 17,280           9,509             

170,112         152,610         
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 108,388         95,561           

61,724           57,049           
Total assets 232,755$       229,716$       

College of American Pathologists

Balance Sheets
(Dollars in Thousands)

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 24



   1501-1386344       4

December 31
2014 2013

Liabilities and net assets
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 11,765$         6,016$           
Accrued salaries and employee benefits 12,693           14,843           
Other accrued expenses 4,005             3,317             
Current portion of note payable 612                576                
Deferred revenue 104,845         98,163           

Total current liabilities 133,920         122,915         

Note payable, less current portion 6,690             7,302             
Deposits 25                  23                  
Deferred compensation plan liabilities 3,828             3,710             
Total other liabilities 10,543           11,035           

Net assets – unrestricted 88,292           95,766           

Total liabilities and net assets 232,755$       229,716$       

See accompanying notes.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 25



   1501-1386344       5

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013

Revenues
Laboratory improvement programs 127,752$       122,477$       
Accreditation revenue 34,489           30,506           
Terminology revenue 1,599             2,892             
Periodical and published material revenue 5,155             4,849             
Membership dues 3,428             3,389             
Other 4,138             4,032             
Total operating revenues 176,561         168,145         

Expenses
Cost of materials and on-site inspections 62,371           59,163           
Personnel and employee benefits 76,491           75,060           
Travel and meeting 10,006           10,586           
Outside services 10,766           12,789           
Depreciation and amortization 12,846           10,737           
Office expense, rent, and maintenance 9,536             9,193             
General and administrative 2,891             2,802             
Miscellaneous 660                794                
Total operating expenses 185,567         181,124         
Loss from operations (9,006)            (12,979)          

Non-operating revenues (expenses)
Interest and dividend income 3,012             1,825             
Interest expense (466)               (500)               
(Loss) gains on investments, net (1,014)            6,522             

1,532             7,847             
Deficit of revenues over expenses (7,474)            (5,132)            

Decrease in net assets (7,474)            (5,132)            
Net assets at beginning of year 95,766           100,898         
Net assets at end of year 88,292$         95,766$         

See accompanying notes.

College of American Pathologists

Statements of Activities
(Dollars in Thousands)

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 26



   1501-1386344       6

2014 2013
Operating activities
Decrease in net assets (7,474)$          (5,132)$          
Adjustments to reconcile decrease in net assets 

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 12,846           10,737           
Loss (gains) on investments, net 1,014             (6,522)            
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, trade, net (6,693)            (5,577)            
Other receivables (126)               420                
Inventory 48                  56                  
Prepaid expenses (2,279)            (922)               
Short-term investments and related receivables 3,855             7,337             
Accounts payable 5,563             129                
Deferred revenue 6,682             (1,488)            
Accrued expenses and deposits 913                2,480             

Net cash provided by operating activities 14,349           1,518             

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment, net (19,689)          (11,084)          
Proceeds from sales of investments 49,150           41,034           
Purchases of investments (38,066)          (36,003)          
Net cash used in investing activities (8,605)            (6,053)            

Financing activities
Payments on note payable (576)               (497)               
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,168             (5,032)            
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 17,475           22,507           
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 22,643$         17,475$         

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses    

and deposits to purchases of property and equipment    (2,187)$          501$              

See accompanying notes.

College of American Pathologists

Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 27



  
1501-1386344 7 

College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2014 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 

The College of American Pathologists (the College) was established to foster the highest 
standards in education, research, and the practice of pathology; to advance the science of 
pathology and improve medical laboratory service to patients, physicians, hospitals, and the 
public; and to enhance the dignity, scientific competence, and efficient practice of the specialty 
of pathology for the service of the common good. The College provides services to its members 
and to hospital and clinical laboratories, substantially all of which are located in the 
United States. 

The College is a not-for-profit professional organization exempt from federal income tax under 
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization described in Section 501(c)(6). 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although estimates are considered to be fairly stated at the time that 
the estimates are made, actual results could differ. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less 
and consist of cash, investments in money market funds, and commercial paper, as well as 
amounts retained by certain investment managers upon liquidation of the account. 

Accounts Receivable 

The College evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable based on the length of time the 
receivable is outstanding and the anticipated future uncollectible amounts based on historical 
experience. Accounts receivable are charged to the allowance for doubtful accounts when they 
are deemed uncollectible. 

  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 28



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 8 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Investments 

Short-term investments consist of investments in mutual funds and are reported at fair value 
based upon quoted market prices. These readily liquid investments are held to meet short-term 
operating cash needs. 

Long-term investments include investments in debt and equity securities with readily 
determinable fair values and are reported at fair value based upon quoted market prices. 

Investments in alternative investment funds, structured as limited partnerships, limited liability 
companies, and investor companies, are accounted for on the equity basis for interests greater 
than 5% and on the cost basis for interests less than 5%. 

Income earned on debt and equity securities is reflected in non-operating revenues. Changes in 
fair value and earnings on equity-method investments are recorded in gains (loss) on investments 
in non-operating revenues. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for all financial instruments, with the 
exception of alternative investments, approximate their fair values at December 31, 2014 and 
2013. 

Inventory 

Inventory primarily comprises publications and test materials. Inventory is stated at the lower of 
cost or market. 

Other Long-Term Assets 

Other long-term assets consist of an investment in a joint partnership in which the College has a 
50% ownership interest. The College’s ownership interest is recorded under the equity method of 
accounting. 

  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 29



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 9 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost. Depreciation is 
provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, 
ranging from 3 to 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the related 
lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method. Costs related 
to the purchase and development of computer software for internal use are capitalized and 
amortized over the estimated useful life of the software (three to five years) using the straight-
line method. 

Costs associated with the development and installation of internal-use software are accounted for 
in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic (ASC) 350-40, Intangibles — 
Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use Software. Accordingly, internal-use software costs are 
expensed or capitalized according to the provisions of ASC 350. Depreciation expense for 
internal-use software was $11,457,000 and $9,205,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, respectively. 

Deferred Revenue and Revenue Recognition 

The College recognizes revenue related to its laboratory improvement programs and membership 
dues upon shipment of the product or completion of services. The College invoices and collects 
cash in advance of the delivery of some products and services and accounts for the cash or 
receivable as deferred revenue. All shipping and handling costs billed to customers are included 
as operating revenues and all costs incurred by the College for shipping and handling are 
classified as cost of materials and on-site inspections in the statements of activities. 

The College recognizes revenue for some products and services at the time of delivery, or in the 
case of accreditation services, on an annual basis when the service is performed. 

The College performs support and consulting services under contracts for which it is paid on a 
time and material or a cost plus basis upon performance of services, which is recognized as 
terminology revenue in the statements of activities. 

  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 30



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 10 

2. Related-Party Transactions 

The College is related to the College of American Pathologists Foundation (the Foundation). The 
Foundation is a Section 501(c)(3) not-for-profit organization established to contribute to health 
and patient care by providing resources and leadership to ensure continuing excellence in the 
science, art, and practice of pathology. The College makes contributions to the Foundation to 
further the Foundation’s purpose. Contributions to the Foundation totaled $500,000 for each of 
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. Net amounts due from the Foundation totaled 
$169,000 and $178,000 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The College provides 
management services to the Foundation that are not charged back to the Foundation. Dedicated 
foundation personnel are paid by the College and charged to the Foundation based on actual cost. 
Total salaries and benefits paid by the College and charged to the Foundation were $642,000 and 
$651,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The College also 
charges the Foundation for other shared services, which totaled $19,000 and $16,000 for the 
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

In response to the College’s Board of Governors’ action, the College entered into an agreement 
in 1997 to lend the Foundation up to $150,000 in 1998 and $100,000 in 1999. In 
December 2000, the College and the Foundation agreed to extend the agreement through 
December 31, 2010. The terms of the agreement stipulate repayment to the College in ten equal 
payments of $25,000, payable each year by December 15, beginning in 2001 and ending in the 
year 2010. Approximately $175,000 is reflected as a note receivable from affiliate at 
December 31, 2014 and 2013. The College’s Board of Governors took action to allow the 
Foundation to defer payment on the $175,000 loan balance at its May 2004 meeting. The 
deferment of the note and its collectability are evaluated annually by the College’s Board of 
Governors. The note was deferred until December 15, 2016, and is thus reflected as a long-term 
asset as of December 31, 2014. 

  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 31



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 11 

3. Investments 

Investments consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands): 

 2014 2013 

 
Carrying 

Value Cost 
Carrying 

Value Cost 
      
Common stocks $ 7,646 $ 6,563 $ 7,779 $ 6,125 
Corporate bonds 707 709 6,077 6,087 
      
Mutual funds:     

U.S. equity 15,930 13,065 22,293 11,516 
International equity 8,640 7,969 5,877 12,095 
Fixed income 16,802 16,218 19,207 17,106 

Alternative investments 17,151 17,151 17,711 17,711 
 $ 66,876 $ 61,675 $ 78,944 $ 70,640 

 
Short-term investments, consisting of investments in mutual funds, are excluded from the table 
above. Deferred compensation plan assets of $3,828,000 and $3,710,000 at December 31, 2014 
and 2013, respectively, which are not included in the table above, are invested in marketable 
mutual funds. 

Investment return is summarized as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 2014 2013 
    
Interest and dividend income $ 3,012 $ 1,825 
Realized gains on investments, net  2,070 2,003 
Unrealized gains (loss) on investments, net (3,084) 4,519 
 $ 1,998 $ 8,347 

 
The fair value of alternative investments based on estimates determined by the investment fund’s 
management was $25,125,000 and $23,564,000 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 32



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 12 

3. Investments (continued) 

Included in alternative investments are several private equity investments, which are long-term 
in nature and relatively illiquid. In general, the terms of the private equity investments commit 
the College to invest an agreed-upon amount of capital over a period of years as requested by the 
fund manager. The outstanding commitments under these agreements, which the College is 
obligated to fund upon request, totaled $1,223,000 and $1,459,000 at December 31, 2014 and 
2013, respectively. 

The following table summarizes the fair value of alternative investments that had unrealized 
losses and the length of time that the alternative investments have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position (in thousands): 

 
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer 

Date 
Fair 

Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 
Fair 

Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 
      
December 31, 2014 $ – $ – $ – $ – 
December 31, 2013 795,000 41,000 3,915,000 336,000 

 
Fair value is defined in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, as the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurement — Overall —, establishes a 
three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements based upon the transparency of inputs to the 
valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. 

The three levels are defined as follows: 

• Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical 
assets or liabilities in active markets. 

• Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments. 

• Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair 
value measurement. 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 33



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 13 

3. Investments (continued) 

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest 
level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Fair value measurements for 
common stocks and mutual funds are considered Level 1 under the ASC 820-10-50-2 valuation 
hierarchy, are based on open market pricing, and are valued on a daily basis. The investments in 
corporate bonds are considered Level 2 investments and are valued by pricing services utilized 
by the College’s investment managers in which quoted prices for similar instruments in active 
markets are used to determine fair value. 

4. Employees’ Retirement and Savings Plan 

The College maintains a 401(k) plan for employees to defer a portion of their pay. For 2014 and 
2013, the College matched the employees’ 401(k) contribution, up to 4% of the employees’ 
salary, and made an annual discretionary contribution of 6%. The employer contribution for the 
401(k) match was approximately $2,200,000 and $2,100,000 for the years ended December 31, 
2014 and 2013, respectively, and the discretionary contribution was approximately $2,900,000 
and $2,700,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

5. Leases and Other Commitments 

The College leases certain office space, office equipment, and data processing equipment under 
operating leases. A ten-year lease for the Washington, D.C., office was negotiated during 2004; 
an amendment to the lease was put in place in 2006 and represents $767,500 of future 
obligations as of December 31, 2014. In 2008, a new seven-year lease for additional office space 
near Northfield, Illinois, was negotiated; this lease represents $352,000 of future obligations as 
of December 31, 2014. The first five years of both leases contain non-cancelable terms and do 
not include increases based on operating experience as they have not yet been determined. As of 
December 31, 2014, future minimum lease payments under all leases with initial or remaining 
non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows (in thousands): 

2015 $ 1,735 
2016 804 
2017 64 
 $ 2,603 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 34



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 14 

5. Leases and Other Commitments (continued) 

Rental expense amounted to $3,399,000 and $3,211,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, respectively. 

6. Note Payable 

On January 30, 2004, the College entered into a loan agreement with a principal amount of 
$12,000,000 bearing a fixed annual interest rate of 6.15%. The loan will be payable in monthly 
installments over 20 years and is secured by a mortgage on certain real estate owned by the 
College. The 20-year mortgage requires monthly payments (including interest) as follows 
(in thousands): 

 Principal Interest Total 
Year:    

2015 $ 651 $ 393 $ 1,044 
2016 692 352 1,044 
2017 736 308 1,044 
2018 782 262 1,044 
Thereafter 3,829 521 4,350 

 $ 6,690 $ 1,836 $ 8,526 
 
Interest paid amounted to $469,000 and $503,000 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013, respectively. 

7. Commitments 

Supplier 

The College has entered into agreements with several of its suppliers, which obligate the College 
to purchase a minimum amount of materials and supplies for use in various products and tests 
provided by the College during the current and future program years. These agreements expire at 
various times through 2015 and amount to approximately $40,886,000. 

  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 35



College of American Pathologists 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  
1501-1386344 15 

8. Functional Expenses 

The College provides proficiency testing, educational services, accreditation, inspection, and 
other related services to its members and to hospital and clinical laboratories. The operating 
expenses included in the accompanying statements of activities are primarily related to the 
following for the years ended December 31 (in thousands): 

 2014 2013 
    
Program services $ 160,573 $ 160,130 
General and administrative services 24,995 20,994 
 $ 185,568 $ 181,124 

 
9. Subsequent Events 

The College evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to December 31, 2014, 
through March 6, 2015, the date of issuance of the accompanying financial statements. During 
this period, there were no subsequent events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial 
statements. 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 36



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services.  
The insights and quality services we deliver help build trust and confidence in 
the capital markets and in economies the world over. We develop outstanding 
leaders who team to deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so 
doing, we play a critical role in building a better working world for our people, 
for our clients and for our communities. 

EY refers to the global organization and may refer to one or more of the 
member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate 
legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, 
does not provide services to clients. For more information about our 
organization, please visit ey.com. 

© 2015 Ernst & Young LLP. 
All Rights Reserved.

ey.com

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 37



 Council/Committee Report            

Topic: Council on Accreditation Report         

To:  Board of Governors 

From:  Richard R. Gomez, MD, FCAP, Chair, Council on Accreditation 
Denise Driscoll, Director, Accreditation and Regulatory Affairs 

Date: June 26, 2015
 
 

 
 
1. COUNCIL PROGRESS ON LABORATORY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMS (LIP) STRATEGY  

OPEN Priorities – LIP Strategy Three Strategic Actions 
1.1.1 Retain and Grow Domestic LIP Revenue Profitably  

Stabilize and Strengthen the Core 

1.1.2 Expand Internationally  
1.2.1 Manage Cost of Goods Sold  
1.2.2 Manage Operating Expenses  
1.4.1 Increase Our Focus on Relationships with Key Customers  
1.4.2 Improve the Customer Experience (NPS)  

3.1.1 
Evolve Current Product and Service Features, Function and Value to 
Increase Competitiveness  Innovate from the Core 

3.1.2 Accelerate the Development of Complementary Offerings  
3.2.1 Improve Process Efficiency and Effectiveness  Develop Delivery and Support Capabilities 

Support Advancement of the Specialty 
 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 38



 Council/Committee Report            

LIP Strategy Recent Accomplishments:  
We continue to make strong progress within our initiatives. 
Recent updates include: 
• Inspection Process Focus Areas – Prioritized and 

confirmed three inspection process improvement focus 
areas: 

o Market Awareness 
o Operational Improvement Opportunities 
o Inspector Consistency G / O 

• Inspection Process Initiatives – Initiated or ongoing 
exploration of five project concepts under the inspection 
process improvement focus areas for development in 
2015/2016: 

o Network Global Summation Expanded Pilot 
o Alternate Options for Inspection Reciprocity 
o Inspector feedback Mechanisms Improvement 
o Inspector Recognition Program Improvement 
o Market Awareness Campaigns G / O 

• Section Checklist –Design phase in progress and on 
track for new reforecast date of 2/29/2016. G / A / O 

• ONPAR (CAP Quality Compass) – Development on 
track for the new reforecast date of third quarter 2015. 
G / A / O 

 
 
2. DISCUSSION TOPICS 

Accreditation Committee (AC) 
• The AC endorsed a proposal to place initial laboratories 

that have not commenced patient testing on 
Accreditation with Requirements instead of Preliminary 
Accreditation to facilitate oversight of such laboratories. 

The AC will recommend edits to relevant policies and 
refer them back to the council for consideration. G / O 

 
Biorepository Accreditation Program Committee (BAP) 
• The BAP committee reviewed the tissue procurement 

survey. This survey is intended for directors of surgical 
pathology practices to capture information regarding 
their experiences with research tissue procurement.. A 

• The committee discussed the possibility of expanding 
BAP to international biorepositories. G 

 
Commission on Laboratory Accreditation (CLA) 
• In response to the most recent CMS Validation 

Disparity Report, the CLA identified mitigation strategies 
with the goal to decease the disparity rate. These 
strategies include: 

o Revisions to letters in the laboratory and 
inspector packets emphasizing the 
responsibilities of the laboratory director in 
the overall quality of the laboratory. 

o Educational offerings including a Fast 
Focus on Compliance regarding the 
identification of systemic issues found 
during inspections. 

o Publication of a CAP Today article on CMS 
validation inspections. G / A 

 
Accreditation Education Committee (AEC) 
• The AEC met with Inspection Process Committee to 

discuss the Fast Focus on Compliance module on 
Identifying Systemic Issues. Both committees 
recommended increasing the accessibility of modules 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 39



 Council/Committee Report            

intended for inspectors by not placing them behind eLab 
Solutions, which requires an individual to log in. G / O 

 
Checklist Committee (CLC) 
• The CLC discussed inspection of molecular testing in 

the point of care environment. At issue is whether there 
are other applicable requirements in the Microbiology or 
Molecular Pathology checklists. The CLC determined 
use of the Point-of-Care-Testing Checklist is 
appropriate for those test systems that have a self-
contained analyzer without a separate process for 
sample preparation and extraction. A / O 

 
Continuous Compliance Committee (CCC) 
The CCC developed a plan to educate laboratories 

regarding the 6 month CMS cease testing mandate.  
 
Inspection Process Committee (IPC) 
• The IPC discussed the minimum requirements to be a 

specialty inspector and will be making a 
recommendation to the CLA to standardize minimum 
experience criteria across the five specialties. This 
should simplify the application process and open up 
additional opportunities for qualified individuals to 
participate on inspections, which will address some 
shortfalls in specialty inspectors needed for some 
specialty areas. G / O 

 
CAP15189 Committee 
• CAP15189 published guidelines on Risk Management 

and Measurement Uncertainty to support new clauses 
in ISO 15189:2012. A / O 

• CAP15189 staff has developed a cost of quality model 
that a laboratory can use with other quality tools for 
proactive budgeting. This will help a laboratory 
demonstrate its value to administration as part of the 
budget decision-making process. G / A 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 40



 Council/Committee Report            

Topic: Council on Education Report         

To:  Board of Governors 

From:  Michael Prystowsky, MD, PhD, FCAP, Chair, Council on Education 
 Ann Neumann, PhD, Vice President, CAP Learning 

Date: June 22, 2015 
 
 
1. COUNCIL/COMMITTEE PROGRESS ON 

INITIATIVES/ACTIVITIES COUNCIL/COMMITTEE 
PROGRESS ON INITIATIVES/ACTIVITIES  
Theme 1: Sustain Growth & Improve Profitability  

Goal 1.1 Grow Revenue 
Subgoal 1.1.3 Sustain Other Sources of 
Revenue 

 
AP3 Spring Workshop - Revenue Update  
Registrations for the four spring AP3 workshops were 
consistently below projections. The team is identifying 
additional tactics to maximize fall registrations. 
 
Theme 2: Advance the Specialty 

Goal 2.2 Prepare Pathologists for Future Roles 
Subgoal 2.2.2 Ensure Pathology Graduate 
Medical Education Meets the Needs of the New 
Models 

PIER  
The Pathology Informatics Essentials for Residents (PIER), 
developed in collaboration with APC and API, presents 
training topics, implementation strategies and resource 
options for PRODS and faculty to effectively provide 

informatics training to their residents and meet ACGME 
informatics milestone requirements. An Alpha test of the 
program is currently underway to obtain feedback on PIER 
materials and understand program implementation 
experiences. Feedback is being gathered from several 
perspectives including PRODs, faculty, program chairs and 
residents. The Alpha test is scheduled to be completed in 
October 2015, with the feedback being used to support 
Release 2 of the program prior to the start of the 2016 
academic year.  
 
Test Utilization Course for Residents  
This course is a collaborative project with the APC. It is a 
case-based, online course designed for residents to 
develop skill in: appropriate ordering practices, test 
interpretation, data analysis, and using consultative skills to 
guide clinicians in achieving better patient outcomes.  
 
Goal 2.3 Strengthen the Practice of Pathology 

Subgoal - 2.3.1 Offer Market Driven Learning 
Opportunities that Maximize Competence 

Pulmonary Pathology Learning Series Update 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 41



 Council/Committee Report            

The Pulmonary Pathology Learning Series prepares 
pathologists to lead the patient care discussion by 
incorporating practical tools and expert best practices, 
applying current pulmonary guidelines, and addressing key 
diagnostic issues. The full online learning series will be 
available within the next few weeks.  

 
Title 

CME/SAM 
Credits 

 
Availability 

New Approaches to Diagnosing Non-Neoplastic Lung Disease 
Approach to Fibrotic Lung Disease 1.25 Nov. 2014 
Pathologist’s Approach to Acute Lung 
Injury 

1.25 April 2015 

Understanding Diffuse Lung Disease: 
Imaging as a Bridge to Anatomy, 
Physiology, and Histology 

1.50 July 2015 

Cutting Edge Cytology Practices in Neoplastic Lung Disease 
Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and 
Molecular Testing Guidelines 

2.50 Sep. 2014 

Subtyping Non-Small Cell Lung 
Cancer 

1.25 Nov. 2014 

Reporting for Neoplastic Pathology 
Biomarkers 

1.25 June 2015 

 
Excellence in Practice Award  

The Laboratory Medical Director (LMD) AP3 was recently 
recognized by the Association for Talent Development 
(ATD) with an Excellence in Practice (EIP) Award. ATD’s 
EIP awards are presented to organizations with proven 
practices that have delivered measurable business results 
in achieving organizational goals. ATD received 126 EIP 
submissions in the fall of 2014 from organizations around 
the world; thirteen organizations received awards. The CAP, 
along with other award recipients, was honored on May 18 

at an awards ceremony held during ATD’s International 
Conference & Exposition in Orlando, Florida.  
 
CAP Learning Portfolio Overview  
CAP continues to focus on supporting member learning 
needs by growing its portfolio of offerings. In 2015, a total of 
296 CME activities are expected to be offered by CAP. This 
is 11% more offerings than were available in 2013 and 
represents a mix of live Annual Meeting courses, AP3 
programs, online learning and other offerings related to LIP 
and LAP products. Consistent with the CAP learning 
strategy, a greater number of these learning needs align 
with topics identified among pathologist’s highest priority 
learning needs than those topics that fall at the bottom of 
learning need priorities.  

 
Advanced Practical Pathology Programs (AP3) 
Schedule 

AP3 Program Date & Location 
Laboratory Medical Director (LMD) September 17–18 

Chicago, IL 
Multidisciplinary Breast Pathology (MBP) September 19–20 

Chicago, IL 
Prostate Pathology November 6–7 

Dallas, TX 
Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration 
(USFNA) 

October 17–18 
Englewood, NJ 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 42



 Council/Committee Report            

Theme 3: Operate Effectively & Efficiently 
Goal 3.1 Optimize Product Management Processes 

Subgoal - 3.1.1 Evolve Current Product and 
Service Features, Functionality, and Value to 
Increase Competitiveness 

 
Learning Management System Update  
The new system went live on March 16, 2015. Key drivers 
for replacing the previous LMS were to: 
• Improve accessibility of CAP learning content across 

multiple browsers and operating systems.  
• Reducing the number of clicks to get to an education 

activity 
• Provide an ability to browse through learning options 

without being logged into the cap.org site 
• Integrate purchases into the overall CAP shopping site 

so that courses can be purchased with other CAP 
products. 

 

All of these goals are being demonstrated. In the first 8 
weeks since release, users have accessed the new LMS 
using PCs, MACs, and tablets using multiple browsers as 
well including Internet Explorer, Firefox, Safari and Chrome. 
Users can browse the new site without logging in to cap.org 
first. Finally, several learners have purchased multiple 
learning activities in one transaction, the most being 14 
activities at one time.  

 
 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 43



 Council/Committee Report            

Topic: Council on Membership and Professional Development August 2015 Report   

To:  Board of Governors 

From:  Bharati Suketu Jhaveri MD, FCAP, Chair, Council on Membership and Professional Development 
Maryrose Murphy, Vice President, Membership and Professional Development  

Date: August 5, 2015
 
 
1. Council on Membership and Professional Development ACTIONS taken on August 1 & 2, 2015.  

 
Action Action Taken Staff Responsible 
1. APPROVE the following recommendations on how the CAP will 

work with state pathology societies (SPSs) to support CAP 
members and influence public policy:   
• Create market awareness of CAP’s federal and state 

advocacy activities 
• Share member information including email addresses 

between the CAP and SPSs to promote membership for 
both organizations  

• Add an OPEN goal to Theme 2 – Advance the Specialty – 
to support SPS membership growth and viability 

• Support SPS meetings with a CAP presence 

APPROVED 

 
 
 
 

Maryrose Murphy 
Doug Knapman 
Marci Zerante 

2. APPROVE the edits of the Use of Membership Lists policy to 
allow sharing membership contact information in a reciprocal 
arrangement with State Pathology Societies   

APPROVED 
 

Maryrose Murphy 
 

3. APPROVE the edits to the Meeting Site Selection and 
Scheduling policy to clarify the meeting restrictions around the 
CAP annual meeting site. 

APPROVED 
 

Maryrose Murphy 
 

4. APPROVE the CAP annual meeting recommendations 
proposed by the Annual Meeting Ad-Hoc Committee (AMAC) APPROVED 

 
Maryrose Murphy 

 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 44



 Council/Committee Report            

5. APPROVE a zero % increase in Fellow and International 
Fellow dues in 2016  APPROVED 

 
Maryrose Murphy 
Doug Knapman 

 

6. APPROVE increasing the Life Fellow dues from $5770 in 2015 
to $6,000 in 2016.  APPROVED 

 
Maryrose Murphy 
Doug Knapman 

7. APPROVE the following Maintenance of Certification (MOC) 
recommendations to the Board of Governors: 
• to actively support pathologists in meeting and managing 

maintenance of certification (MOC) compliance with 
information, resources and the CAP’s relationship with the 
American Board of Pathology as the CAP’s highest 
membership priority, 

• to set the MOC program as an essential member benefit 
that can drive recruitment and retention and to provide 
regular reports to the NIPC is requesting regular reports on 
the progress on its progress. 

APPROVED 

 
 
 
 

Maryrose Murphy 
Doug Knapman 

8. APPROVE the addition of a Digital Strategy Liaison position to 
the Residents Forum Executive Committee structure beginning 
in 2016 

APPROVED 

 
Maryrose Murphy 
Doug Knapman 

 
9. APPROVE the following, updated Practice Management 

Committee charge: 
• to identify, understand, and address the challenges of 

pathologists and their practices 
• to provide strategies, resources, and education to assist 

pathologists in developing, improving and managing 
successful practices in the current and evolving 
environment 

• to engage member practices providing a pathway to 
connect them with the CAP’s practice management 
resources 

  

APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 

Maryrose Murphy 
Doug Knapman 

 

 
 
 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 45



 Council/Committee Report            

2. COUNCIL/COMMITTEE PROGRESS ON  
Organizational Performance & Expectation Narrative 
(OPEN) 

 
Theme 1: Sustain Growth & Improve Profitability 
1.1 Grow Revenue Profitably 

1.1.3 Sustain Other Sources of Revenue 
 

 Membership Dues Revenue 
Target - Achieve $3.5M in Member Dues 
• 2015 Q2 Member Dues = 93% of goal.   
• Implemented an NEW online option for automatic 

renewal payment for member dues – will roll out this 
new feature for the 2016 dues cycle beginning Oct.1. 

 
CAP ’15 Revenue 
Target – Achieve 90 exhibitors - 75 Exhibitors committed 

as of 7/11/15 
Target – Achieve 1,250 Registrations - 340 registrants as 

of 7/11/15   (46 ahead of CAP ’14 same # weeks out) 
 
 

Theme 2: Advance the Specialty 
2.1 Drive Member Loyalty 
Membership Market Share 1-10 YIP 
Target - Achieve increase in membership market share for 

the 1-10 years in practice demographic segment to 57% 
of market share at the end of Q3 

As of Q2-2015: 1-10 YIP Market Share = 53% (3,300 
members of potential 6,237) 

Compared to Q3-2014: 55.5% Market Share (3,335 
members of potential 6,008) 
 

2.2 Prepare Pathologists for Future Roles 
Engaged Leadership Academy 

Target - 40 attendees in 2015 consistent with 2014.   
    As of July, 36 applications have been received.  

Target – ELN Measurable Publicity value of $150K 
Publicity value of activities = $178K as of June 2015 
 

 
3. DISCUSSION TOPICS  

• Conflicts of Interest and PRIDE Principles – Dr. Friedberg 
shared his experiences with using the CAP PRIDE 
Principles when interacting with other health care 
professionals – emphasizing that the practice of medicine 
is a “team sport.” 

• CAP Update – Dr. Herbek reviewed highlights on 
relationships between the CAP and other organizations 
such as the ASCO, AHA, and the ABP.   

• Value-Based Care Strategy – Reviewed 
recommendations on ways the College can build 
pathologists and practice awareness in the value-based 
care environment to enable pathologists and practices to 
leverage their skills, particularly in the areas of patient 
safety and quality improvement, and enhance patient, 
payer, value-based care organization and health 
community awareness of the pathologist’s value. 

• Member-Staff partnerships – The Council engaged in an 
interactive exercise to identify best practices in member-
staff partnerships to move the organization forward 
toward the Board approved CAP strategy and goals.  

• CAP Advocacy Efforts -  Dr. G. Kwass reviewed results of 
CAP’s efforts to maximize reimbursement during the past 
several years 

• State Pathology Societies (SPS) – The Council discussed 
and reviewed the work of the SPS advisory group and 
their recommendations on how the CAP will work with 
State Pathology Societies (SPSs) to support CAP 
members and influence public policy.    

 
 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 46



 Council/Committee Report            

• Member Messaging – Discussed the messaging 
developed by RocketLawnchair’s The CAP Member 
Message Testing Report in an effort to develop stronger 
statements to reflect CAP value and engage current 
members and recruit new members.   

• Engaged Leadership Academy (ELA) – Discussed ways 
to increase the number of applicants and also focus 
areas for evaluation   

• CAP Meritorious Service Awards – the CAP Meritorious 
Service Awards Workgroup discussed their progress 
and proposed changes for 2016 including opening the 
awards process at CAP’15 

• Practice Engagement – Reviewed CAP efforts 
regarding implementation of ICD-10 including CMS 
video and CAP webinar and screen flows. 

• CAP ’15 and CAP ’16 Annual Meetings – Discussed 
inaugural events, CAP ’16 Exhibitor Prospectus and 
meeting registration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Fall 2015 HOD & RF Meetings - Reviewed topics, 
speakers, and registration.  

• PathPAC Ambassador Program – Discussed 
opportunities for CAP members to support legislative 
and regulatory issues.   

• Committee Member/Staff Job Descriptions – Agreed to 
provide input on the job descriptions for committee 
members and staff, currently under review and revision.  

• Future Meetings – Reviewed plans and discussed 
efficient and economical ways for the council and its 
committees to meet and accomplish their goals. 

• Residents Forum – Presented a comparison of the CAP 
and ASCP web pages for residents with suggestions for 
improvement and proposed a new position on the 
residents forum executive committee (RFEC) to focus 
on digital engagement. 

 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 47



 HODSC Liaison Report 
to House of Delegates 

To:    CAP House of Delegates 
 
HODSC Liaison:   Martha R. Clarke, MD, FCAP, Sergeant-at-Arms 
 
Council: Council on Accreditation 
 
Date:   August 19, 2015 
 
Subject:  Liaison Report on Action Group 

 
 

Action Group or Project 
Charge 

Action Group on Laboratory Accreditation Program Advisory 
Panel 

Action Group or Project 
Description 

There are no current projects for this Action Group. 
Dr. Clarke was invited by Dr. Gomez, Chair of the COA to attend 
the September 19th COA meeting in Kansas city.  Due to 
previous commitments, she will not be able to attend; however, 
another member of the Steering Committee may be able to 
attend.  

Council Goal and OPEN 
Theme/Goal that the proposal 
supports 

Council goal:  
 
OPEN goal:  
2 Advance the Specialty 

2.3 Strengthen the Practice of Pathology 
House of Delegates Strategic 
Initiative supported by this 
project 

• Market the HOD 
• Strengthen Relationships between Council Chairs and the 

HOD 
How is this initiative’s 
success determined or 
measured? 
  

The input that the HOD Action Group provided was used by the 
Checklist Committee and the Commission on Laboratory 
Accreditation to confirm and/or make recommendations on a 
few proposed edits to checklist requirements related to synoptic 
reporting for the 2015 edition. The feedback was used to both 
confirm that proposed language was clear and understandable 
and guide further refinements before the checklist requirements 
went to their next phase of review with the Checklist User 
Groups.  

What was the timeline? Is it 
completed? 

This action group completed its assignment of reviewing and 
evaluating each named checklist standard. 

What were the outcome(s)? 
What did this group/project 
achieve? 

This action group completed its assignment of reviewing each 
named checklist standard and evaluating it for clear and 
understandable language, scientific/medical accuracy, best 
practice, application in the “real world,” and ability for inspectors 
to evaluate compliance with the requirement. The action group 
gave feedback on whether a requirement to self-audit pathology 
reports is a reasonable requirement and whether the use of 
synoptic reporting should be an accreditation requirement. 

What resources were used to 
complete this? Describe the 
criteria used for determining 
the HOD members that were 
involved in the activity? 

HOD members that were involved in the activity were 
conversant in CAP Cancer Protocols. 

 
Submit this completed form to hod@cap.org. 

  
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 48

mailto:hod@cap.org


 HODSC Liaison Report  
to House of Delegates 

To:    CAP House of Delegates 
 
HODSC Liaison:   Rodolfo Laucirica, MD, FCAP, Sergeant-at-Arms 
 
Council: Council on Education (COE) 
 
Date:   August 19, 2015 
 
Subject:  Liaison Report on COE Activities 

 
 

Project Charge Obtain deeper dive needs research for areas related to 
informatics, genomics and laboratory medical direction, 
including gathering feedback from the HOD through a survey 
and a focus group. 

Project Description HOD members were surveyed as a part of the 2015 CAP 
Learning Needs Assessment. COE along with HOD leadership 
agreed that the HOD should provide assistance to the COE in 
completing some deeper dive research in support of the COE’s 
strategic portfolio planning efforts.   
 
The purpose of this effort is to better understand both what 
pathologists need to learn and how they want to learn it, 
specifically in the areas of Informatics, Laboratory Medical 
Direction and Molecular/Genomics. Research was gathered 
from HOD members. The respondents were asked about 
willingness to participate in future focus groups or additional 
surveys in the specified areas.   

Council Goal and OPEN 
Theme/Goal that the 
proposal supports 

Council goal: Receive HOD’s assistance ensuring CAP is 
providing the right learning options for our members. 
 
OPEN goal:  
2 Advance the Specialty 

2.2 Prepare Pathologists for Future Roles 
2.2.1  Provide Tools, Education, and Resources 

House of Delegates 
Strategic Initiative 
supported by this project 

Strengthen Relationships between Council Chairs and the HOD 

How is this initiative’s 
success determined or 
measured? 

Input from HOD members through survey and adequate 
participation in focus group(s) 

What was the timeline? Is it 
completed? 

Virtual focus groups will provide further input and a final report/ 
recommendation will be submitted for consideration to the COE 
in December. 

What were the outcome(s)? 
What did this group/project 
achieve? 

A 40% response rate (174 out of 430) was received with the 
following results: 
 

• The majority of respondents (87%-97%) indicate the 
importance of obtaining additional education in each of 
the topic areas the COE is focused is either Important, 
Very Important or Critically Important 

• 63% of the respondents indicated that they will be 
attending the HOD meeting preceding CAP ‘15 

  
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 49



 

• 62% selected Yes when asked if they would be 
interested in participating in future focus groups or 
additional surveys on these topic areas 

 
Members indicated their interest in participating in future focus 
groups or surveys. 

What resources were used 
to complete this? Describe 
the criteria used for 
determining the HOD 
members that were 
involved in the activity? 

All HOD members were invited to be involved in the activity. 

 
Submit this completed form to hod@cap.org. 

 
 
    Month day, year   2 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 50

mailto:hod@cap.org


 HODSC Liaison Report  
to House of Delegates 

To:    CAP House of Delegates 
 
HODSC Liaison:   Alfred Campbell, MD, FCAP, Secretary 
 
Council: Council on Scientific Affairs (CSA) 
 
Date:   July 27, 2015 
 
Subject:  Liaison Report on CSA Activities 

 
 

The HOD Steering Committee Liaison to the Council on Scientific Affairs has met or is meeting 
with virtually all CSA Committee Chairs to introduce the House of Delegates as a collaborative 
entity, as well as the opportunity to work with CSA on projects that are mutually beneficial and 
mutually meet goals and strategies of the Council and HOD. 
 
In addition, The CAP Pathology and Laboratory Quality Center (The Center) suggests that it will 
be ready to engage HOD members in a project in 2016. See the information below.  

 
Project Charge Engage the Pathology Practice Guidances (PPG) Action 

Group (AG) in a new capacity using CAP evidence-based 
guidelines (EBG).  

Project Description Options for engaging the Action Group may include 
inviting them to review scope/key questions, draft 
recommendations, final recommendations, and/or serving 
as an “independent review panel” based on a COI vetting 
and topic expertise.  
 
The Center encourages the reformation of the AG that 
generated ideas for consideration. This is an extremely 
helpful exercise in identifying new topics for identifying 
gaps in promotion of currently completed topics. 

Council Goal and OPEN 
Theme/Goal that the proposal 
supports 

Council goal:  
 
OPEN goal:  
2 Advance the Specialty 

 
House of Delegates Strategic 
Initiative supported by this 
project 

Strengthen Relationships between Council Chairs and the 
HOD 

How is this initiative’s success 
determined or measured? 

To be determined 

What was the timeline? Is it 
completed? 

To be determined 

What were the outcome(s)? 
What did this group/project 
achieve? 

To be determined 

What resources were used to 
complete this? Describe the 
criteria used for determining the 
HOD members that were involved 
in the activity? 

To be determined 

Submit this completed form to hod@cap.org. 

  
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 51

mailto:hod@cap.org


 AG Report to HOD 
 

Topic: HOD Action Group on Communications Network 
 
Chair: Keith Volmar, MD, FCAP 
 
HOD Steering Committee Liaison: James E. Richard, DO, FCAP 

 
Members: Mary E. Fowkes, MD, PhD, FCAP, New York Delegate 

S. Robert Freedman, MD, FCAP, California Delegation Chair 
Rodolfo Laucirica, MD, FCAP, Texas Delegation Chair 
Antonio E. Martinez, MD, FCAP, Florida Delegation Chair 
Michael Misialek, MD, FCAP, Massachusetts Delegation Chair 
Tom Molina, MD, FCAP, Texas Delegate 
Vaishali Pansare, MD, FCAP Michigan Delegate 
Peter Sadow, MD, FCAP, Massachusetts Delegate 
Rana Samuel, MD, FCAP, New York Delegation Chair 
Vinod Shidham, MD, FCAP, Michigan Delegation Chair 
Debra Zynger, MD, FCAP, Ohio Delegation Chair 

 
Date: August 27, 2015 

 
 

CHARGE 
To assist the designated states in reproducing the North Carolina communication network, 
which is the original pilot prototype. 
 

GOAL 
Advance the agenda of the House, in the spirit of One College, and provide value to CAP 
Councils. 
 

DESCRIPTION 
Pilot studies are designed to establish bidirectional conduits linking the House of Delegates 
to our constituent CAP Fellow Members. The vision is to have Delegate Chairs responsible 
and accountable for transmitting information to their Delegates and have their Delegates 
responsible and accountable for transmitting information to CAP Fellows in their states. 
 

STATES IN 2015 PILOT 
Contact has been made with each HOD Delegation Chair in these states: 

a. California 
b. Florida 
c. Massachusetts 
d. Michigan 
e. New York 
f. Ohio 
g. Texas 

 
 
 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 52



 AG Report to HOD 
 

PROGRESS TO DATE 
California 
No progress to date.  The project has been discussed with the State Society. 
 
Florida 
No progress to date. 
 
Massachusetts 
A master list of all pathologists licensed in MA has been constructed.  Next, the list will be divided 
among the MA delegates and contacts will be made. 
 
Michigan 
Compilation of a master list of all State Society member and CAP member pathologists is currently 
underway. 
 
New York 
No progress to date. 
 
Ohio 
No progress to date.  Concern raised that development of a CAP network may be in conflict with the 
State Society. 
 
Texas 
The Texas Society of Pathologists maintains a robust e-mail network of its members and the state 
seems to have a high proportion of CAP membership.  The President of TSP is always a Delegate to 
the CAP House, so there should be no conflict in using the TSP network as a bi-directional conduit 
for CAP matters.  As the network comes into use, attempts will be made to capture non-TSP and 
non-CAP pathologists in the state. 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 53



 AG Report to HOD 
 

Topic: HOD Action Group on Rules III 
 
Chair: Nicole D. Riddle, MD, FCAP 
 
HOD Steering Committee Liaison: Sang Wu, MD, FCAP 

 
Members: Sharon Bihlmeyer, MD, FCAP 

Avneesh Gupta, MD, FCAP 
Ronald N. Horowitz, MD, FCAP 
Augusto F. Paulino, MD, FCAP 
Amyn M. Rojiani, MD, FCAP 

Assad J. Saad, MD, FCAP 
Gene P. Siegal, MD, PhD, FCAP 
Vidya Sriram, MD, FCAP 
Susan M. Strate, MD, FCAP

 
Date: July 28, 2015 

 
 

CHARGE 
• To provide member feedback on the HOD Rules to determine what changes are needed to 

ensure that the Rules are current, accurately describe the functions of the HOD and its 
members, are fair and appropriate, and structure House activities to best advance the 
mission of the College. 

 
DESCRIPTION 
The Action Group is asked to focus its review on HOD Steering Committee nominations and 
elections, and how to bring open discussions to the House. 

 
   ACTION GROUP PROGRESS 

• December 2014-May 2015 – The Action Group held four conference calls. The Action 
Group discussed enhancements to the nominations process, HODSC elections process, 
annual state apportionment, and open discussions during the House of Delegates 
meetings.  

• June 2015 – The HOD Steering Committee considered the Action Group’s 
recommendations. 

• July 2015 – An HOD webinar was held on July 29 to inform HOD membership of the 
proposed changes and to garner feedback and a straw poll from participants during the 
session. 

• August 2015 – Background information and the proposed Rules changes were posted on 
the HOD Collaboration Space in order to more fully inform the HOD Steering Committee 
on how to move this forward. Comments and feedback from HOD Delegates and 
Alternates were received through the HOD discussion board. 

• October 2015 – House Delegates will vote on the proposed changes to the HOD Rules 
during the Fall 2015 HOD Meeting to: 

o Require that the Nominating Committee chair be appointed in the fourth quarter of 
the year prior to the election instead of the first quarter of the election year. 

o Eliminate the option to receive nominations for House of Delegates Steering 
Committee candidates from the floor. 

o Use electronic balloting prior to the Fall Meeting when elections have previously 
been done by paper ballot or acclamation. 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 54



 
Proposed Amendments to 
HOD Rules 

Proposed Amendments to Rules of the CAP House of 
Delegates (HOD) 
 
 
Article IV – Elections 
Section 1: Method of Election 
 
 
Proposed change to require that the Nominating Committee chair be appointed in the 
fourth quarter of the year prior to the election instead of the first quarter of the 
election year 
 
Original Text Redline/Strikeout Proposed Text 
(a) During the first fourth quarter in even odd-

numbered years, the Speaker shall appoint a 
Nominating Committee to serve until the Fall 
Meeting in the year in which at which time 
the Steering Committee elections will be 
held. 

(a) During the fourth quarter in odd-
numbered years, the Speaker shall 
appoint a Nominating Committee to serve 
until the Fall Meeting in the year in which 
the Steering Committee elections will be 
held. 

 
Rationale for proposed change:  

• Allows the Nominating Committee chair to promote the Steering Committee 
nominations and elections right after the Call for Nominations opens the year 
before elections. 

• Allows for more and earlier informed communications to Delegates throughout the 
election year. 

• Allows for greater transparency in the House of Delegates election process. 

 
 
 
Proposed change to eliminate the option to receive nominations for House of 
Delegates Steering Committee candidates from the floor 
 
Original Text Redline/Strikeout Proposed Text 
(c) The Delegates shall have the opportunity to 

nominate additional candidates from the floor 
at the Fall Meeting. 

Delete entire section 

 
Rationale for proposed change:  

• Levels the field for all candidates, while still allowing for nomination by petition prior 
to the meeting. 

• Aligns the House election process with the Board of Governors’ election process. 
• Accommodates for electronic balloting prior to the meeting, allowing all Delegates 

an opportunity to vote. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 55



 
Proposed Amendments to 
HOD Rules 

 
Proposed update to use electronic balloting prior to the Fall Meeting when elections 
have previously been done by paper ballot or acclamation 
 
Proposed Additional Text – added as (c), (d), and 
(e) 

 

(c) Prior to the stated House of Delegates 
Meeting, Delegates shall elect its Steering 
Committee by such voting method as shall 
be determined by CAP Election Oversight 
Committee policy. The ballot may include a 
provision for write-in voting.  
 
(d) At least sixty (60) days before the stated 
House of Delegates Meeting, the HOD 
Nominating Committee shall provide to all 
Delegates a ballot listing all nominees. 
Members will be given thirty (30) days to 
cast their votes.  
 
(e) The results of the ballot shall be 
tabulated by an appropriate agency and 
reported to the chair of the HOD 
Nominating Committee who, in turn, will 
notify all candidates of the election results. 
Election results shall be announced at the 
Fall House of Delegates Meeting.  

 

 
Rationale for proposed change:  

• Allows every delegate the opportunity to participate in the elections. 
• Aligns the House election process with the Board of Governors’ election process. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 56



 
HODSC Elections 

 

 
2016 Steering Committee Elections Timeline 
 
Timing Deadline Activity 
Q3 2015 July 31, 2015 Socialize electronic elections recommendation via Webinar 

Q3 2015 July-August 2015 Socialize electronic elections on HOD collaboration space, identify 
questions and concerns from HOD members 

Q3 2015 August 2015 HODSC discussion – use the input/feedback from webinar and 
collaboration space discussions to inform HODSC’s next steps 

Q3 2015  HODSC – bring Action Group on Rules’ recommended Rules 
changes to the HOD floor for discussion at Fall ’15 and vote for 
approval 

Q4 2015 October 3, 2015 – 
HOD meeting 

OPEN: Call for Candidates 

Announce Steering Committee Elections at HOD meeting 

Q1 2016  Speaker appoints Nominating Committee 

This will move up to Q4 if the Rules changes are approved during 
the Fall ’15 HOD meeting. 

Q4 2015 

Q1 2016 

 Communications sent to House members with information on how to 
apply for Steering Committee positions 

Q2 2016 April 1, 2016 House members apply by deadline for Steering Committee positions 

Q2 2016  Nominating Committee reviews candidates and determines slate 

120 days out May 20, 2016 Nominating Committee reports its slate of candidates to the House 

90 days out June 21, 2016 Deadline for nomination by petition 

0 days out September 24, 2016 HODSC elections take place during the Fall HOD meeting. 

There will be no nominations accepted from the House floor if the 
Rules changes are approved during the Fall ’15 HOD meeting. 

If Fall ’16 elections take place at meeting, members take office 
immediately. 

If Fall ’16 elections take place electronically prior to the meeting, 
members take office on the day of the Fall ’16 meeting. 

 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 57



CAP House of Delegates Steering Committee 
Candidate Information Request Form 
 

      
Name 

      
Institution 

      
Practice Manager’s Name 

      
Address 

                  
City State Zip 

            
Daytime Telephone (include area code & extension) Fax 

      
E-Mail 
 
1. What position are you seeking for the 2014 – 2016 Steering Committee? 
 

  Speaker* 
  Vice Speaker* 

  Secretary 
  Sergeant-at-Arms 

  Member-at-Large

 

*The positions of Speaker and Vice Speaker are ex-officio members of the CAP Board of Governors, and, as such, carry with 
them considerable time commitments. Candidates should be aware that this will include time away from the office. 

 
2. What is your primary practice type? 
 

  Hospital laboratory 
  Government service 
  Private laboratory 

  Industrial company 
  Academic 

  Other:      

 
3. Are you a member of the State Pathology Society? 
 

 Yes    No
 
4. Are you a member of your State Medical Society? 

 Yes       No 
 

5. Do you have any special interest, talents, or abilities (other than the practice of pathology) that 
would make you a valuable contributor to the House of Delegates? 

 

 Communications 
 Computers 
 Education  
 Fiscal 

 Management  
 Negotiating skills 
 Political action  
 Public relations  

 Quality assurance 
 Speaking ability 
 Other:      

 

Comments:        

      

      
 

6. Please describe your positions in and contributions to the CAP House of Delegates (e.g., 
previous Steering Committee positions held, Action Group involvement, etc.) 
 

      

      

      

Over, please 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 58



 

      

      
 

7. Please describe your positions in and contributions to the College of American Pathologists 
(eg, committee memberships, LAP inspections, etc.). 
 

      

      

      

      

      

      
 
8. Please describe your positions in and contributions to your state pathology and/or medical 

society (eg, offices held, committee memberships, etc.). 
 

      

      

      

      

      
 
9. Why do you want to be a member of the House of Delegates Steering Committee? 

 

      

      

      

      

      
 
10. If you are elected, what do you hope to accomplish? 

 

      

      

      

      

      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deadline for submission: April 1, 2016 
 

Email or FAX completed form to Jan Glas, 
jglas@cap.org or 847.832.8499 

 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 59

mailto:jglas@cap.org


CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 1 

  
 

Fall 2014 House of Delegates – Delegate Questions 
 
During the Fall ’14 House of Delegates meeting, Delegates were asked to post their questions and discussion on the 
CAP House of Delegates’ online collaboration space following the meeting. Those posts follow: 
 
 
1. ICD – 10 – no questions or replies 

 
 

2. Licensure of laboratory personnel – no questions or replies 
 
 

3. Autopsy data and DRG reimbursement 

a. Reimbursement for Autopsies is an important (issue), and often forgotten area which should not be 
forgotten in CAP's advocacy efforts. – Posted by Martha R Clarke at September 17, 2014  

b. Everyone in the pathology community agrees that autopsy is important and both the professional and 
technical efforts should be compensated appropriately. Although medicare claims that it covers autopsy 
as overhead payments to the hospital in part A, the amount is not specified, neither is it tied to the level of 
efforts or whether an autopsy is actually performed. As far as I know, there is no direct reimbursement 
from either governmental or private insurers. I wonder whether anyone in the college has successfully 
negotiated reimbursement for autopsy service from any insurers, what is the college's position, and 
whether there is any ongoing or planned effort by the college to obtain direct reimbursement. – Posted by 
Zhaohai Yang at September 22, 2014 

c. The following post is from Governor and Vice Chair of Council on Government and Professional Affairs, 
Emily Volk MD, FCAP. 

Certainly, as a pathologist, I value the insights that an autopsy can bring to the understanding of a 
patient’s disease and the manner in which they died.  Unfortunately, as the HOD member points out, this 
is a service that is not directly reimbursable by CMS as the service is rendered after a patient’s demise, 
by necessity, of course.  That being said, I believe that pathologists should be appropriately reimbursed 
for the work we do and the value we add.  Our pathology group has been successful in securing 
reimbursement for autopsies performed on hospital patients that the hospital has requested for purposes 
of risk management or quality assurance.  We also available to the families of the deceased hospital 
patients a private autopsy fee schedule that spans the range of services from single organ evaluation to 
complete autopsy to include examination of the brain and spinal cord.  We find that on occasions families 
are willing to pay for this valuable service, even if the hospital team does not find the autopsy necessary 
for risk management or quality review purposes. 

I hope you find this input helpful. 

Sincerely, 

Emily Volk, MD 
Member, Board of Governors 
Vice-Chairman, CAP Council on Government and Professional Affairs 
 
 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 60



CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 2 

  
 

4. Test Utilization – Over/Under/Mis-Utilization 
 

a. Comments articulated during the New Business segment of the fall House of Delegates meeting suggest 
that our members would like the College to develop and maintain practice guidelines on ordering special 
and immunohistochemical stains. Does the College plan to address this need? – Posted by David Alan 
Novis at September 16, 2014 
 

b. I am hoping that CAP and the House will appreciate that utilization recommendations from the College 
must be nuanced. 
 
In a few circumstances there is strong scientific evidence that it is necessary to order a procedure (such 
as an immunoperoxidase stain) or strong scientific evidence that ordering the procedure is inappropriate. 
The risk/cost/benefit equation tilts overwhelmingly in one direction. In these circumstances, CAP might 
issue a guideline from the Center or incorporate the conclusion into a laboratory accreditation 
checklist.  But most circumstances aren't this clear-cut. 
 
In most cases, context is king. An immunoperoxidase study that might be indicated in an otherwise 
healthy 40 year old might not be appropriate in a 85 year old in hospice dying of metastatic disease. 
Medical judgment is required -- a weighing of benefits, costs, risks and values for a particular patient. In 
these circumstances, it is difficult for the College to weigh in, lest it interfere with local medical judgment. 
At best, the College might list factors a pathologist may wish to consider, or provide a repository of 
"guidelines" from submitters who have personal views, without making any suggestion that the College 
supports one or another submitted guideline. 
 
I recognize that what concerns many members are laboratories that routinely perform special procedures 
regardless of clinical circumstances. There is a perception that this "overuse" is leading to a reduction of 
reimbursement by insurers. And well it may be.  Even here, however, the situation is nuanced. What is 
the "correct" laboratory response when a gastroenterology group, considering costs and benefits and risk, 
determines that it wants special Helicobacter studies on all gastric biopsies? Is the laboratory violating 
some sort of laboratory standard by accommodating this request? Perhaps the issue is with the 
gastroenterology group and standards for gastroenterologists?  Or perhaps the gastroenterology group's 
thinking is reasonable from a medical standpoint, even though it is costly.  Perhaps a narrow-network 
insurer will exclude the gastroenterology group from its panel of providers on the basis of cost, but that 
neither the laboratory nor the gastroenterology community will consider the practice to be "wrong" from 
the perspective of patient risk and benefit.  
 
The bottom line is that it is important to be careful with guidelines and standards. In a few cases, the 
scientific evidence is clear. But in most cases there is considerable subtlety. – Posted by Paul N. 
Valenstein at September 19, 2014 
 

c. Thank you Paul for your comments, insightful as they always are. 
 
So what in life isn’t nuanced? 
 
Sure, context is king. And judgment is always required in decision making, medical or otherwise. But I am 
not seeing the leap from those considerations to assuming that the College would propose guidelines that 
interfere with local medical practice. I think House Delegates understand the requirement that guidelines 
be based on scientific evidence, that conclusions are not possible in situations where no evidence exists, 
and that recommendations incorporate caveats--as they always do--to allow for the uncertain, 
meandering paths traveled by diseases and cures. 
 
But none of that exonerates the Board of Governors from addressing an account that our member 
constituents believe to be past due.  You provide penetrating and difficult questions that your peers on the 
Board of Governors will need answer in deciding how they will respond.  It is not the House’s job to direct 
or second-guess the Board in that process, but rather to evaluate whether or not the outcome of that 
process meets their needs. 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 61



CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 3 

  
 

Good luck. - Posted by David Alan Novis at September 19, 2014 
 

d. As Chair of the Center Committee, I’d like to share that the Center partnered with the HOD in 2013 on an 
Action Group for Center Guideline Submission Ideas.  Three of the 11 ideas submitted by the HOD Action 
Group were selected for the prioritization process.  One of the ideas provided by the HOD, Utility and 
Cost-Effectiveness of H.pylori Immunostains vs Special Stains is currently in development and is among 
our first Pathology Practice Guidances (PPG).  This PPG is targeted to be available for review during an 
open comment period in late Q4 of 2014.  I encourage all interested House members to participate in the 
brief survey during the open comment period for this PPG.  Additionally, we are working with a separate 
HOD Action Group to evaluate other PPGs in development. 

 
I also serve as the Chair of the Test Utilization Workgroup which was launched in November 2012, by the 
Council on Scientific Affairs (CSA).  The working group now comprises 13 pathologist members from 
throughout the United States with expertise in test utilization. The purpose of this workgroup is to explore 
best practices and develop recommendations regarding test utilization.  The strategy behind this process 
is not only to educate clinical colleagues of unnecessary and medically unjustified tests, but to educate 
them in offering the right test at the right time for the right patient. The activities being developed in 
coordination with other committees will result in reduced hospital stay and eventually help reduce 
healthcare costs.  I invite my fellow Committee and Council Chairs to share with delegates those 
initiatives that are underway at their institutions. - Posted by Elizabeth A. Wagar at September 24, 2014 
 

e. Liz, in my view it appears that you are addressing the need expressed by Delegates at the HOD meeting. 
Best of luck in your efforts. – Posted by Dave Novis at September 24, 2014 
 

f. I would like to thank Dr. Liz Wagar for her leadership in the area of test utilization, including anatomic 
pathology utilization of immunohistochemical stains, with the issue of H. pylori staining being among the 
first three PPG's the Center will publish.   
 
The Council on Scientific Affairs is deeply involved in several areas concerning test Utilization.  At the 
direction of the Council on Scientific Affairs, a test utilization work group was initiated in 2013 that, as she 
notes above, is comprised of 13 members with expertise in test utilization at their institutions. Dr. Wagar is 
the Chair of that group. This group created a preliminary needs assessment survey that was sent to 900 
CAP fellows. Based on the feedback, the questionnaire is now being finalized to be sent to ALL 
proficiency testing laboratories. The data will help create a baseline for future investigations and 
recommendations to clinical laboratories, and would result in a publication in the Archives of Pathology 
and Laboratory Medicine. 
 
Next, the Quality Practices Committee is in the process of examining how they can help elucidate current 
test utilization practices of our members.  The committee plans to evaluate a process for our members to 
participate in this project and effectively use the data generated by it.  
 
Additionally, CAP is collaborating with the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) on a joint 
publication on how to effectively develop and operate a test utilization committee.  This report is expected 
to take about a year and a half to complete. For this collaboration, both CAP and CLSI will co-chair the 
committee with Dr Gary Procop being the co-chair for the College. 
 
Our President, Dr. Gene Herbek is taking the lead on this issue and has scheduled a discussion of this 
issue at the next Board of Governors Executive Committee meeting. 
 
Finally, I have put this issue on the agenda for the next CSA meeting, to be held in November.  The CSA 
will review the above three initiatives and consider if there are other appropriate actions that could be 
taken in this area. 
 
I appreciate the HOD bringing its concerns to the attention of the BOG and the various councils and 
committees involved with this issue.  In addition to the projects already underway in this area, the College 
will continue to review this subject and others that are of importance to all of our members. – Posted by 
R. Bruce Williams, Chair CSA at September 24, 2014 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 62



CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 4 

  
 

 
g. Hello All, 

 
I'm thankful for the chance to discuss this topic further and am a little saddened that more people are not 
here discussing it (especially given the urgency that some attendees of the house expressed). 
 
I'm also very happy to see the H. Pylori work being done and look forward to the report.  I know that there 
are more PPGs in the works (and hope to help in their development), and maybe these will help in 
numerous other situations. 
 
All that being said, I think most over-utilization is done very consciously - either by those who want to 
make more money or those who are worried about litigation.  I feel like neither of those approaches will 
be swayed by guidelines from the CAP and such guidelines would only serve as fodder for lawyers and/or 
CMS / Insurance companies. 
 
As  New-In-Practice pathologist I may use more immunos that my colleagues, but if you look at the actual 
numbers it's really just a small amount - i.e. in general NIP pathologists are not the problem.  Also, in 
Academics IHC is more utilized that in private practice, so the perceived over-use of a NIP pathologist 
may be more in how we were trained rather than true over-usage (Ex. Spindle cell lesion in the GI 
tract....looks just like a Leiomyoma, but a very senior and fantastic pathologist taught me at UPenn to get 
an SMA just to make sure I'm not missing a GIST.  So, I may get 1 stain where my senior peers would 
not.  The difference is I won't get the whole panel on a case, just 1 confirmatory stain...and if that doesn't 
work out I'd move on from there.) 
 
So ultimately, the job lays on the pathologist themselves to know what is proper and appropriate with a 
huge onus on the training programs to ensure that we know what is required, what is nice to have, and 
what is just academic endeavor.  
 
If/When guidelines are made, I hope there are more conceptual rather than prescriptive, again to provide 
for pathologists in need, not lawyers / CMS with ammunition. - Posted by Nicole D Riddle at September 
25. 2014 
 

h. Thank you to all who have shared in this thread. 
 
Expertise in utilization is perhaps our greatest talent with which we can demonstrate value to our clinical 
colleagues, healthcare administrators, policy-makers and the public. We have many stories to tell, as 
evidenced by an almost monthly article in CAP Today on another success (check out the current cover). 
Clearly a lot of work has been done. 
 
However, as with any emerging concept, there is a spectrum of experience to draw upon. It is 
communication that serves to connect us all so that we can learn from each other. It is action that puts 
this innovation into effect. 
 
The HOD represents an immense talent pool that spans all practice types. Let’s use this space to 
constructively debate the issues and connect with each other and the Board. What do you need from the 
College? What do you want to tell the Board? Importantly, let’s share our stories. - Posted by Michael 
John Misialek at September 25. 2014 
 

i. I agree that our communication to the public on this matter needs to be nuanced. However, as this 
discussion is among colleagues I think it would be valuable to take the opportunity to be more frank.  
 
Does pathology test over utilization exist? Yes.  
 
Is it appropriate to order a special stain on every gastric case? It seems to me very unlikely that any study 
will demonstrate the cost effectiveness of this practice (except for the laboratory performing the stain).  
 
Is it reasonable to consider guidelines regarding the use of special stains on routine biopsies. I think so.  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 63



CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 5 

  
 

 
I am curious to hear the reasoning behind the CAP's request to have Palmetto remove the article on the 
use special stains on gastric biopsies. I am also curious to hear the position of our own test utilization 
committee on this subject. - Posted by Emily Ann Green at September 25. 2014  
 

j. I trust our esteemed colleagues serving on the Center Committee and the CSA to approach this topic with 
the stepwise caution and thoughtful analysis characteristic of their work to date. The open comment 
period will further assure that nuances and differing perspectives are considered. I will look forward to the 
draft products with great interest and do my best to add whatever my own experience has taught me, 
because I believe that together we will do this better than any one of us could do alone. - Posted by 
Patricia A Gregg at September 25. 2014 
 

k. I am thrilled to see that this conversation thread is generating traction.  Let me try to be both nuanced and 
frank. 

 
I do not believe that the scientific method will help us with most practical utilization problems. Any 
definition of "appropriate" or "inappropriate" utilization involves a value statement, and science tries its 
best to steer clear of values.  There are a few instances when the scientific evidence strongly suggests 
that some type of testing is "appropriate" or "inappropriate", which is to say that when we combine 
scientific facts with any reasonable value system the arrows all point in the same direction -- something is 
clearly good or is clearly bad.  

 
Yet most of the utilization issues we are asked to consider fall between these two extremes.  Different 
value systems lead to different conclusions. A well-meaning physician only concerned with a patient's 
health will come to a different conclusion from a well-meaning physician who also considers the patient's 
pocketbook and perhaps the pocketbooks of institutions and society.   

 
Let me illustrate with a real example: 

 
In my particular practice (16 pathologists), we consider cost as well as medical benefit and risk when 
deciding what to do, and would never order special stains for Helicobacter routinely on every gastric 
biopsy. We figure the cost to detect an additional case of H. pylori (compared to selective use of special 
stains) is about $30,000 per extra case detected, which is too rich for us. 

 
But I know a physician who considers herself to be pure a patient advocate – she only considers the 
patient’s medical benefit and medical risks when making a decision. She doesn’t consider charges or co-
pays or societal cost. She doesn’t believe that is her role. She has a different value system, and as a 
result, she drew a different conclusion about H. pylori staining with the same set of facts. She reasoned 
that there is almost no patient risk to performing a special stain routinely, and there is some incremental 
benefit.  It is easy for me to say that this physician orders all these special stains because she wants to 
earn more money, but the fact of the matter is that she is salaried and derived no economic benefit from 
ordering these stains. She genuinely thought it was the right thing to do, given her view of the physician-
patient relationship. 

 
Without agreement about values, science can’t tell us what to do – what represents “overutilization” or 
“underutilization”. 

 
Still, there is much CAP can contribute in this area.  I hope the CAP provides guidelines and standards 
when the evidence points in one direction under any reasonable value system. 

 
For most issues, CAP can inform practices and members by providing information about observed or 
modeled outcomes of various testing strategies. This can be done without any agreement about values.   

 
I am not sure I would want to live in a world where everyone had the same values. That would be a 
creepy place, although it would be easier to write guidelines in such a world. - Posted by Paul N. 
Valenstein at September 25. 2014 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 64



CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 6 

  
 

l. This is an excellent, and very much needed discussion. Elsewhere on the net, pathologists are forcefully 
(and at times, not very productively) expressing their opinions about these matters and it would be nice to 
bring as many (constructive) opinions as possible from the general membership to this discussion site. 
Unfortunately, it seems that the site is restricted to HOD and board members only. Is there anyway to 
open up specific discussion sites to the general membership in order to provide all of our colleagues an 
opportunity to participate? Thank you all for your hard work and great input. - Posted by Karim E Sirgi at 
September 25. 2014 

m. It is possible to create best practice guidelines for surgical pathology. 
In the recent article from the International Society of Urologic Pathology consensus conference regarding 
immunohistochemistry use in prostate core biopsies, the following straightforward guidelines were given: 
“In the setting of obvious carcinoma or benign glands, there is no justification to do basal cell stains and 
AMACR. If there is a Gleason score of 3+4=7 or a higher-grade cancer on at least 1 part, the workup of 
other parts with an atypical focus suspicious for Gleason score 3+3=6 cancer is not recommended.” (Am 
J Surg Pathol. 2014 Aug;38(8):e6-e19). 

 
It is important to realize that other medical societies do have best practice guidelines. Here is a link from 
the American Urologic Association website with numerous clinical practice guidelines and best practice 
statements (http://www.auanet.org/education/aua-guidelines.cfm). These types of guidelines help ensure 
that patients receive adequate care and can be used by insurance payers to determine if the care given 
was standard of care. 

 
In order to contain pathology healthcare costs and reign in overuse and abuse, we need to focus on high 
volume and/or high expense waste rather than rare instances that have been brought up on this blog 
such as ordering 1 immunostain more for a spindle cell lesion. 

 
I would like the discussion to not only include the high volume low costs special stains and 
immunohistochemistry, but also to address high cost send out molecular tests such as Foundation One, 
Oncotype DX, Prolaris, Caris, Tissue of Origin, RedPath, etc. Many of these tests are in the $3000-$5000 
range and at my institution there has been a dramatic increase in ordering. Of note, many of these tests 
are not FDA approved—there is little oversight regarding the claims made for these tests. The Evaluation 
of Genomics in Practice and Prevention (EGAPP) Working Group “found no evidence regarding the 
clinical utility of the MammaPrint and Quest H:I Ratio tests and inadequate evidence regarding Oncotype 
DX.”  (Genet Med. 2009 Jan;11(1):66-73.). At CAP 2014, in the plenary addressing if we could afford to 
pay for molecular medicine it was disappointing that the response was a casual, sure, rather than a 
detailed discussion regarding the need for carefully evaluating expensive molecular tests that have the 
potential to do harm. 

 
Some hospitals have ”lab formularies” or “meaningful use” committees which evaluate the level of 
evidence for the use of these high cost send out tests which are performed on surgical pathology 
specimens. These committees investigate whether there are less expensive or better tests available. My 
hospital does not have this. Although there might not be evidence to order these tests and pathologists 
may not want to send out the tissue, some of us really have little choice. CAP could help educate us on 
the utility/lack of utility of these tests. The CAP website could present balanced and up to date 
information. The CAP could make formal evaluation of the clinical utility of send out tests performed on 
anatomic pathology specimens a requirement for AP lab accreditation beginning with a phase 0 
deficiency. This way labs could slowly create the infrastructure needed to evaluate the tests. 

 
Creating guidelines and educating pathologists on appropriate testing would allow pathologists to make a 
meaningful contribution to our clinical colleagues and our patients and would help control healthcare 
costs. This would be a truly transformation role. - Posted by Debra Lyn Zynger at October 05. 2014  
 

n. Debra makes a number of good suggestions about how to manage utilization in pathology and laboratory 
medicine.  Some interventions - such as the adoption of test formularies and on-line real-time feedback at 
the time of order entry - have significant potential to curb inappropriate utilization.  
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 65

http://www.auanet.org/education/aua-guidelines.cfm
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=1.Evaluation+of+Genomic+Applications+in+Practice+and+Prevention+(EGAPP)+Working+Group.+Recommendations+from+the+EGAPP+Working+Group%3A+can+tumor+gene+expression+profiling+improve+outcomes+in+patients+with+breast+cancer%23%23


CAP House of Delegates - Delegate Questions and Issues 
09-14-2015 
Page 7 

  
 

CAP is already involved in some of these areas, and could do much more if our organization can develop 
the right model to sustain these efforts.  As the CAP Secretary-Treasurer, I have come to appreciate the 
hard work that is required to sustain College activities. Successful programs generally require a revenue 
model to cover some of their costs, rely on member-volunteers to keep costs down and to make sure the 
output is clinically relevant, and must provide some sort of non-economic compensation to members for 
contributing -- status, academic advancement, or the simple gratification of doing good work and making 
a difference.  We should challenge ourselves to think about how to involve the College in the utilization 
management sphere in a sustainable way. The societal benefit from these activities can substantial. 
 
Let me turn our attention back to guidelines and standards. I have maintained in this space that most 
guidelines and standards contain embedded value statements that patients and large elements of society 
may not share. As such, their value in utilization management is limited. Guidelines and standards work 
best when scientific data, combined with any reasonable value system, points in one direction -- some 
intervention is clearly a "plus" or a "minus".  But most situations are not clear cut.   
 
Debra referenced guidelines developed by the American Urological Association (AUA). So let's turn to a 
guideline developed by the AUA on early detection of prostate cancer:  
http://www.auanet.org/education/guidelines/prostate-cancer-detection.cfm 
 
Anyone who thinks that the AUA is going to be promulgating shrill, biased guidelines is going to be 
utterly disappointed. This guideline is thoughtful and thorough.    
 
I would encourage participants in this conversation thread to read this lengthy guideline and think about 
the values that underpin the recommendations. Try listing some of them, and asking yourself whether all 
patients, the medical community, and the most segments of society share these values.  
 
I would also encourage readers to ask themselves what value the guideline is providing in areas where 
the authors acknowledge that the best course of action depends on an individual patient's values.  
 
If you don't want to read the entire guideline, at least ask yourself these questions: 

i. The guideline about screening does not consider societal cost. The implicit value-statement made 
by this omission is that the role of physicians is to consider medical benefit and medical risk, but 
not to consider the cost to society. Do you share that view?  If the guideline did consider societal 
cost, would you object? 

ii. For the age group 55 - 69, the guideline recommends "shared decision making" by patient and 
physician about prostate cancer screening. This recommendation follows from the recognition 
that the rational course of action in this age group hinges on a patient's values -- what an 
individual patient thinks about the potential 1 in 1,000 chance of having his life extended vs the 
morbidity that follows from a PSA-based screening program.  For this age group, is this 
recommendation much of a guideline? Isn't shared decision-making the norm?  What is being 
added, beyond the summarized data about benefits and risks? 

I found the AUA guideline on early prostate cancer detection to be well done and to provide a wealth of 
information that can be useful to patients and physicians contemplating options. I hope the College 
continues to issue guidelines in areas where there is well-developed clinical data.  But the AUA paper 
also underscores the limitations of guidelines as a utilization management tool.  

The College, in my view, should not pin its utilization management efforts on guidelines. - Posted by Paul 
N. Valenstein at October 06. 2014 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 66

http://www.auanet.org/education/guidelines/prostate-cancer-detection.cfm


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 1 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 

HOUSE OF DELEGATES 
ALABAMA 
4 Delegates/4 Alternates 
 
C. Bruce Alexander, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Alabama Birmingham 
Phone: 205-934-0014 (B) 
Fax: 205-934-5499 (B) 
Email: cba@uab.edu  
 
Walter C. Bell, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Alabama at Birmingham Hospital 
Phone: 205-975-4696 (B) 
Fax: 205-975-9251 (B) 
Email: wbell@uab.edu 
 
Frank A. Honkanen, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Pathology Associates PC 
Phone: 256-533-1480 (B) 
Fax: 256-536-4158 (B) 
Email: frank.honkanen@hhsys.org  
 
Suzanne Hicks Martin, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
DCH Regional Medical Center 
Phone: 205-759-7484 (B) 
Email: smartin@cunninghampathology.com  
 
Gene P. Siegal, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
University Of Alabama At Birmingham 
Phone: 205-934-6608 (B) 
Fax: 205-975-7284 (B) 
Email: gsiegal@uab.edu  
 
John A. Smith, MD, PhD, FCAP – Chair 
University of Alabama at Birmingham Hospital 
Phone: 205-934-4303 (B) 
Fax: 205-975-6861 (H) 
Email: jas@uab.edu  
 
J. Allan Tucker, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of S. Alabama Medical Center 
Phone: 251-342-0742 (B) 
Fax: 251-471-7715(B) 
Email: atucker@health.southalabama.edu  
 
Shi Wei, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Alabama at Birmingham 
Phone: 205-975-8880 (B) 
Email: swei@uab.edu 
 

ALASKA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Curtis L. Buchholz MD, FCAP – Chair 
Peninsula Pathology Institute 
Phone: 907-262-3557 (B) 
Fax: 907-262-6505 (B) 
Email: curtbuccholz@pennsulapathology.net  
 
Isabell E. Speer, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 907-729-1203 (H) 
Fax: 907-729-1227 (B) 
Email: prospeer@aol.com  
 
ALBERTA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Etienne R. Mahe, MD, FCAP – Chair 
University of Calgary/Calgary Lab Services 
Phone: 403-944-5290 
Email: Etienne.mahe@medportal.ca  
 
Consolato Sergi, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Alberta 
Phone: 780-407-7951 
Email: biotechlab@gmail.com  
 
ARIZONA 
6 Delegates/6 Alternates 
 
Longwen Chen, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Mayo Clinic 
Phone: 480-301-8309(B) 
Email: chen.longwen@mayo.edu  
 
Fangru Lian, MD, ABMG, FCAP – Delegate 
Banner-University Medical Center Tucson 
Phone: 520-626-6241 (B) 
Fax: 520-874-2930 (B) 
Email: fangrulian@yahoo.com  
 
Lezlee Pasche, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Laboratory Corporation of America 
Phone: 832-509-8603 (B) 
Email: lezpasche@hotmail.com 
 
Anil R. Prasad, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Northwest Medical Center 
Tucson, AZ 85741 
Phone: 520-546-0674 (H) 
Email: aniladp@hotmail.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 67

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:cba@uab.edu
mailto:wbell@uab.edu
mailto:frank.honkanen@hhsys.org
mailto:smartin@cunninghampathology.com
mailto:gsiegal@uab.edu
mailto:jas@uab.edu
mailto:atucker@health.southalabama.edu
mailto:swei@uab.edu
mailto:curtbuccholz@pennsulapathology.net
mailto:prospeer@aol.com
mailto:Etienne.mahe@medportal.ca
mailto:biotechlab@gmail.com
mailto:chen.longwen@mayo.edu
mailto:fangrulian@yahoo.com
mailto:lezpasche@hotmail.com
mailto:aniladp@hotmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 2 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Maxwell L. Smith, MD, FCAP - Delegate 
Mayo Clinic Arizona 
Phone: 480-301-4439 (B) 
Email: smith.maxwell@mayo.edu  
 
ARKANSAS 
3 Delegates/3 Alternates 
 
Ian M. Birkett, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Arkansas Pathology Associates 
Phone: 501-552-2966 (B) 
Fax: 501-552-4407 
Email: ibirkett@pathassociates.com  
 
Chien Chen, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences 
Phone: 501-526-7981 (B) 
Email: cchen@uams.edu  
 
Jerad Michael Gardner, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 404-712-0199 (B) 
Fax: 501-526-4647 (B) 
Email: jmgardnermd@gmail.com 

 
Anthony N. Hui, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Northwest Arkansas Path Assoc. 
Phone: 479-442-0144 (B) 
Phone: 479-530-2948 (C) 
Fax: 479-442-4557 (B) 
Email: anh@nwapathology.com  
 
Charles Matthew Quick, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 501-526-5251 (B) 
Fax: 501-686-6531 (B) 
Email: quickcharlesm@uams.edu  
 
John W. Theus, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences 
Phone: 501-686-7434 (B) 
Fax: 501-526-4621 (B) 
Email: theusjohnw@uams.edu  
 
CALIFORNIA 
30 Delegates/30 Alternates 
 
Serge Alexanian, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
UCLA Health, Dept of Pathology & Lab Medicine 
Phone: 310-825-1763 
Email: salexanian@mednet.ucla.edu  
 

Joseph Michael Anderson, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Genomic Health Inc 
Phone: 650-659-2881 (B) 
Email: joe.ndrsn@gmail.com  
 
Frederick L. Baehner, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of California San Francisco 
Phone: 415-244-4413 
Fax: 415-353-7676 (B) 
Email: rbaehner@genomichealth.com  
 
Sue Beruti, MD, MHA, FCAP – Alternate 
Biotheranostics 
Phone: 310-922-8779 
Email: sberuti2013@gmail.com 
 
Thomas J. Cooper Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 562-338-3154 (H) 
Email: lastdoc@aol.com  
 
Matthew DeNicola, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Santa Barbara Cottage Health System  
Phone: 714-496-9526 
Email: matthewdenicola@icloud.com   
 
Nilesh G. Dharajiya, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Sequenom Laboratories 
Phone: 409-457-2879 
Email: dharajiya@gmail.com  
 
Sarah M. Dry, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
UCLA 
Phone: 310-794-9311 
Email: sdry@mednet.ucla.edu 
 
Al M. Elsayed, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 707-423-7702 (B) 
Fax: 707-423-7713 (B) 
Email: alaaeldeen.elsayed@us.af.mil  
 
Haleh Farzanmehr, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Genex Laboratory Professional Corp. 
Phone: 703-371-6707 
Email: haleh_farzanmehr@yahoo.com 
 
S. Robert Freedman, MD, FCAP – Chair 
El Camino Hospital Los Gatos 
Phone: 408-866-4060 (B) 
Fax: 408-866-3819 (B) 
Email: srobertfreedman@gmail.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 68

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:smith.maxwell@mayo.edu
mailto:ibirkett@pathassociates.com
mailto:cchen@uams.edu
mailto:jmgardnermd@gmail.com
mailto:anh@nwapathology.com
mailto:anh@nwapathology.com
mailto:quickcharlesm@uams.edu
mailto:theusjohnw@uams.edu
mailto:salexanian@mednet.ucla.edu
mailto:joe.ndrsn@gmail.com
mailto:rbaehner@genomichealth.com
mailto:sberuti2013@gmail.com
mailto:lastdoc@aol.com
mailto:matthewdenicola@icloud.com
mailto:dharajiya@gmail.com
mailto:sdry@mednet.ucla.edu
mailto:alaaeldeen.elsayed@us.af.mil
mailto:haleh_farzanmehr@yahoo.com
mailto:srobertfreedman@gmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 3 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Wayne Lee Garrett, DO, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 415-861-2911 (B) 
Fax: 510-662-5240 (B) 
Email: wlgarr@aol.com  
 
Eric F. Glassy, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Affiliated Path Medical Group 
Phone: 310-225-3233 (B) 
Fax: 310-380-7165 (B) 
Email: efglassymd@mac.com  
 
Emily Ann Green, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: (510) 204-1642 (B) 
Email: dremilygreen@gmail.com 
 
Donna E. Hansel, MD, PhD, FCAP  – Delegate 
University of California San Diego 
Phone: 858-534-1716 
Email: dhansel@ucsd.edu  
 
Florette Kimberly Hazard, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Stanford Hospital and Clinics 
Phone: 650-725-5189 (B) 
Fax: 650-725-6902 (B) 
Email: hazard@stanford.edu  
 
Anselm L. Hii, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Clarient Pathology Services 
Phone: 949-425-5713 
Email: anselm.hii@ge.com  
 
Thomas Z. Kocher, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Genoptix 
Phone: 760-452-7236 
Email: kochertom@gmail.com 
 
Peter Charles Kolbeck, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Path Labs LLC, DBA Path Logic 
Phone: 916-863-1496 (B) 
Fax: 916-863-1498 (B) 
Email: peter.kolbeck@pathlogic.com 
 
Teri A. Longacre, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Stanford Hospital and Clinics 
Phone: 650-498-6460 (B) 
Fax: 650-725-6902 (B) 
Email: longacre@stanford.edu  
 
Alfred Lui, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Pathology, Inc 
Phone: 310-769-0561 (B) 
Fax: 310-698-7050 (B) 
Email: alui@pathologyinc.com  
 

Deepak Mohan, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
San Joaquin General Hospital 
Phone: 209-468-6069 (H) 
Fax: 209-468-6386 (B) 
Email: dmohan@sjgh.org  
 
Luke A. Perkocha, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
UCSF 
Phone: 415-509-6442 (H) 
Email: Luke3580@gmail.com  
 
Monica R. Phillips, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Cottage Heath Systems 
Phone: 323-270-3765 
Email: laughchild@hotmail.com  
 
Menaka Raju, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Marin General Hospital 
Phone: 425-463-9680 
Email: menakapraveen@hotmail.com  
 
Neil J. Rawlinson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
West Hills Hospital & Medical Center 
Phone: 818-540-8803 
Email: nrawli@yyahoo.com  
 
William M. Rogers, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
El Camino Hospital 
Phone: 650-988-3276 
Email: williammrogers@gmail.com  
 
Jeffry, P. Simko, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 415-353-7581 (B) 
Fax: 415-353-7729 (B) 
Email: jeff.simko@ucsf.edu  
 
Veena M. Singh, MD, ACMG, FCAP – Delegate 
BioTheranostics Inc 
Phone: 858-587-5885 (H) 
Fax: 858-587-5871 (B) 
Email: vna_naveen@yahoo.com  
 
Sophie X. Song, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
UCLA Medical Center 
Phone: 310-206-6459 (B) 
Fax: 310-206-1893 (B) 
Email: ssong@mednet.ucla.edu  
 
Timothy T. Stenzel, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
3670 Torrey View Ct. 
San Diego, CA 92130-2620 
Phone: 512-663-7681 (H) 
Email: ttstenzel@gmail.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 69

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:wlgarr@aol.com
mailto:efglassymd@mac.com
mailto:dremilygreen@gmail.com
mailto:dhansel@ucsd.edu
mailto:hazard@stanford.edu
mailto:anselm.hii@ge.com
mailto:kochertom@gmail.com
mailto:peter.kolbeck@pathlogic.com
mailto:longacre@stanford.edu
mailto:alui@pathologyinc.com
mailto:dmohan@sjgh.org
mailto:Luke3580@gmail.com
mailto:laughchild@hotmail.com
mailto:menakapraveen@hotmail.com
mailto:nrawli@yyahoo.com
mailto:williammrogers@gmail.com
mailto:jeff.simko@ucsf.edu
mailto:vna_naveen@yahoo.com
mailto:ssong@mednet.ucla.edu
mailto:ttstenzel@gmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 4 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Carlos Jose Suarez, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Stanford University 
Phone: 650-736-8572 
Email: cjsuarez@stanford.edu 
 
Z. Laura Tabatabai, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of California San Francisco 
Phone: 415-221-4810 
Email: laura.tabatabai@ucsf.edu 
 
Athanasios C. Tsiatis, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Genomic Health Inc 
Phone: 650-569-2125 (B) 
Fax: 650-556-1132 (B) 
Email: atsiatis@gmail.com  
 
Shalini Verma, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Roche Diagnostics 
Phone: 213-253-8493 
Email: Shalini.verma@roche.com    
 
Anagh Vora, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
TomaBioSciences 
Phone: 415-876-8894 
Email: anagh.vora@tomabio.com 
 
Jessica Wang-Rodriguez, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of California San Diego 
VA San Diego Healthcare System 
Phone: 858-652-1188 
Email: jwrodriguez@ucsd.edu 
 
Danielle, E. Westfall, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 805-370-4697 (B) 
Fax:  805-370-4489 (B) 
Email: danielleewestfall@yahoo.com  
 
Kimberly Woodward, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Sterling Pathology National Laboratories 
Phone: 562-799-8900 
Email: kwoodmd@gmail.com  
 
Rena Xian, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
UCLA 
Phone: 310-825-8522 
Email: rxian@mednet.ucla.edu  
 

COLORADO 
5 Delegates/5 Alternates 
 
Christopher Scott Bee, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Poudre Valley Hospital 
Phone: 970-495-8747 (B) 
Fax: 970-495-7605 (B) 
Email: cbee@summitpathology.com  
 
Gregary Bocsi, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Colorado School of Medicine 
Phone: 724-848-7050 
Email: Gregary.bocsi@ucdenver.edu 
 
Kalpana M. Devaraj, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Colorado 
Phone: 720-848-4414 
Email: Kalpana.devaraj@ucdenver.edu  
 
Ronald B. Lepoff, MD, FCAP – Chair 
University of Colorado Hospital 
Phone: 303-753-0495 (H) 
Fax: 720-848-7079 (B) 
Email: Ron.Lepoff@uchealth.org  
 
Karim E. Sirgi, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
LambdaX3 International 
Phone: 303-359-9595 (H) 
Fax: 720-885-9592 
Email: sirgimd@gmail.com  
 
Ann D. Thor, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Colorado Health Sciences Center 
Phone: 303-274-3704 (H) 
Fax: 303-274-3705 (H) 
Email: Ann.Thor@UCDenver.edu  
 
CONNECTICUT 
5 Delegates/5 Alternates 
 
Robert C. Babkowski, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 203-210-5730 (H) 
Fax: 203-276-4176 (B) 
Email: rbabkowski@stamhealth.org  
 
Richard N. Eisen, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Greenwich Hospital 
Phone: 203-863-3064 (B) 
Fax: 203-863-3846 (B) 
Email: richard.eisen@greenwichhospital.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 70

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:cjsuarez@stanford.edu
mailto:laura.tabatabai@ucsf.edu
mailto:atsiatis@gmail.com
mailto:Shalini.verma@roche.com
mailto:anagh.vora@tomabio.com
mailto:jwrodriguez@ucsd.edu
mailto:danielleewestfall@yahoo.com
mailto:kwoodmd@gmail.com
mailto:rxian@mednet.ucla.edu
mailto:cbee@summitpathology.com
mailto:Gregary.bocsi@ucdenver.edu
mailto:Kalpana.devaraj@ucdenver.edu
mailto:Ron.Lepoff@uchealth.org
mailto:sirgimd@gmail.com
mailto:Ann.Thor@UCDenver.edu
mailto:rbabkowski@stamhealth.org
mailto:richard.eisen@greenwichhospital.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 5 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Neena S. Singh, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Quest Diagnostics 
Phone: 203-949-5618 (B) 
Fax: 203-949-5666 (B) 
Email: neena.s.singh@questdiagnostics.com  
 
Stephanie L. Wain, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Griffin Hospital 
Phone: 203-732-7285 (B) 
Fax: 203-732-7187 (B) 
Email: wain6@yahoo.com  
 
DELAWARE 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Mary V. Iacocca, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Christiana Care Health Services, Inc. 
Phone: 610-446-6199 (B) 
Fax: 302-733-3686 (B) 
Email: miacocca@christianacare.org  
 
Sophia N. Kotliar, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 302-427-2426 (H) 
Fax: 302-575-8139 (H) 
Email: skotliarmd@gmail.com  
 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Donald Steven Karcher, MD, FCAP – Chair 
George Washington University Medical Center 
Phone: 202-677-6600 (B) 
Fax: 202-677-6601 (B) 
Email: dkarcher@mfa.gwu.edu  
 
Sana O. Tabbara, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
George Washington University Medical Center 
Phone: 202-994-3391 (B) 
Fax: 202-994-2618 (B) 
Email: stabbara@mfa.gwu.edu  
 
FLORIDA 
20 Delegates/20 Alternates 
 
Emmanuel Agosto-Arroyo, MD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Moffit Cancer Center 
Phone: 813-745-3150 
Email: emmauniel.agosto-arroyo@moffitt.org  
 

Samer Z. Al-Quran, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
UF Health Shands Hospital 
Phone: 352-265-9919 (B) 
Fax: 352-265-9918 (B) 
Email: salquran@ufl.edu  
 
John M. Averyt, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Doctors Hospital of Sarasota 
Phone: 941-342-1072 
Email: john.averyt@hcahealthcare.com  
 
Nicole Nabors Balmer, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Ketchum Wood & Burgert PA 
Phone: 205-901-2926 (B) 
Fax: 850-219-7691 (B) 
Email: balmern@yahoo.com  
 
Marilyn M. Bui, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
H Lee Moffitt Cancer Center 
Phone: 813-745-4940 (B) 
Fax: 813-745-5970 (B) 
Email: marilyn.bui@moffitt.org  
 
Anne Louise Champeaux, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 253-370-1467 (H) 
Fax: 253-968-1084 (B) 
Email: annech@pol.net  
 
Gabriel Chamyan, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 305-720-9488 (H) 
Fax: 305-663-8517 (B) 
Email: gabriel_chamyan2002@yahoo.com  
 
Amy Collinsworth, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Florida 
Phone: 352-317-3450 
Email: acolli@ufl.edu 
 
Domenico Coppola, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
H Lee Moffitt Cancer Center 
Phone: 813-745-3275 (B) 
Fax: 813-745-1708 (B) 
Email: domenico.coppola@moffitt.org  
 
Hernani Del mundo Cualing, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 813-480-7849 (B) 
Fax: 813-909-4866 (B) 
Email: ihcflow@verizon.net  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 71

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:neena.s.singh@questdiagnostics.com
mailto:wain6@yahoo.com
mailto:miacocca@christianacare.org
mailto:skotliarmd@gmail.com
mailto:dkarcher@mfa.gwu.edu
mailto:stabbara@mfa.gwu.edu
mailto:emmauniel.agosto-arroyo@moffitt.org
mailto:salquran@ufl.edu
mailto:john.averyt@hcahealthcare.com
mailto:balmern@yahoo.com
mailto:marilyn.bui@moffitt.org
mailto:annech@pol.net
mailto:gabriel_chamyan2002@yahoo.com
mailto:acolli@ufl.edu
mailto:domenico.coppola@moffitt.org
mailto:ihcflow@verizon.net


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 6 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
North J. Davis, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 850-434-4658 (B) 
Fax: 850-433-6034 (B) 
Email: ndavis@pathology-group.com  
 
William DePond, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Medytox Diagnostics, Inc. 
Phone: 561-777-9827 
Email: wdepond@medytoxdiagnostics.com  
 
Deanna C. Fang, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Mayo Clinic Florida 
Phone: 314-680-1286 
Email: deannacfang@yahoo.com 
 
Harvey J. Feld, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 813-972-3422 (H) 
Fax: 352-521-1153 (B) 
Email: quincy01@verizon.net  
 
Masoumeh Ghayouri, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 813-975-0099 (H) 
Fax: 813-745-1708 (B) 
Email: masoumeh.ghayouri@moffitt.org  
 
Patricia A. Gregg, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Lehigh Regional Medical Center 
Phone: 239-368-4439 (B) 
Fax: 239-368-4582 (B) 
Email: patricia.gregg@lehighregional.com  
 
Ardeshir Hakam, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
H Lee Moffitt Cancer Center 
Phone: 813-745-1874 (B) 
Fax: 813-745-1708 (B) 
Email: ardeshir.hakam@moffitt.org  
 
Nick Hilliard, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Sacred Heart Hospital 
Phone: 850-416-4857 
Email: nhilliard@pnspath.com 
 
Kun Jiang, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
H Lee Moffitt Cancer Center 
Phone: 813-817-1977 
Email: kunjiang2003@gmail.com  
 
Rebecca L. Johnson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
American Board of Pathology 
Phone: 413-447-2565 (B) 
Fax: 413-447-2097 (B) 
Email: rljohnson@abpath.org  
 

Marino Enrique Leon, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 813-546-7507 
Fax: 813-333-1378 
Email: marino.leon@moffitt.org  
 
Morton H. Levitt, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 561-297-0911 (B) 
Fax: 561-297-2519 (B) 
Email: mlevitt3@health.fau.edu  
 
Antonio Enrique Martinez, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 770-335-3179 (B) 
Fax: 305-826-2654 (B) 
Email: tonloc75@hotmail.com  
 
Janice B. McCall, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 813-886-8334 (B) 
Fax: 813-890-0143 (B) 
Email: jbmpath@aol.com  
 
Margaret H. Neal, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
KWB Pathology Associates 
Phone: 850-878-5143 (B) 
Fax: 205-942-6622 (B) 
Email: amhneal@yahoo.com  
 
Robert J. Poppiti, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Mt Sinai Medical Center 
Phone: 305-674-2277 (B) 
Fax: 305-674-2999 (B) 
Email: rpoppiti@msmc.com  
 
Marilin Rosa, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 813-745-2846 (H) 
Email: marilin.rosa@moffitt.org  
 
Jeffrey B. Smith, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Florida Hospital North Pinellas 
Phone: 727-942-5075 (B) 
Fax: 727-942-5016 (B) 
Email: jeffrey.smith@ahss.org  
 
Prudence V. Smith, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 813-972-8400 (H) 
Fax: 813-745-1708 (B) 
Email: Prudence.Smith@moffitt.org  
 
Manhua Cindy Sun, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Winter Haven Hospital 
Phone: 863-651-7606 
Email: drcindysun@yahoo.com 
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 72

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:ndavis@pathology-group.com
mailto:wdepond@medytoxdiagnostics.com
mailto:deannacfang@yahoo.com
mailto:quincy01@verizon.net
mailto:masoumeh.ghayouri@moffitt.org
mailto:patricia.gregg@lehighregional.com
mailto:ardeshir.hakam@moffitt.org
mailto:nhilliard@pnspath.com
mailto:kunjiang2003@gmail.com
mailto:rljohnson@abpath.org
mailto:marino.leon@moffitt.org
mailto:mlevitt3@health.fau.edu
mailto:tonloc75@hotmail.com
mailto:jbmpath@aol.com
mailto:amhneal@yahoo.com
mailto:rpoppiti@msmc.com
mailto:marilin.rosa@moffitt.org
mailto:jeffrey.smith@ahss.org
mailto:Prudence.Smith@moffitt.org
mailto:drcindysun@yahoo.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 7 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Stephen E .Vernon, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 305-667-2684 (H) 
Email: verndoc50@aol.com  
 
Sherry L. Woodhouse, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Pathology Consultants of South Broward 
Phone: 954-538-4673 
Fax: 954-538-4685  
Email: swoodhouse@mhs.net 
 
Qihui J. Zhai, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 904-956-3318 (B) 
Fax: 904-956-3336 (B) 
Email: zhai.qihui@mayo.edu  
 
GEORGIA 
8 Delegates/8 Alternates 
 
C. Robert Baisden, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 706-736-1487 (H) 
Fax: 706-721-7837 (B)  
Email: bbaisden3@comcast.net  
 
Roni J. Bollag, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 706-869-8551 (H) 
Fax: 706-721-7837 (B) 
Email: rbollag@gru.edu  
 
Jeff W. Byrd, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
John D Archbold Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 229-228-2762 (B) 
Fax: 229-551-8711 (B) 
Email: jbyrd@archbold.org  
 
Matthew R. Fries, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Houston Hospital Inc. 
Phone: 478-218-0607 (H) 
Fax: 478-322-5154 (B) 
Email: mfries@hhc.org  
 
James H. Hudson, Jr., MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Southeastern Pathology Associates 
Phone: 912-279-1908 
Fax: 229-671-9673 (B) 
Email: jhudson@sepalabs.com  
 
Dean W. Joelson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Piedmont Atlanta Hospital 
Phone: 404-605-3247 (B) 
Fax: 404-609-6645 (B) 
Email: dean.joelson@piedmont.org  
 

Roger Bert Lane, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Southeastern Pathology Associates 
Phone: 912-261-2669 (B) 
Fax: 912-261-0561 (B) 
Email: rlane@sepalabs.com   
 
Michael D. McEachin, MD, MBA, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Piedmont Newnan Hospital 
Phone: 404-561-6014 (H) 
Fax: 770-253-2570 (B) 
Email: michael.mceachin@piedmont.org  
 
Amyn M. Rojiani, MD, PhD, FCAP – Chair 
Georgia Regents University 
Phone: 706-721-2923 (B) 
Fax: 706-721-2358 (B) 
Email: arojiani@gru.edu  
 
Kailash B. Sharma, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University Hospital - Augusta 
Phone: 706-774-5400 (B) 
Fax: 706-774-5096 (B) 
Email: ksharma@uh.org  
 
Gabriel Sica, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 404-712-8818 (H) 
Fax: 404-686-4978 (B) 
Email: gabriel.sica@emoryhealthcare.org  
 
Bruce Franklin Walker, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Piedmont Atlanta Hospital 
Phone: 404-605-3247 (B) 
Fax: 404-609-6645 (B) 
Email: bruce.walker@piedmont.org  
 
Edward Truman Wright, III, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
John D Archbold Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 229-228-2762 (B) 
Fax: 229-551-8711 (B) 
Email: ewright@archbold.org  
 
HAWAII 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Thomas S. Namiki, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Queen’s Medical Center 
Phone: 808-547-4271 (B) 
Fax: 808-547-4045 (B) 
Email: ts.namiki@gmail.com 
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 73

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:verndoc50@aol.com
mailto:swoodhouse@mhs.net
mailto:zhai.qihui@mayo.edu
mailto:bbaisden3@comcast.net
mailto:rbollag@gru.edu
mailto:jbyrd@archbold.org
mailto:mfries@hhc.org
mailto:jhudson@sepalabs.com
mailto:dean.joelson@piedmont.org
mailto:rlane@sepalabs.com
mailto:michael.mceachin@piedmont.org
mailto:arojiani@gru.edu
mailto:ksharma@uh.org
mailto:gabriel.sica@emoryhealthcare.org
mailto:bruce.walker@piedmont.org
mailto:ewright@archbold.org
mailto:ts.namiki@gmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 8 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
James Joseph Navin, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Cytopath Inc 
Phone: 808-373-4684 (B) 
Fax: 808-522-4339 (B) 
Email: jnavindr@aol.com 
 
Alan Lewis Schiller, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Hawaii 
Phone: 203-866-7488 (H) 
Email: alanls@hawaii.edu  
 
Karen S. Thompson, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Kapiolani Medical Center for Women & Children 
Phone: 808-983-8820 (B) 
Fax: 808-983-8812 (B) 
Email: karen.thompson@hawaiilabs.com  
 
IDAHO 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Nancy C. Kois, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 208-344-0298 
Fax: 208-571-1143 
Email: nck@usa.net  
 
ILLINOIS 
14 Delegates/14 Alternates 
 
Gabrielle M. Baker, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Chicago 
Phone: 773-834-8068 
Email: gabrielle.baker@uchospitals.edu  
 
Stephen M. Berns, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
CGH Medical Center 
Phone: 815-625-0400 
Email: stephenmberns@hotmail.com 
 
Eleni P. Bourtsos, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 708-245-7880 (B) 
Fax: 708-245-5685 (B) 
Email: eleni.bourtsos@ahss.org  
 
Ronald Champagne, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Graham Hospital 
Phone: 309-647-5240 (B) 
Fax: 309-649-5144 (B) 
Email: rchampag2000@yahoo.com  
 

Robert P. DeCresce, MD, MBA, FCAP – Chair 
University Pathology Consultants 
Phone: 312-942-8850 (B) 
Fax: 312-942-3434 (B) 
Email: Robert_DeCresce@rush.edu  
 
Karen T. Ferrer, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 312-864-2443 (B) 
Fax: 312-864-9244 (B) 
Email: cchkarenf@yahoo.com  
 
Alan F. Frigy, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St Mary's Hospital 
Phone: 217-464-2078 (B) 
Fax: 217-464-1643 (B) 
Email: afrigy@fgi.net  
   
Larissa V. Furtado, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Chicago 
Phone: 773-702-2980 
Email: lfurtado@bsd.uchicago.edu 
 
Jack E. Garon, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 630-726-3333 
Fax: 773-257-6757 (B) 
Email: jeg101@aol.com  
 
James Harker, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Rockford Memorial Hosp 
Phone: 615-562-9200 (B) 
Fax: 815-971-9917 (B) 
Email: kimchee245b@yahoo.com  
 
Kalisha Ashara Hill, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Presence St. Mary’s Hospital 
Phone: 815-937-2282 (B) 
Fax: 708-798-9713 (B) 
Email: kalisha.hill@presencehealth.org   
 
Kelli Ann Hutchens, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Loyola University of Chicago 
Phone: 773-573-4747 (H) 
Fax: 708-327-2626 (B) 
Email: khutchens@lumc.edu  
 
Swati Mehrotra, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Loyola University Medical Center 
Phone; 708-327-2600 
Email: smehrotra@lumc.edu 
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 74

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:jnavindr@aol.com
mailto:alanls@hawaii.edu
mailto:karen.thompson@hawaiilabs.com
mailto:nck@usa.net
mailto:gabrielle.baker@uchospitals.edu
mailto:stephenmberns@hotmail.com
mailto:eleni.bourtsos@ahss.org
mailto:rchampag2000@yahoo.com
mailto:Robert_DeCresce@rush.edu
mailto:cchkarenf@yahoo.com
mailto:afrigy@fgi.net
mailto:lfurtado@bsd.uchicago.edu
mailto:jeg101@aol.com
mailto:kimchee245b@yahoo.com
mailto:kalisha.hill@presencehealth.org
mailto:khutchens@lumc.edu
mailto:smehrotra@lumc.edu


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 9 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Sanjai Nagendra, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Memorial Medical Center 
Phone: 217-840-5510 
Email: sanjainagendra@yahoo.com  
 
Gladell P. Paner, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Chicago 
Phone: 773-702-2824 
Email: gladell.paner@uchospitals.edu  
 
Ajay Jitendra Patel, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 331-221-1169 (H) 
Fax: 331-221-3793 (B) 
Email: ajpatel1@gmail.com  
 
Lester J. Raff, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Pathology Associates Northern IL 
Uropartners LLC 
Phone: 708-486-0076 (B) 
Fax: 708-492-0203 (B) 
Email: lraff@uropartners.com  
 
Vijaya B. Reddy, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
Rush University Medical Center 
Phone: 312-942-8850 (B) 
Fax: 312-942-4228 (B) 
Email: vreddy@rush.edu  
 
Alvin M. Ring, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 815-740-7073 (B) 
Fax: 815-740-4966 (B) 
Email: alvin.ringmd@gmail.com  
 
Stephen Gerard Ruby, MD, MBA, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 708-929-4326 (B) 
Fax: 708-929-4330 (B) 
Email: sruby@4path.com  
 
Jodi Speiser, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Loyola University Medical Center 
Phone: 414-688-7492 
Email: jspeiser@lumc.edu 
 
Vidya Sriram, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 847-722-0486 (B) 
Email: popsysmom@yahoo.com  
 

Krishnarao V. Tangella, MD, MBA, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Presence Covenant Medical Center 
Phone: 217-337-2174 (B) 
Fax: 217-337-2460 (B) 
Email: ktangella@christieclinic.com  
 
Mary Therese Uckerman, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Gottlieb Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 708-229-5813 (B) 
Fax: 630-734-1475 (H) 
Email: maryuckerman1@comcast.net  
 
Elizabeth Louise Wiley, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 312-828-9432 (H) 
Fax: 312-413-1436 (B) 
Email: ewiley@uic.edu  
 
INDIANA 
6 Delegates/6 Alternates 
 
Amobi M. Ezenekwe, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
South Bend Medical Foundation 
Phone: 574-234-4176 (B) 
Fax: 574-234-1561 (B) 
Email: aezenekwe@sbmf.org  
 
Muhammad T. Idrees, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Indiana University School of Medicine 
Phone: 317-491-6310 
Email: midrees@iupui.edu 
 
Ann T. Moriarty, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
AmeriPath Indiana 
Phone: 317-275-8084 (B) 
Fax: 317-275-8018 (B) 
Email: amoriarty@ameripath.com  
 
Mehdi Nassiri, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Indiana University Health 
Phone: 317-491-6510 (B) 
Fax: 317-491-6509 (B) 
Email: mnassiri@iupui.edu  
  
Joyce L. Simpson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
South Bend Medical Foundation 
Phone: 574-234-4176 (B) 
Fax: 574-234-1561 (B) 
Email: jsimpson@sbmf.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 75

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:sanjainagendra@yahoo.com
mailto:gladell.paner@uchospitals.edu
mailto:ajpatel1@gmail.com
mailto:lraff@uropartners.com
mailto:vreddy@rush.edu
mailto:alvin.ringmd@gmail.com
mailto:sruby@4path.com
mailto:jspeiser@lumc.edu
mailto:popsysmom@yahoo.com
mailto:ktangella@christieclinic.com
mailto:maryuckerman1@comcast.net
mailto:ewiley@uic.edu
mailto:aezenekwe@sbmf.org
mailto:midrees@iupui.edu
mailto:amoriarty@ameripath.com
mailto:mnassiri@iupui.edu
mailto:jsimpson@sbmf.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 10 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Robert J. Tomec, MD, FCAP -–  Delegate 
South Bend Medical Foundation 
Phone: 574-234-4176 (B) 
Fax: 574-234-1561 (B) 
Email: rtomec@sbmf.org  
 
Michelle K. Zimmerman, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Indiana University School of Medicine 
Phone: 317-491-6558 (B) 
Fax: 317-491-6114 (B) 
Email: mkzimm@iupui.edu  
 
IOWA 
4 Delegates/4 Alternates 
 
Clinton D. Crowder, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Mercy Medical Center-Des Moines 
Phone: 515-643-8532 (B) 
Fax: 515-643-8911 (B) 
Email: ccrowder@mercydesmoines.org  
 
Joseph P. Eaton, DO, FCAP – Delegate 
Mercy Medical Center Des Moines 
Phone: 515-247-4352 (B) 
Fax: 317-278-2018 (B) 
Email: jpeaton1981@gmail.com  
 
Christopher J. Leigh, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
United Clinical Laboratories Inc 
Mercy Medical Center 
Phone: 563-589-8614 (B) 
Fax: 563-589-8605 (B) 
Email: christopher_leigh@pa-ucl.com  
 
Daniel D. Slagel, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
United Clinical Laboratories Path Associates 
Phone: 563-589-8619 (B) 
Fax: 563-589-8605 (B) 
Email: daniel_slagel@pa-ucl.com  
 
Jamie Allen Weydert, MD, FCAP – Chair 
McFarland Clinic PC 
Phone: 515-233-2012 (H) 
Fax: 515-239-4741 
Email: jweydert@mcfarlandclinic.com  
 

KANSAS 
3 Delegates/3 Alternates 
 
L. Patrick James, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Quest Diagnostics 
Phone: 913-577-1542 (B) 
Fax: 913-888-4186 
Email: Patrick.l.james@questdiagnostics.com  
 
Bruce Daniel Melin, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St Catherine Hospital 
Phone: 620-272-2261 (B) 
Fax: 620-272-2258 (B) 
Email: brucebelin1@centura.org  
 
Meenakshi Singh, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Kansas Medical Center 
Phone: 913-588-7070 (B) 
Email: msingh2@kumc.edu 
 
Brett W. Sramek, DO, FCAP – Chair 
MAWD Pathology Group PA 
Phone: 816-241-3338 (B) 
Fax: 816-936-8118 (B) 
Email: bsramek@mawdpathology.com  
 
Ossama W. Tawfik, MD, PhD, FCAP - Delegate 
University of Kansas Medical Center 
Phone: 913-588-1185 (B) 
Fax: 913-588-8780 (B) 
Email: otawfik@kumc.edu  
 
KENTUCKY 
4 Delegates/4 Alternates 
 
Leonard I. Boral, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
UK Healthcare Clinical Laboratory 
Phone: 859-323-3302 (B) 
Fax: 859-257-4449 (B) 
Email: lenboral@yahoo.com  
 
Katalin Z. Kovacs, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Kings Daughters Medical Center 
Phone: 606-327-4029 (B) 
Fax: 606-327-7052 (B) 
Email: pps_ashland@hotmail.com  
 
Alvin W. Martin, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Norton & Kosair Children's Hospitals 
Cpa Laboratory 
Phone: 502-736-4351 (B) 
Fax: 502-736-4451 (B) 
Email: amartin@cpalab.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 76

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:rtomec@sbmf.org
mailto:mkzimm@iupui.edu
mailto:ccrowder@mercydesmoines.org
mailto:jpeaton1981@gmail.com
mailto:christopher_leigh@pa-ucl.com
mailto:daniel_slagel@pa-ucl.com
mailto:jweydert@mcfarlandclinic.com
mailto:Patrick.l.james@questdiagnostics.com
mailto:brucebelin1@centura.org
mailto:msingh2@kumc.edu
mailto:bsramek@mawdpathology.com
mailto:OTAWFIK@KUMC.EDU
mailto:lenboral@yahoo.com
mailto:pps_ashland@hotmail.com
mailto:amartin@cpalab.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 11 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
LOUISIANA 
5 Delegates/5 Alternates 
 
Jeremy Wayne Henderson, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 225-938-1846 (H) 
Fax: 985-867-4044 (B) 
Email: jeremyhenderson@bellsouth.net  
 
William P. Newman, III, MD, FCAP – Chair 
LSU Medical Center 
Phone: 504-568-6077 (B) 
Fax: 504-568-6037 (B) 
Email: wnewma@lsuhsc.edu  
 
Fred H. Rodriguez, Jr., MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 504-568-6031 (B) 
Fax: 504-566-8454 (B) 
Email: frodri@lsuhsc.edu   
 
Erin Nicole Vicknair, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 713-441-2271 (B) 
Email: econsamus@gmail.com  
 
MAINE 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Hagen Blaszyk, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Spectrum Medical Group 
Phone: 207-662-2927 
Email: blaszh@mmc.org   
 
Clare Helen Bryce, MBChB, FCAP – Chair 
Office of Chief Medical Examiner 
Phone: 207-624-7182 
Email: clare.bryce@maine.gov  
 
Monica Rusanda Ianosi-Irimie, MD, PhD, FCAP  
– Delegate 
NorDx MaineHealth 
Phone: 207-396-7809 
Email: ianosm@mmc.org  
 
MANITOBA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
M J Willard, MD, DVM, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 204-889-1000 (H) 
Fax: 204-888-3604 (H) 
Email: mjw@ctlca.com  
 

MARYLAND 
7 Delegates/7 Alternates 
 
Melissa Austin, MD, MBS, FCAP – Delegate 
Walter Reed National Military Medical Center 
Phone: 301-319-8216 (B) 
Email: melissa.c.austin6.mil@mail.mil   
 
Arthur H. McTighe, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Union Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 410-554-2974 (B) 
Fax: 410-554-2196 (B) 
Email: Arthur.McTighe@medstar.net  
 
John G. Newby, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Meritus Health 
Phone: 301-665-4901 (B) 
Fax: 301-665-4941 (B) 
Email: jgnewby@prodigy.net   
 
Maryam Kherad Pezhouh, MD, MSc, FCAP 
Johns Hopkins Hospital 
Phone: 814-409-8046 
Website: pezhouh@gmail.com  
 
Eric S. Wargotz, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Wargotz 
Doctors Community Hospital 
Phone: 301-552-8149 
Fax: 240-542-3498 
Email: ewargotz@dchweb.org   
 
MASSACHUSETTS 
10 Delegates/10 Alternates 
 
Gyorgy Abel, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
Lahey Clinic Burlington 
Phone: 781-744-8951 (B) 
Fax: 781-744-5208 (B) 
Email: gyorgy.abel@lahey.org  
 
Joseph C. Bergeron, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 978-264-9983 (H) 
Email: joebergeron@ymail.com  
 
Cynthia Lee Bowman, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Baystate Medical Center 
Phone: 774-245-0746 
Fax: 207-785-2851 
Email: cynthia.f.bowman@gmail.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 77

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:jeremyhenderson@bellsouth.net
mailto:wnewma@lsuhsc.edu
mailto:frodri@lsuhsc.edu
mailto:econsamus@gmail.com
mailto:blaszh@mmc.org
mailto:clare.bryce@maine.gov
mailto:ianosm@mmc.org
mailto:mjw@ctlca.com
mailto:melissa.c.austin6.mil@mail.mil
mailto:Arthur.McTighe@medstar.net
mailto:jgnewby@prodigy.net
mailto:pezhouh@gmail.com
mailto:ewargotz@dchweb.org
mailto:gyorgy.abel@lahey.org
mailto:joebergeron@ymail.com
mailto:cynthia.f.bowman@gmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 12 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Mark B. Davis, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Beth Israel Deaconess Hospital – Plymouth 
Phone: 508-830-2466 
Email: mbdavis@bidplymouth.org  
 
David L. Gang, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Baystate Medical Center 
Phone: 413-794-4792 (B) 
Fax: 413-794-5893 (B) 
Email: david.gang@bhs.org  
 
Yael Kushner Heher, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center 
Phone: 617-667-4344 (B) 
Email: ykheher@bidmc.harvard.edu  
 
Vandita P. Johari, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Baystate Health 
Phone: 413-794-4317 
Email: Vandita.johari@baystatehealth.org  
 
Nicole Belsley Johnson, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center 
Phone: 617-667-4344 (B) 
Email: nbelsley@bidmc.harvard.edu  
 
Megha G. Joshi, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Lawrence General Hospital 
Phone: 978-683-4000 (B) 
Fax: 978-946-8037 (B) 
Email: meghascarff@yahoo.com  
 
Ashraf Khan, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
UMass Memorial Med Ctr 
Phone: 508-793-6142 (B) 
Fax: 508-793-6110 (B) 
Email: khana@ummhc.org  
 
Nora V. Laver, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Tufts Medical Center 
Phone: 617-636-1035 (B) 
Fax: 617-636-5415 (B) 
Email: nlaver@tuftsmedicalcenter.org  
 
Gifford Lum, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
VA Medical Center Bedford 
Phone: 617-332-2270 (B) 
Fax: 857-203-5623 (B) 
Email: gifford.lum@va.gov  
 

Michael John Misialek, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Newton-Wellesley Hospital 
Phone: 781-209-0657 (H) 
Fax: 617-243-5809 (B) 
Email: mmisialek@partners.org  
 
Robert Michael Najarian, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center 
Phone: 617-667-5823 (B) 
Fax: 617-667-7120 (B) 
Email: drnaj15@gmail.com  
 
Kerry L. O’Brien, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center 
Phone: 206-351-7401 
Email: kobrie11@bidmc.harvard.edu  
 
Rebecca A. Osgood, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Cambridge Health Alliance 
Phone: 617-665-1212 (B) 
Fax: 617-665-1205 (B) 
Email: rosgood@challiance.org  
 
C. Dean Pappas, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Hallmark Health 
Lawrence Memorial Hospital/Path Dept 
Phone: 781-306-6881 (B) 
Fax: 781-306-6818 (B) 
Email: dpappas@hallmarkhealth.org  
 
John Perry, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Mt Auburn Hospital 
Phone: 978-458-1411 (B) 
Fax: 617-499-5492 (B) 
Email: john.perrymd@gmail.com  
 
Peter M. Sadow, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Massachusetts General Hospital 
Phone: 617-573-3157 (B) 
Fax: 617-573-3389 (B) 
Email: psadow@mgh.harvard.edu  
 
Robert D. Willim, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center 
Phone: 617-667-4063 
Email: rwillim@bidmc.harvard.edu 
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 78

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:mbdavis@bidplymouth.org
mailto:david.gang@bhs.org
mailto:ykheher@bidmc.harvard.edu
mailto:Vandita.johari@baystatehealth.org
mailto:nbelsley@bidmc.harvard.edu
mailto:meghascarff@yahoo.com
mailto:khana@ummhc.org
mailto:nlaver@tuftsmedicalcenter.org
mailto:gifford.lum@va.gov
mailto:mmisialek@partners.org
mailto:drnaj15@gmail.com
mailto:kobrie11@bidmc.harvard.edu
mailto:rosgood@challiance.org
mailto:dpappas@hallmarkhealth.org
mailto:john.perrymd@gmail.com
mailto:psadow@mgh.harvard.edu
mailto:rwillim@bidmc.harvard.edu


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 13 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
MICHIGAN 
10 Delegates/10 Alternates 
 
Aleodor A. Andea, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Michigan Hospitals 
Phone: 734-764-8684 (B) 
Fax: 734-764-4690 (B) 
Email: andeaa@med.umich.edu  
 
Sharon K. Bihlmeyer, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St. Joseph Mercy Hospital 
Phone: 734-712-7605 (B) 
Fax: 734-712-2244 (B) 
Email: skbgauthier@gmail.com  
 
Alyson Miller Booth, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Spectrum Health Blodgett Hosp 
Phone: 616-267-2660 (B) 
Fax: 616-267-2669 (B) 
Email: alyson.booth@spectrumhealth.org  
 
Matthew David Carr, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Holland Hospital 
Phone: 616-394-3185 (B) 
Fax: 616-355-3831 (B) 
Email: matthewcarrmd@gmail.com  
 
Dhananjay A. Chitale, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Henry Ford Hospital 
Phone: 313-916-4235 
Email: dchital1@hfhs.org 
  
Edward P. Fody, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Holland Hospital 
Phone: 616-394-3186 (B) 
Fax: 616-394-3193 (B) 
Email: banditdog101@gmail.com  
 
Avneesh Gupta, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 520-444-8078 (H) 
Email: avneeshgupta@hotmail.com  
 
Ronald N. Horowitz, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 517-332-5050 (H) 
Fax: 517-332-8011 (H) 
Email: ronaldnh1451@gmail.com  
 
Christian E. Keller, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Henry Ford Hospital 
Phone: 313-916-7176 
Email: ckeller1@hfhs.org 
 

Vaishali Pansare, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Beaumont Health 
Pathology, Beaumont Grosse Pointe 
Phone: 317-473-1615 
Email: vaishali.pansare@beaumont.edu  
 
James Edward Richard, DO, FCAP – Delegate 
CAP Lab-PLC 
Phone: 517-372-5520 (H) 
Fax: 517-372-5540 (B) 
Email: james.richard@caplab.org  
 
Gaurav Sharma, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Henry Ford Medical Center 
Phone: 734-764-3270 (B) 
Fax: 734-936-7361 (B) 
Email: gsharma2@hfhs.org  
 
Vinod B. Shidham, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Wayne State University - School of Medicine 
Phone: 313-577-2752 (B) 
Fax: 313-577-0057 (B) 
Email: vshidham@med.wayne.edu  
 
Rima Tinawi-Aljundi, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Michigan Institute of Urology 
Phone: 586-899-9347 (C) 
Email: aljundir@michiganurology.com 
 
J. Mark Tuthill, MD, MS, FCAP – Alternate 
Henry Ford Hospital 
Phone: 313-916-2524 
Email: mtuthil1@hfhs.org 
 
Weichen Wang, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
St. Mary’s of Michigan Medical Center 
Phone: 989-907-8230 
Email: wwang@stmarysofmichigan.org  
 
S Yasir Zaidi, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Wayne State University SOM/DMC 
Phone: 313-966-4339 
Email: szaidi@dmc.org  
 
Richard J. Zarbo, MD, DMD, FCAP – Alternate 
Henry Ford Hospital 
Phone: 313-916-2964 (B) 
Fax: 313-916-9113 (B) 
Email: rzarbo1@hfhs.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 79

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:andeaa@med.umich.edu
mailto:skbgauthier@gmail.com
mailto:alyson.booth@spectrumhealth.org
mailto:matthewcarrmd@gmail.com
mailto:dchital1@hfhs.org
mailto:banditdog101@gmail.com
mailto:avneeshgupta@hotmail.com
mailto:ronaldnh1451@gmail.com
mailto:ckeller1@hfhs.org
mailto:vaishali.pansare@beaumont.edu
mailto:james.richard@caplab.org
mailto:gsharma2@hfhs.org
mailto:vshidham@med.wayne.edu
mailto:aljundir@michiganurology.com
mailto:mtuthil1@hfhs.org
mailto:wwang@stmarysofmichigan.org
mailto:szaidi@dmc.org
mailto:rzarbo1@hfhs.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 14 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
MINNESOTA 
6 Delegates/6 Alternates 
 
Stuart E.H. Cameron, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Hennepin County Medical Center 
Phone: 612-873-6026 (B) 
Fax: 612-904-4282  
Email: stuart.cameron@hcmed.org   
 
Curtis A. Hanson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Mayo Clinic 
Phone: 507-284-0377 (B) 
Fax: 507-284-5115 (B) 
Email: cahanson@mayo.edu 
 
Saeid Movahedi-Lankarani, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Abbott Northwestern Hospital 
Phone: 612-863-8375 (B) 
Email: saeid.movahedi-lankarani@allina.com  
 
Joseph E. Parisi, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Mayo Clinic 
Phone: 507-284-3887 (B) 
Fax: 507-284-1599 (B) 
Email: parisi.joseph@mayo.edu  
 
Ross W. Simpson, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Park Nicollet Methodist Hospital 
Phone: 952-993-5290 (B) 
Fax: 952-993-6193 (B) 
Email: ross.simpson@parknicollet.com  
 
MISSISSIPPI 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
James P. Almas, MD, FCAP – Chair 
St Dominic-Jackson Mem Hospital 
Phone: 601-200-6757 (B) 
Fax: 601-200-8801 (B) 
Email: jalmas@stdom.com 
 
MISSOURI 
7 Delegates/7 Alternates 
 
Samuel K. Caughron, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 402-319-5773 (H) 
Fax: 913-789-3177 (B) 
Email: scaughron@mawdpathology.com  
 

Adam T. Clapper, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Boyce & Bynum Pathology Labs PC 
Phone: 573-886-4655 (B) 
Fax: 573-256-6920 (B) 
Email: aclapper@bbpllab.com  
 
Jeffrey L. Craver, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 618-474-6357 
Fax: 573-886-4648 (B) 
Email: jlcpath@gmail.com  
 
Daniel C. Dim, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Truman Medical Center 
University of Missouri At Kansas City 
Phone: 816-404-0589 (B) 
Fax: 816-404-0572 (B) 
Email: dimd@umkc.edu  
 
Laura Jane Gardner, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 314-968-2316 (H) 
Fax: 314-251-7456 (B) 
Email: gardlj@yahoo.com  
 
Stephen Elliott Godfrey, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Peace of Mind Private Autopsy Services 
Phone: 314-401-5161 (B) 
Email: pathcounsel@aol.com  
 
Chakshu Gupta, MD, MBA, FCAP  – Alternate 
MAWD Pathology Group 
Phone: 816-343-4575 
Email: chakgupta@gmail.com 
 
Jeffrey R. Melnick, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
St Luke's Hospital 
Phone: 314-205-6236 (B) 
Fax: 314-205-6830 (B) 
Email: Jeffrey.melnick@stlukes-stl.com  
 
Suparna Nanua, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
St Lukes Hospital of Kansas City 
Phone: 816-932-3981 (B) 
Email: snanua@saint-lukes.org  
 
Olaronke Akintola Ogunremi, MD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Christian Hospital 
Phone: 314-653-5630 (B) 
Fax: 314-205-8717 (B) 
Email: olaronke_ogunremi@bjc.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 80

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:stuart.cameron@hcmed.org
mailto:cahanson@mayo.edu
mailto:saeid.movahedi-lankarani@allina.com
mailto:parisi.joseph@mayo.edu
mailto:ross.simpson@parknicollet.com
mailto:jalmas@stdom.com
mailto:scaughron@mawdpathology.com
mailto:aclapper@bbpllab.com
mailto:jlcpath@gmail.com
mailto:dimd@umkc.edu
mailto:gardlj@yahoo.com
mailto:pathcounsel@aol.com
mailto:chakgupta@gmail.com
mailto:Jeffrey.melnick@stlukes-stl.com
mailto:snanua@saint-lukes.org
mailto:olaronke_ogunremi@bjc.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 15 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Douglas W. Shevlin, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Memorial Medical Center 
Phone: 816-241-0928 (B) 
Fax: 217-788-5579 (B) 
Email: dshevlin@mawdpathology.com  
 
Jami R. Skrade, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
Cox Medical Center South 
Phone: 417-889-8203 (H) 
Fax: 417-269-6034 (B) 
Email: jami.skrade@coxhealth.com  
 
MONTANA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Michael S. Brown, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Yellowstone Pathology Institute Inc. Billings 
Phone: 406-238-6360 (B) 
Fax: 406-238-6361 (B) 
Email: 
michael.brown@yellowstonepathology.com  
 
Angela Fay Durden, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Yellowstone Pathology Institute Inc. Billings 
Phone: 406-238-6360 (B) 
Fax: 406-238-6361 (B) 
Email: angela.durden@ypii.com  
 
NEBRASKA 
3 Delegates/3 Alternates 
 
Julia A. Bridge, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Nebraska Medical Center 
Phone: 402-559-3870 (B) 
Fax: 402-559-6018 (B) 
Email: jbridge@unmc.edu  
 
Jessica Ann Kozel, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 402-559-4593 (B) 
Fax: 573-884-4612 (B) 
Email: jessica.a.kozel@unmc.edu  
 
Deborah A. Perry, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Nebraska Methodist Hospital 
Phone: 402-955-5511 (B) 
Fax: 402-955-5544 (B) 
Email: dperry@childrensomaha.org  
 
Poonam Sharma, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
CHI Health Laboratory 
Phone: 402-449-4685 (B) 
Fax: 402-393-6857 (H) 
Email: poonamsharma@creighton.edu  
 

Sara M. Shunkwiler, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 402-740-1024 (B) 
Fax: 402-559-6018 (B) 
Email: sara.shunkwiler@unmc.edu 

 
Geoffrey Allen Talmon, MD, FCAP – Chair 
The Nebraska Medical Center 
Phone: 402-559-4793 (B) 
Fax: 402-559-6018 (B) 
Email: gtalmon@unmc.edu  
 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Candice Black, MD, DO, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 603-675-2469 (H) 
Email: Candice.C.Black@hitchcock.org  
 
Claire B. Fabian, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Cheshire Medical Center Dartmouth Hitchcock 
Keene 
Phone: 603-354-5454 (B) 
Fax: 603-354-5471 (B) 
Email: cfabian@cheshire-med.com  
 
David Alan Novis, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Novis Consulting LLC 
Phone: 603-659-6931 (H) 
Email: dnovis@dnovis.com  
 
NEW JERSEY 
8 Delegates/8 Alternates 
 
Nikolay Dimov, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
BioReference Laboratories, Inc. 
Phone: 312-912-2418 (C) 
Email: ndimov@bioreference.com 
 
Charles Theodore Ladoulis, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 732-291-9446 (H) 
Email: charles.ladoulis@gmail.com  
 
Edwin Leschhorn, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Riverview Medical Center Laboratory 
Phone: 732-530-2347 (B) 
Fax: 732-345-2045 (B) 
Email: eleschhorn@meridianhealth.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 81

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:dshevlin@mawdpathology.com
mailto:jami.skrade@coxhealth.com
mailto:michael.brown@yellowstonepathology.com
mailto:angela.durden@ypii.com
mailto:jbridge@unmc.edu
mailto:jessica.a.kozel@unmc.edu
mailto:dperry@childrensomaha.org
mailto:poonamsharma@creighton.edu
mailto:sara.shunkwiler@unmc.edu
mailto:gtalmon@unmc.edu
mailto:Candice.C.Black@hitchcock.org
mailto:cfabian@cheshire-med.com
mailto:dnovis@dnovis.com
mailto:ndimov@bioreference.com
mailto:charles.ladoulis@gmail.com
mailto:eleschhorn@meridianhealth.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 16 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Kumudini U. Mehta, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Quest Diagnostics Inc 
Phone: 201-393-5132 (B) 
Fax: 201-462-6757 (B) 
Email: kumim@aol.com  
 
Zaida E Olmo-Durham, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St Peter's University Hospital 
Phone: 732-745-8534 (B) 
Fax: 732-220-8595 (B) 
Email: zolmo@saintpetersuh.com  
 
Teresita C. Redondo, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St Barnabas Medical Center 
Phone: 973-322-5731 (B) 
Fax: 973-322-8917 (B) 
Email: tredondo@barnabashealth.org  
 
Manimala Roy MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Riverview Medical Center Laboratory 
Phone: 732-530-2347 (B) 
Fax: 732-345-2045 (B) 
Email: manimalaroy@yahoo.com  
 
James D. Weisberger, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Bio-Reference Laboratories 
Phone: 201-721-2306 (B) 
Fax: 201-670-3788 (H)  
Email: jweisberger@bioreference.com  
 
Lanjing Zhang, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University Medical Center of Princeton at 
Plainsboro 
Phone: 609-853-6833 (B) 
Fax: 609-853-6834 (B) 
Email: lazhang@njim.org  
 
Louis J. Zinterhofer, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Monmouth Medical Center 
Phone: 732-923-7358 (B) 
Fax: 732-923-7355 (B) 
Email: lzinterhofer@barnabashealth.org  
 
NEW MEXICO 
3 Delegates/3 Alternates 
 
Michael Crossey, MD, PhD, FCAP – Chair 
TriCore Reference Laboratories 
Phone: 505-938-8953 (B) 
Fax: 505-938-8614 (B) 
Email: michael.crossey@tricore.org 
 

Andrew E. Horvath, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Pathology Associates of Albuquerque PA 
Phone: 505-841-1060 (B) 
Fax: 505-841-1373 (B) 
Email: andrew.horvath@tricore.org 
 
NEW YORK 
18 Delegates/18 Alternates 
 
Ann E. Anderson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Integrated Medical Professionals 
Phone: 516-280-7930 
Email: aanderson@imppllc.com  
 
Stephen D. Apfelroth, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Jacobi Medical Center 
Phone: 718-918-5233 (B) 
Fax: 718-918-7785 (B)  
Email: stephen.apfelroth@nbhn.net  
 
Jela Bandovic, Jr., MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Stony Brook Medicine University Hospital 
Phone: 631-444-2003 
Email: jela.bandovic@stonybrookmedicine.edu  
 
Joanne L. Becker, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Roswell Park Cancer Institute 
Phone: 716-845-8258 
Email: joanne.becker@roswellpark.org  
 
Robert J. Boorstein, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
ClasGroup Company 
Phone: 917-312-3786 
Email: rjboorstein@yahoo.com 
 
Evan M. Cadoff, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Montefiore Medical Center 
The University Hospital for Albert Einstein  
Phone: 718-920-4540 (B) 
Email: ecadoff@montefiore.org  
 
Yi Ding, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
New York University Langone Medical Center 
Phone: 917-216-9679 
Email: dingy03@gmail.com  

 
Mary Elizabeth Fowkes, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Mt Sinai Medical Center 
Phone: 212-241-3069 (B) 
Fax: 212-916-1343 (B) 
Email: mary.fowkes@gmail.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 82

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:kumim@aol.com
mailto:zolmo@saintpetersuh.com
mailto:tredondo@barnabashealth.org
mailto:manimalaroy@yahoo.com
mailto:jweisberger@bioreference.com
mailto:lazhang@njim.org
mailto:lzinterhofer@barnabashealth.org
mailto:michael.crossey@tricore.org
mailto:andrew.horvath@tricore.org
mailto:aanderson@imppllc.com
mailto:stephen.apfelroth@nbhn.net
mailto:jela.bandovic@stonybrookmedicine.edu
mailto:joanne.becker@roswellpark.org
mailto:rjboorstein@yahoo.com
mailto:ecadoff@montefiore.org
mailto:dingy03@gmail.com
mailto:mary.fowkes@gmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 17 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Shah M. Giashuddin, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Brooklyn Hospital Center 
Phone: 917-376-5739 
Email: smg9009@nyp.org  
 
Humayun Kamal Islam, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Westchester Medical Center 
New York Medical College 
Phone: 914-493-1072 (B) 
Fax: 914-493-1145 (H) 
Email: islamh@wcmc.com  
 
Jeffrey Seok-Woo Jhang, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Mount Sinai Hospital 
Phone: 914-282-8227 
Email: Jeffrey.jhang@mountsinai.org  
 
Tipsuda Junsanto-Bahri, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 973-470-8258 (H) 
Fax: 212-678-1785 (B) 
Email: junsanto@hotmail.com  
 
Mustafa Kaakour, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Centrex Labs/LabCorp of America 
Phone: 315-624-8283 
Email: mustafak@centrexlabls.com 
 
Samer Khader, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Montefiore Medical Center 
Phone: 718-920-5025 
Email: skhader@montefiore.org  
 
Keith A. Krabill, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Buffalo General Hospital 
Phone: 716-626-7200 (B) 
Fax: 716-859-1853 (B) 
Email: kkrabill@kaleidahealth.org  
 
Ming Liu, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Brookdale University Hospital & Medical Center 
Phone: 718-240-5321 (B) 
Fax: 718-240-5424 (B) 
Email: mliu@bhmcny.org   
 
Sutini Ngadiman, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 845-483-6447 (B) 
Fax: 845-431-5618 (B) 
Email: sutini@frontiernet.net  
 
Augusto Felix Paulino, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 212-314-8601 (B) 
Fax: 212-258-2152 (B) 
Email: yorkavenueny@yahoo.com  
 

Jingxin Qiu, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Roswell Park Cancer Institute 
Phone: 716-845-3457 
Fax: 716-845-3427 
Email: Jingxin.qiu@roswellpark.org  
 
Patricia R. Romano, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Shiel Medical Laboratory 
Brooklyn Navy Yard 
Phone: 718-552-1000 (B) 
Fax: 718-552-1085 (B) 
Email: promanomd@shiel.com  
 
Rana Samuel, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 716-862-8701 (B) 
Fax: 716-862-7824 (B) 
Email: rana.samuel@va.gov  
 
Sateesh K. Satchidanand, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 716-891-2702 (H) 
Fax: 716-891-2135 (B) 
Email: satchidanand@chsbuffalo.org  
 
Theresa Scognamiglio, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 718-948-8794 (H) 
Fax: 212-746-8624 (B) 
Email: ths9004@med.cornell.edu  
 
Silvat Sheikh-Fayyaz, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
North Shore Long Island Jewish Health System 
Hoftsra School of Medicine 
Phone: 516-643-8515 
Email: ssheikh@nshs.edu 
 
Brie A. Stotler, MD, MPH, FCAP – Alternate 
Columbia University Medical Center 
Phone: 212-305-0948 
Email: brie.stotler@gmail.com  
 
Louis K. Sussman, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
New York Queens Medical and Surgery PC 
Phone: 718-670-1374 (B) 
Fax: 718-661-7745 (B) 
Email: lks9002@nyp.org  
 
James A. Terzian, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 607-798-5219 (B) 
Fax: 607-798-6707 (H) 
Email: jterzian@lourdes.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 83

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:smg9009@nyp.org
mailto:islamh@wcmc.com
mailto:Jeffrey.jhang@mountsinai.org
mailto:junsanto@hotmail.com
mailto:mustafak@centrexlabls.com
mailto:skhader@montefiore.org
mailto:KKRABILL@Kaleidahealth.org
mailto:mliu@bhmcny.org
mailto:sutini@frontiernet.net
mailto:yorkavenueny@yahoo.com
mailto:Jingxin.qiu@roswellpark.org
mailto:promanomd@shiel.com
mailto:rana.samuel@va.gov
mailto:satchidanand@chsbuffalo.org
mailto:ths9004@med.cornell.edu
mailto:ssheikh@nshs.edu
mailto:brie.stotler@gmail.com
mailto:lks9002@nyp.org
mailto:jterzian@lourdes.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 18 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
NEWFOUNDLAND 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Stephen S. Raab, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Memorial University of Newfoundland 
Phone: 720-563-1758 (B) 
Fax: 412-623-4014 
Email: raabss@gmail.com  
 
NORTH CAROLINA 
9 Delegates/9 Alternates 
 
Bilal Ahmad, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Pathologists Diagnostic Lab PA 
Phone: 336-718-3713 
Email: bahmad@pdlpath.com 
 
Richard J. Baltaro, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Brody School of Medicine at ECU 
Phone: 402-669-7299 (H) 
Fax: 252-744-8200 
Email: baltaror@aol.com  
 
Philip J. Boyer, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 303-408-0511 (B) 
Fax: 303-724-1105 (B) 
Email: boyerp14@ecu.edu  
 
Robert Tucker Burks, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Carolinas Medical Center 
Phone: 908-212-1204 (H) 
Fax: 704-973-5518 (B) 
Email: tucker.burks@carolinas.org 
 
Diana Marcella Cardona, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Duke University Medical Center 
Phone: 919-613-5208 (B)  
Email: diana.cardona@duke.edu  
 
Leslie Gail Dodd, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of North Carolina Hospital 
Phone: 919-843-1908 (B) 
Email: leslie.dodd@unchealth.unc.edu  
 
Kim R. Geisinger, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Mississippi Medical Center 
Phone: 336-403-2380 (H) 
Fax: 336-716-7595 
Email: krgeisin@yahoo.com  
 

John Burnett Holt, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Novant Health Presbyterian Medical Center 
Phone: 704-384-4814 (B) 
Fax: 704-384-5770 (B) 
Email: jbholt@novanthealth.org  
 
Xiaoyin Jiang, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Duke University Medical Center 
Phone: 919-684-6453 (B) 
Fax: 919-681-7377 (B) 
Email: jiang009@mc.duke.edu  
 
Keith J. Kaplan, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Carolinas Medical Center 
Phone: 704-355-2251 (B) 
Fax: 704-973-5518 (B) 
Email: kaps15@yahoo.com  
 
Anand Shreeram Lagoo, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Chair 
Duke University Health System 
Phone: 919-668-0921 (B) 
Fax: 919-684-1856 (B) 
Email: anand.lagoo@duke.edu  
 
Roger E. McLendon, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Duke University Health System 
Phone: 919-383-7856 (B) 
Fax: 919-681-7634 (B) 
Email: roger.mclendon@duke.edu  
 
Preeti Hasmukh Parekh, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 919-465-2406 (H) 
Fax: 919-784-3362 (B) 
Email: preeti.parekh@unchealth.unc.edu   
 
Matthew James Snyder, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Raleigh Pathology Lab Associates 
Phone: 919-350-8257 (B) 
Fax: 919-350-8232 (B) 
Email: matsnyder@wakemed.org  
 
Dimitri George Trembath, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Phone: 919-843-1476 (B) 
Fax: 919-966-6417 (B) 
Email: dtrembat@unch.unc.edu  
 
Keith E. Volmar, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Rex Healthcare 
Phone: 919-784-2506 (B) 
Fax: 919-784-3362 (B) 
Email: keith.volmar@rexhealth.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 84

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:raabss@gmail.com
mailto:bahmad@pdlpath.com
mailto:baltaror@aol.com
mailto:boyerp14@ecu.edu
mailto:tucker.burks@carolinas.org
mailto:diana.cardona@duke.edu
mailto:leslie.dodd@unchealth.unc.edu
mailto:krgeisin@yahoo.com
mailto:jbholt@novanthealth.org
mailto:jiang009@mc.duke.edu
mailto:kaps15@yahoo.com
mailto:anand.lagoo@duke.edu
mailto:roger.mclendon@duke.edu
mailto:preeti.parekh@unchealth.unc.edu
mailto:matsnyder@wakemed.org
mailto:dtrembat@unch.unc.edu
mailto:keith.volmar@rexhealth.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 19 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
NORTH DAKOTA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Mary Ann Sens, MD, PhD, FCAP – Chair 
University of North Dakota School of Medicine 
and Health Science 
Phone: 701-777-1200 (B) 
Fax: 701-777-3108 
Email: mary.sens@med.und.edu 
 
NOVA SCOTIA 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Laurette Geldenhuys, MD, MBChB, FCAP – 
Chair 
Dalhousie University 
Phone: 902-220-9586 
Email: laurette.geldenhuysmd@nshealth.ca  
 
Weei-Yuarn Huang, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
QEII Health Science Center 
Phone: 902-473-7665 
Email: huangw@nshealth.ca  
 
OHIO 
12 Delegates/12 Alternates 
 
Mohammad Qasim Ansari, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Cleveland Clinic 
Phone: 214-228-8561 (H) 
Fax: 216-445-0212 (B) 
Email: ansarim@ccf.org  
 
Gary E. Barnett, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 614-293-1835 (B) 
Fax: 614-293-4715 (B) 
Email: gary.barnett@osumc.edu  
 
Santiago Singson Castillo, Jr., MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 419-868-1525 (H) 
Fax: 419-868-8143 (H) 
Email: scasti3847@aol.com  
 
Lawrence A. DeRenne, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Ohio State University Medical Center 
Phone: 614-293-0607 (B) 
Fax: 614-293-2779 (B) 
Email: larry.derenne@osumc.edu  
 

James J. Devitt, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
The Christ Hospital Clinical Lab 
Phone: 513-585-1120 (B) 
Fax: 513-585-1434 (B) 
Email: james.devitt@thechristhospital.com  
 
Robert George Gurdak, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Trumbull Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 330-841-9346 (B) 
Fax: 330-841-9786 (B) 
Email: robert_gurdak@vchs.net  
 
Daniel L. Hood, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 937-208-2447 (B) 
Fax: 937-208-6137 (B) 
Email: dan.l.hood@questdiagnostics.com  
 
Smita Krishnamurthy, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Washington Medical Center 
Phone: 937-367-6891 (B) 
Fax: 937-434-1381 (B) 
Email: smita.krish1@gmail.com  
 
Nikalaj P. Lagwinski, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 440-375-4395 
Fax: 559-326-2822 
Email: nlagwinski@gmail.com 
 
Robert E. Mrak, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
The University of Toledo Medical Center 
Phone: 419-383-3469 (B) 
Fax: 419-383-6183 (B) 
Email: robert.mrak@utoledo.edu  
 
Jonathan Louis Myles, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Cleveland Clinic Foundation 
Phone: 216-444-2842 (B) 
Fax: 216-445-6967 (B) 
Email: mylesj@ccf.org  
 
Deepa T. Patil, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Cleveland Clinic Foundation 
Email: patild@ccf.org  
 
Robert E. Petras, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Ameripath Cleveland 
Phone: 440-703-2116 (B) 
Fax: 440-703-2155 (B) 
Email: rpetras@ameripath.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 85

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:mary.sens@med.und.edu
mailto:laurette.geldenhuysmd@nshealth.ca
mailto:huangw@nshealth.ca
mailto:ansarim@ccf.org
mailto:gary.barnett@osumc.edu
mailto:scasti3847@aol.com
mailto:larry.derenne@osumc.edu
mailto:james.devitt@thechristhospital.com
mailto:robert_gurdak@vchs.net
mailto:dan.l.hood@questdiagnostics.com
mailto:smita.krish1@gmail.com
mailto:nlagwinski@gmail.com
mailto:robert.mrak@utoledo.edu
mailto:mylesj@ccf.org
mailto:patild@ccf.org
mailto:rpetras@ameripath.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 20 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Vinay Prasad, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Nationwide Children’s Hosp Lab 
Phone: 614-722-5466 (B) 
Email: vinnyprasad@gmail.com  
 
Anthony John Simonetti, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Quest Diagnostics Inc 
Phone: 954-303-9803 
Email: simonea2@ccf.org 
 
Joseph J. Sreenan, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Lima Pathology Assoc Labs Inc. 
Phone: 419-255-4600 (B) 
Fax: 419-996-5298 
Email: jjsreenan@health-partners.org   
 
Gary Tozbikian, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Wexner Medical Center at The Ohio State 
University 
Phone: 614-366-8467 
Email: gary.tozbikian@osumc.edu  
 
Wei Xin, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 440-498-1643 (B) 
Fax: 216-844-4810 (B) 
Email: weixin1967@yahoo.com  
 
Bin Yang, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Cleveland Clinic Foundation 
Phone: 216-445-0306 (B) 
Fax: 216-445-6967 (B) 
Email: yangb@ccf.org  
 
Debra Lyn Zynger, MD, FCAP – Chair 
The Ohio State University Medical Center 
Phone: 614-293-7705 (B)  
Email: debra.zynger@osumc.edu  
 
OKLAHOMA 
3 Delegates/3 Alternates 
 
Carol C. Dittmann, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 580-355-8699 (B) 
Fax: 580-585-5462 (B) 
Email: caroldittmann50@gmail.com   
 
Lawrence Revel Johnson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St John Medical Center 
Phone: 918-744-2553 (B) 
Fax: 918-744-3327 (B) 
Email: lrjohnson@sjmc.org  
 

Randal Carl Juengel, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Integris Southwest Medical Center 
Phone: 405-636-7590 (B) 
Fax: 405-636-7518 (B) 
Email: rjuengel@ameripath.com  
 
Lauren C. King, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Oklahoma Health Science Center 
Phone: 901-484-2653 
Email: lcking82@gmail.com 
 
Michelle L.E. Powers, MD, MBA, FCAP – Chair 
Mercy Hospital Oklahoma, Inc. 
Phone: 405-637-6552 (H) 
Fax: 405-752-3052 (B) 
Email: pathpowers@gmail.com  
 
Eric Justin Thompson, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Pathology Consult Serv Inc 
Phone: 405-321-0370 (B) 
Fax: 405-307-1143 (B) 
Email: drthompson@nrh-ok.com  
 
ONTARIO 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Terence J. Colgan, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Mount Sinai Hospital 
Phone: 416-586-4522 (B) 
Fax: 416-586-8481 (B) 
Email: tcolgan@mtsinai.on.ca  
 
Sandip Kumar SenGupta, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Kingston General Hospital 
Phone: 613-549-6666 (B) 
Fax: 613-548-6076 (B) 
Email: sengupts@kgh.kari.net  
 
OREGON 
4 Delegates/4 Alternates 
 
Ken M. Gatter, MD, JD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 503-494-9000 (B) 
Fax: 503-494-8148 (B) 
Email: gatterk@ohsu.edu   
 
Juan C. Millan, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Legacy Central Laboratory 
Phone: 503-413-5049 (B) 
Fax: 503-413-5054 (B) 
Email: jmillan@lhs.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 86

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:vinnyprasad@gmail.com
mailto:simonea2@ccf.org
mailto:jjsreenan@health-partners.org
mailto:gary.tozbikian@osumc.edu
mailto:weixin1967@yahoo.com
mailto:yangb@ccf.org
mailto:debra.zynger@osumc.edu
mailto:caroldittmann50@gmail.com
mailto:lrjohnson@sjmc.org
mailto:rjuengel@ameripath.com
mailto:lcking82@gmail.com
mailto:pathpowers@gmail.com
mailto:drthompson@nrh-ok.com
mailto:tcolgan@mtsinai.on.ca
mailto:sengupts@kgh.kari.net
mailto:gatterk@ohsu.edu
mailto:jmillan@lhs.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 21 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Charles J. Sailey Jr., MD, MS, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 360-208-0706 (B) 
Fax: 763-431-3709 
Email: csailey@moleculartestinglabs.com  

 
James T. Wolfe, III, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 513-755-1497 (H) 
Fax: 541-768-5039 (B) 
Email: jtjwolfe@samhealth.org  
 
PENNSYLVANIA 
15 Delegates/15 Alternates 
 
Manjula Balasubramanian, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 215-456-6175 (B) 
Fax: 215-456-2388 (B) 
Email: balasubm@einstein.edu  
 
Michael A. Berman, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Jefferson Hospital 
Phone: 412-469-5726 (B) 
Fax: 412-469-7236 (B) 
Email: michael.berman@jeffersonregional.com  
 
Shahid Bokhari, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St. Clair Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 631-258-6260 
Email: sbokhair3@gmail.com 
 
Zong-Ming E. Chen, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 312-926-9648 (B) 
Fax: 570-214-4818 (B) 
Email: zechen@geisinger.edu  
 
Martha R. Clarke, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
St Clair Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 412-942-3867 (B) 
Fax: 412-942-3813 (B) 
Email: martha.clarke@stclair.org  
 
Keri J. Donaldson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Penn State Milton S. Hershey Medical School 
Phone: 215-349-6296 
Fax: 717-531-3803 (B) 
Email: kdonaldson@hmc.psu.edu  
 
Jerald Zuying Gong, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Thomas Jefferson University Hospital 
Phone: 215-955-6304 (B) 
Fax: 215-955-2604 (B) 
Email: jerald.gong@jefferson.edu  
 

Herman S. Hurwitz, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 267-615-4863 (H) 
Email: hsh167@aol.com  
 
David Bruce Jones, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 717-854-7787 (H) 
Fax: 717-851-5114 (B) 
Email: djones@wellspan.org 

Frank R. Rudy, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 717-574-5615 (C) 
Email: drrfrr@yahoo.com  
 
Amanda Erin Wehler, DO, FCAP – Delegate 
Geisinger Medical Center 
Phone: 570-271-7443 (B) 
Fax: 570-271-6105 (B) 
Email: brehmae@yahoo.com  
 
Roseann I. Wu, MD, MPH, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Pennsylvania Health System 
Phone: 215-615-2698 
Email: roseann.wu@uphs.upenn.eud 
 
Zhaohai Yang, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Penn State Milton S. Hershey Medical Center 
Phone: 717-531-8739 (B) 
Fax: 717-531-7741 (B) 
Email: zyang2@hmc.psu.edu  
 
Nancy A. Young, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Einstein Medical Center 
Phone: 215-456-6126 (B) 
Fax: 215-456-6426 (B) 
Email: youngnan@einstein.edu  
 
PUERTO RICO 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Axel Baez-Torres, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Urb. Mansion Real 
Phone: 787-892-1860 (B) 
Fax: 787-892-2587 (B) 
Email: axelbaez@prtc.net  
 
Wilma Virella-Santana, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Plaza Del REY 
Phone: 787-726-5486 x 239 (B) 
Phone: 787-765-7320 
Fax: 787-758-8011 
Email: wvirella@prpathlab.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 87

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:csailey@moleculartestinglabs.com
mailto:jtjwolfe@samhealth.org
mailto:balasubm@einstein.edu
mailto:michael.berman@jeffersonregional.com
mailto:sbokhair3@gmail.com
mailto:zechen@geisinger.edu
mailto:martha.clarke@stclair.org
mailto:kdonaldson@hmc.psu.edu
mailto:jerald.gong@jefferson.edu
mailto:hsh167@aol.com
mailto:djones@wellspan.org
mailto:drrfrr@yahoo.com
mailto:brehmae@yahoo.com
mailto:roseann.wu@uphs.upenn.eud
mailto:zyang2@hmc.psu.edu
mailto:youngnan@einstein.edu
mailto:axelbaez@prtc.net
mailto:wvirella@prpathlab.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 22 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
RESIDENTS FORUM 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Buu Duong, MD – Alternate 
Tulane University Health Sciences Center 
Phone: 205-566-1220 (H) 
Email – buutduong@gmail.com 
 
Ryan Romano, DO – Delegate 
Mayo Clinic 
Phone: 515-554-3257 (B) 
Email: romano.ryan@mayo.edu  
 
RHODE ISLAND 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Elizabeth Tagide Kalife, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Women and Infants Hospital 
Phone: 404-290-8517 
Email: etagidekalife@gmail.com  
 
Dariusz R. Stachurski, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Lifespan Academic Medical Center 
Phone: 401-444-6296 
Email: dstachurski@lifespan.org  
 
Diana O. Treaba, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Rhode Island Hospital, Lifespan 
Phone: 401-444-8897 
Email: dtreaba@lifespan.org 
 
SOUTH CAROLINA 
5 Delegates/5 Alternates 
 
Noel Anderson Brownlee, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Chair 
St Francis Hospital Inc 
Phone: 864-255-1283 (B) 
Fax: 864-255-1664 (B) 
Email: noel_brownlee@bshsi.org  
 
Alfred Wray Campbell, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 864-216-2966 (H) 
Fax: 864-560-6335 (B) 
Email: awcampbell@srhs.com  
 
Kim A. Collins, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 843-557-1935 (H) 
Fax: 843-579-1459 (B) 
Email: kimcollinsmd@gmail.com  
 

Rosanna L. Lapham, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Spartanburg Regional Medical Center 
Phone: 864-560-7034 (B) 
Fax: 864-560-6335 (B) 
Email: rlapham@srhs.com  
 
Donald Craver Swing, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 864-255-1645 
Fax: 864-255-1664 
Email: Donald_swing@bshsi.org  
 
Anne M. Vandersteenhoven, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Phone: 803-791-2410 (B) 
Fax: 803-736-4667 (B) 
Email: amvandersteenhoven@lexhealth.org 
 
SOUTH DAKOTA 
2 Delegate/2 Alternate 
 
Karl Joseph Blessinger, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Huron Regional Medical Center 
Phone: 605-353-6333 (B) 
Fax: 605-353-6250 (B) 
Email: kblessinger@huronregional.org  
 
Jacquelyn D. Choate, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Physicians Laboratory Ltd. 
Phone: 605-322-7200 
Email: Jacquelyn.choate@avera.org  
 
Karla K. Murphy, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Physicians Laboratory Ltd 
Phone: 605-322-7200 (B) 
Fax: 605-322-7222 (B) 
Email: karla.murphy@avera.org  
 
TENNESSEE 
8 Delegates/8 Alternates 
 
Pamela Stephens Bullock, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 714-875-5400 (H) 
Email: psbntn9@yahoo.com  
 
Melissa Cole Chiles, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Dermatopathology Partners PC 
Phone: 865-474-8866 (B) 
Fax: 865-218-7130 (B) 
Email: melissachiles@gmail.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 88

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:buutduong@gmail.com
mailto:romano.ryan@mayo.edu
mailto:etagidekalife@gmail.com
mailto:dstachurski@lifespan.org
mailto:dtreaba@lifespan.org
mailto:noel_brownlee@bshsi.org
mailto:awcampbell@srhs.com
mailto:kimcollinsmd@gmail.com
mailto:rlapham@srhs.com
mailto:Donald_swing@bshsi.org
mailto:amvandersteenhoven@lexhealth.org
mailto:kblessinger@huronregional.org
mailto:Jacquelyn.choate@avera.org
mailto:karla.murphy@avera.org
mailto:psbntn9@yahoo.com
mailto:melissachiles@gmail.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 23 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Neil Matthew Coleman, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Dermatopathology Partners PC 
Phone: 865-474-8866 (B) 
Fax: 865-560-2784 (B) 
Email: ncolemanmd@gmail.com  
 
Paul Thomas Eberts, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Solstas Lab-Trustees Tower Professional Bldg 
Phone: 865-208-3478 
Email: dr.peberts@gowithips.com  
 
J Cameron Hall, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Pathology Group of the Midsouth PC 
Phone: 901-542-6800 (B) 
Fax: 901-542-6871 (B) 
Email: jhall33@comcast.net  
 
Elizabeth W. Hubbard, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Tennessee 
Phone: 865-305-9080 (B) 
Fax: 865-305-6886 (B) 
Email: ehubbard@mc.utmck.edu  
 
Kathryn Teresa Knight, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 615-234-5314 (B) 
Fax: 615-234-8396 (B) 
Email: ktknight@pathgroup.com  
 
Jerald E. Mullersman, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 423-439-6210 (B) 
Fax: 423-439-8060 (B) 
Email: mullersm@etsu.edu  
 
Cuong T. Nguyen, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
University of Tennessee 
Phone: 901-448-1094 (B) 
Email: cnguye25@gmail.com  
 
Mary Lynn Swearingen, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Parkridge Medical Center Inc 
Phone: 423-493-1550 (B) 
Fax: 423-698-7858 (B) 
Email: lynnswearingen@me.com  
 
Blazej Zbytek, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Trumbull Laboratories LLC 
Phone: 901-542-6801 (B) 
Fax: 901-542-6873 (B) 
Email: blazej.zbytek@trumbulllabs.com  
 

TEXAS 
23 Delegates/23 Alternates 
 
Adekunle M. Adesina, MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Texas Childrens Hospital 
Phone: 832-824-5859 (B) 
Fax: 281-778-6457 (B) 
Email: aadesina@bcm.tmc.edu  
 
Raul Benavides, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Baylor University Medical Center 
PBM Labs 
Phone: 214-660-4401 (H) 
Email: raulbena@baylorhealth.edu  
 
Robert L. Breckenridge, MD, MBA, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Quest Diagnostics 
Phone: 816-589-2714 (H) 
Email: 
Robert.L.Breckenridge@questdiagnostics.com  
 
Yimin Ge, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 281-282-0620 (H) 
Fax: 409-747-2400 (B) 
Email: yge@houstonmethodist.org  
 
Susan L. Haley, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Houston Methodist Hospital 
Phone: 281-788-1483 (B) 
Email: slhaley@tmhs.org  
 
Yvonne Hearn, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 940-704-9576 (H) 
Fax: 940-764-3328 (B) 
Email: yhearnmd@gmail.com  
 
Michelle M. Hebert, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
914 Elkins Lake 
Phone: 936-577-4082 (B) 
Email: michhebert@me.com  
 
David N. Henkes, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Christus Santa Rosa Medical Center 
Phone: 210-892-3700 (B) 
Fax: 210-617-4697 (B) 
Email: david.henkes@christushealth.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 89

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:ncolemanmd@gmail.com
mailto:dr.peberts@gowithips.com
mailto:jhall33@comcast.net
mailto:ehubbard@mc.utmck.edu
mailto:ktknight@pathgroup.com
mailto:mullersm@etsu.edu
mailto:cnguye25@gmail.com
mailto:Lynnswearingen@me.com
mailto:Blazej.Zbytek@trumbulllabs.com
mailto:aadesina@bcm.tmc.edu
mailto:raulbena@baylorhealth.edu
mailto:Robert.L.Breckenridge@questdiagnostics.com
mailto:yge@houstonmethodist.org
mailto:slhaley@tmhs.org
mailto:yhearnmd@gmail.com
mailto:michhebert@me.com
mailto:david.henkes@christushealth.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 24 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Gregory A. Hosler, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
ProPath Laboratory Inc 
Phone: 214-237-1667 (B) 
Fax: 214-237-1827 (B) 
Email: gregory.hosler@propath.com  
 
Joseph D. Khoury, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
UTMD Anderson Cancer Center 
Phone: 713-563-9171 (B) 
Email: jkhoury@mdanderson.org  
 
Rodolfo Laucirica, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Baylor College of Medicine 
Phone: 713-873-3216 (B) 
Fax: 713-873-3214 (B) 
Email: rodolfol@bcm.edu  
 
Alexander J. Lazar, MD, PhD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center 
Phone: 713-563-1843 (B) 
Fax: 713-563-1848 (B) 
Email: alazar@mdanderson.org 
 
Shelby Dean Melton, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
VA Medical Center Dallas 
Phone: 214-857-0726 (B) 
Fax: 214-857-0739 (B) 
Email: shelbyd.melton@va.gov  
 
James Thomas Molina, Jr., MD, PhD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 409-923-1633 (B) 
Fax: 409-727-5777 (B) 
Email: jtmolina@gmail.com  
 
Ranjana Surendra Nawgiri, MD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Phone: 409-772-6654 (B) 
Fax: 409-772-8437 (B) 
Email: rnawgiri@gmail.com  
 
Amanda Lynn Peterson, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 210-567-6722 (B) 
Fax: 713-500-0712 (B) 
Email: petersonal@uthscsa.edu  
 
Suzanne Z. Powell, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Houston Methodist Hospital 
Phone: 713-441-6486 (B) 
Fax: 713-793-1603 (B) 
Email: spowell@houstonmethodist.org  
 

Nicole D. Riddle, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 352-219-9539 (H) 
Email: nriddlemd@gmail.com  
 
Cory Anthony Roberts, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
ProPath Associates 
Phone: 214-237-1715 (B) 
Fax: 214-237-1851 (B) 
Email: cory.roberts@propath.com  
 
Rene Rone, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 210-892-3700 (B) 
Fax: 210-617-4692 (B) 
Email: rrone@pathreflab.com  
 
Assad J. Saad, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Prism Pathology 
Phone: 214-947-3500 (B) 
Fax: 214-947-3524 (B) 
Email: joesaad@mhd.com  
 
V. O. Speights, Jr., DO, FCAP – Delegate 
Scott and White Memorial Hospital 
Phone: 254-724-3688 (B) 
Fax: 254-724-4391 (B) 
Email: vspeights@sw.org  
 
Robert C. Stern, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
St Davids Georgetown Hospital 
ADC Laboratory 
Fax: 512-901-3938 (B) 
Email: rstern@adclinic.com   
 
Susan Marie Strate, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 940-696-7578 (B) 
Fax: 940-692-0875 (B) 
Email: smstrate@aol.com  
 
Caroline Leilani Valdes, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 310-962-4637 (B) 
Fax: 361-573-5042 (H) 
Email: leilani@valdes.net  
 
James Versalovic, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
Texas Children’s Hospital 
Phone: 832-824-2213 (B) 
Fax: 832-825-1165 (B) 
Email: jamesv@bcm.edu  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 90

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:gregory.hosler@propath.com
mailto:jkhoury@mdanderson.org
mailto:rodolfol@bcm.edu
mailto:alazar@mdanderson.org
mailto:ShelbyD.Melton@va.gov
mailto:jtmolina@gmail.com
mailto:rnawgiri@gmail.com
mailto:petersonal@uthscsa.edu
mailto:spowell@houstonmethodist.org
mailto:nriddlemd@gmail.com
mailto:cory.roberts@propath.com
mailto:rrone@pathreflab.com
mailto:joesaad@mhd.com
mailto:vspeights@sw.org
mailto:rstern@adclinic.com
mailto:smstrate@aol.com
mailto:leilani@valdes.net
mailto:jamesv@bcm.edu


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 25 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Mitchell Steven Wachtel, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Texas Tech University HSC 
Phone: 806-743-2155 (B) 
Fax: 806-743-2117 (B) 
Email: mitchell.wachtel@ttuhsc.edu  
 
Thomas M. Wheeler, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Baylor College of Medicine 
Phone: 713-798-4664 (B) 
Fax: 713-798-6001 (B) 
Email: twheeler@bcm.edu  
 
Sang Wu, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Texas Health Presbyterian Hospital Denton 
Phone: 817-637-2113 (H) 
Phone: 214-345-8110 (B) 
Fax: 940-898-7082 
Email: sangwu@texashealth.org  
 
Wenxin Zheng, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
UT Southwestern Medical Center 
Phone: 214-648-1190 
Email: Wenxin.zheng@utsouthwestern.edu   
 
US ARMY 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Barbara A. Crothers, DO, FCAP – Delegate 
Walter Reed National Military Med Center 
Phone: 301-295-8639 (B) 
Fax: 301-295-1415 (B) 
Email: Barbara.crothers@gmail.com  
 
US NAVY 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Aaron Auerbach, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Joint Pathology Center 
Phone: 202-251-0172 (H) 
Email: aaron.auerbach.civ@mail.mil 
 
Meenakshi Arvind Nandedkar, MD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Phone: 301-319-8329 (H) 
Fax: 301-295-1415 (H) 
Email: meenakshi.nandedkar@us.army.mil  
 

UTAH 
3 Delegates/3 Alternates 
 
Jerry W. Hussong, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
ARUP Laboratories 
Phone: 801-581-5854 (B) 
Fax: 801-585-3831 (B) 
Email: jerry.hussong@aruplab.com  
 
Dylan V. Miller, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Intermountain Laboratory Services 
Phone: 801-507-2150 (B) 
Fax: 801-507-2313 (B) 
Email: dylan.miller@imail.org  
 
Ronald L. Weiss, MD, MBA, FCAP – Delegate 
ARUP Laboratories Inc 
Phone: 801-584-5188 (B) 
Fax: 801-584-5108 (B) 
Email: weissrl@aruplab.com  
 
VERMONT 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Abiy B. Ambaye, MD, FCAP - Chair 
Phone: 802-862-2809 (H) 
Fax: 802-847-9644 (B) 
Email: aambaye@yahoo.com  
 
Peter R. Burke, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Northwestern Medical Center Inc 
Phone: 802-524-1074 (B) 
Fax: 802-524-1098 (B) 
Email: pburke@nmcinc.org  
  
Andrew J. Goodwin, IV, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Vermont Medical Center 
Phone: 802-847-2377 (B) 
Fax: 802-847-4155 (B) 
Email: andrew.goodwin@uvmhealth.org  
 
Suzanne M. Tucker, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
University of Vermont Medical Center 
Phone: 802-847-2795 
Email: suzannemtucker1@gmail.com 
 
VIRGINIA 
7 Delegates/7 Alternates 
 
Clifton Lee Bridges, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 804-658-0404 (H) 
Fax: 804-285-7419 (B) 
Email: clifton_bridges@bshsi.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 91

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:mitchell.wachtel@ttuhsc.edu
mailto:twheeler@bcm.edu
mailto:sangwu@texashealth.org
mailto:Wenxin.zheng@utsouthwestern.edu
mailto:Barbara.crothers@gmail.com
mailto:meenakshi.nandedkar@us.army.mil
mailto:jerry.hussong@aruplab.com
mailto:dylan.miller@imail.org
mailto:weissrl@aruplab.com
mailto:aambaye@yahoo.com
mailto:pburke@nmcinc.org
mailto:andrew.goodwin@uvmhealth.org
mailto:suzannemtucker1@gmail.com
mailto:clifton_bridges@bshsi.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 26 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Thomas H. Dudley, Jr., MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Martha Jefferson Hospital 
Phone: 434-654-7170 (B) 
Fax: 434-982-7185 (B) 
Email: thd2@cvillepathology.net  
 
William F. Enos, III, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 703-938-3744 (H) 
Fax: 540-498-4473 (B) 
Email: williamenos@gmail.com  
 
Reena Jain, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Hunter Holmes McGuire VAMC 
Phone: 804-675-5000 
Fax: 804-675-5518 
Email: Reena.Jain@va.gov  
 
Elizabeth T. Martin,  MD, FCAP – Chair 
Phone: 703-536-7425 (H) 
Fax: 703-536-7859 (H) 
Email: elizabethmartin@cox.net  
 
David Michael Smith, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 757-594-2160 (B) 
Fax: 757-594-2951 (B) 
Email: david.smith@rivhs.com  
  
Dean A. Troyer, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Sentara Norfolk Gen Hospital 
Phone: 757-388-3508 (B) 
Fax: 757-388-3799 (B) 
Email: datroyer@proviabiologics.com  
 
John Winbern Turner, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
CJW Medical Center-Johnston Willis Campus 
Phone: 804-267-6822 (B) 
Fax: 804-330-2097 (B) 
Email: dpathdr@gmail.com  
 
Alice L. Werner, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Children’s Hospital of King’s Daughters 
Phone: 757-668-7258 (B) 
Fax: 757-668-9175 (B) 
Email: alice.werner@chkd.org  
 
David Wilkinson, MD, PhD, FCAP – Delegate 
VCU Health System Authority 
Phone: 804-828-0183 (B) 
Fax: 804-828-2869 (B) 
Email: dwilkinson@mcvh-vcu.edu  
 

WASHINGTON 
7 Delegates/7 Alternates 
 
Anna Belinda Berry, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
UCSF 
Phone: 415-353-7650 (B) 
Fax: 415-353-7676 (B) 
Email: aberry@cellnetix.com  
 
Yap-Yee Chris Chong, MD ,MBA, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Phone: 425-261-3678 (B) 
Fax: 425-261-3650 (B) 
Email: chris.chong@vmmc.org  
 
Paul S. Furmanczyk, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Phone: 509-664-4868 (B) 
Email: pfurmanczyk@wvmedical.com  
 
Peter Anthony Herreid, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
InCyte Pathology-Bellevue Branch 
Phone: 425-646-0922 (B) 
Fax: 425-646-0925 (B) 
Email: bellevue4@hotmail.com  
 
Joren Brent Keylock, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Puget Sound Institute of Pathology 
Phone: 253-426-6719 (B) 
Fax: 206-467-1470 (B) 
Email: joren.keylock@me.com  
 
Richard H. Knierim, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Knierim Pathology PLLC 
Phone: 206-372-3196 
Email: rhknierim@gmail.com  
 
Jennifer LaPointe, MD, MT(ASCP), FCAP – 
Alternate 
Cytolab Pathology Services Inc 
Phone: 425-712-3429 (B) 
Fax: 425-672-2440 
Email: lapointej@soundpahtology.com  
 
Sanjay Logani, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Incyte Pathology-Walla Walla Branch 
Phone: 404-712-8851 
Fax: 509-474-2052 
Email: loganis@incytepathology.com  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 92

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:thd2@cvillepathology.net
mailto:williamenos@gmail.com
mailto:Reena.Jain@va.gov
mailto:elizabethmartin@cox.net
mailto:david.smith@rivhs.com
mailto:datroyer@proviabiologics.com
mailto:dpathdr@gmail.com
mailto:alice.werner@chkd.org
mailto:dwilkinson@mcvh-vcu.edu
mailto:aberry@cellnetix.com
mailto:chris.chong@vmmc.org
mailto:pfurmanczyk@wvmedical.com
mailto:bellevue4@hotmail.com
mailto:joren.keylock@me.com
mailto:rhknierim@gmail.com
mailto:lapointej@soundpahtology.com
mailto:loganis@incytepathology.com


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 27 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
David P. Ng, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
PhenoPath Laboratories PLLC 
Phone: 206-374-9000 (B) 
Fax: 206-374-9009 (B) 
Email:david.p.ng@gmail.com   
 
Joseph P. Rank, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
CellNetix Path & Labs 
Phone: 206-576-6050 (B) 
Fax: 206-215-5935 (B) 
Email: jjrank@cellnetix.com  
 
Lisa V. Thomassen, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Phone: 425-688-5117 (H) 
Fax: 425-688-5652 (B) 
Email: thovli@gmail.com  
 
Francisco R. Velazquez, MD, SM(AAM), FCAP – 
Alternate 
Phone:949-755-8985 
Email: frvelazquez@paml.com  
 
Sandra Linne White, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Puget Sound Institute of Pathology 
Phone: 206-622-7747 (B) 
Fax: 206-467-1470 (B) 
Email: swhite@psip.com  
 
Katie Erin Wilkinson, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
St Joseph Medical Center Laboratory 
Phone: 253-426-6164 (B) 
Fax: 253-426-6031 (B) 
Email: katiewilkinson@fhshealth.org  
 
WEST VIRGINIA 
2 Delegates/2 Alternates 
 
Edward Adamovich, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Wheeling Hospital Inc 
Phone: 304-243-3220 (B) 
Fax: 304-243-3379 (H) 
Email: eadamovich@wheelinghospital.org  
 
Tzong-Wen E. Huang, MD, MBA, FCAP – Chair 
Charleston Area Medical Center 
Phone: 304-388-9357 (B) 
Fax: 304-388-4352 (B) 
Email: tedgar.huang@camc.org  
 

Gerald Thomas Wedemeyer, MD, FCAP – 
Alternate 
Louis A Johnson VA Medical Center 
Phone: 304-623-3461 (B) 
Fax: 304-624-2703 (B) 
Email: gwedemeyer@ma.rr.com  
 
WISCONSIN 
6 Delegates/6 Alternates 
 
Robert L. Bernstein, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Aurora Medical Center of Oshkosh Inc 
Phone: 920-456-7511 (B) 
Fax: 414-385-2620 (B) 
Email: robert.bernstein@aurora.org  
 
Jimmy R. Clark, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Aurora Health ACL Labs 
Phone: 414-328-7950 (B) 
Fax: 414-328-8505 (B) 
Email: jim.clark.md@aurora.org  
 
Michael C. Dugan, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Exact Sciences Corp 
Phone: 805-405-6700 (H) 
Email: emikedugan@yahoo.com  

 
Janet R. Durham, MD, FCAP – Delegate 
Aurora Health ACL Labs 
Great Lakes Pathologists SC 
Phone: 414-328-7938 (B) 
Fax: 414-328-8505 (B) 
Email: janet.durhammd@aurora.org  
 
Thomas S. Haas, DO, FCAP – Delegate 
Mercy Hospital 
Phone: 608-756-6819 (B) 
Fax: 608-756-6828 (B) 
Email: thaas@mhsjvl.org  
 
Daniel F. I. Kurtycz, MD, BS, ASC, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene 
Phone: 608-262-9461 (B) 
Fax: 608-265-6294 (B)  
Email: dkurtycz@wisc.edu  
 
Guillermo G. Martinez-Torres, MD, FCAP – 
Delegate 
Columbia St Mary's Hospital of Milwaukee 
Phone: 414-291-1448 (B) 
Fax: 414-278-2849 (B) 
Email: gtorres@columbia-stmarys.org  
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 93

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:jjrank@cellnetix.com
mailto:thovli@gmail.com
mailto:frvelazquez@paml.com
mailto:swhite@psip.com
mailto:katiewilkinson@fhshealth.org
mailto:eadamovich@wheelinghospital.org
mailto:tedgar.huang@camc.org
mailto:gwedemeyer@ma.rr.com
mailto:robert.bernstein@aurora.org
mailto:jim.clark.md@aurora.org
mailto:emikedugan@yahoo.com
mailto:Janet.DurhamMD@aurora.org
mailto:thaas@mhsjvl.org
mailto:dkurtycz@wisc.edu
mailto:gtorres@columbia-stmarys.org


9/17/2015 COLLEGE OF AMERICAN PATHOLOGISTS Page 28 
COMMITTEE ROSTER 

 
Dean-Yar Tigrani, MD, FCAP – Alternate 
Great Lakes Pathologists, SC 
Phone: 414-328-7950 
Email: dean-yar.tigrani@aurora.org  
 
WYOMING 
1 Delegate/1 Alternate 
 
Lydia R. Christiansen, MD, FCAP – Chair 
Professional Pathology of Wyoming 
Phone: 307-337-1670 
Email: lchristiansen@propathwy.com  
 
CAP STAFF 
 
Jan Glas, CAE –  Staff 
College of American Pathologists 
Phone: 847-832-7499 (B) 
Fax: 847-832-8499 (B) 
Email: jglas@cap.org  
 
Maryrose Murphy, MBA, MS, MT –  Staff 
College of American Pathologists 
Phone: 847-832-7505 (B) 
Fax: 847-832-8505 (B) 
Email: mmurphy@cap.org  
 
Patricia R. Tennant –  Staff 
College of American Pathologists 
Phone: 202-354-7103 (B) 
Fax: 202-354-8103 (B) 
Email: ptennan@cap.org  
 
Marci L Zerante –  Staff 
College of American Pathologists 
Phone: 847-832-7656 (B) 
Fax: 847-832-8656 (B) 
Email: mzerant@cap.org  
 
 

*For changes to your information, please contact Jan Glas at jglas@cap.org or 847-832-7499 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 94

mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:dean-yar.tigrani@aurora.org
mailto:lchristiansen@propathwy.com
mailto:jglas@cap.org
mailto:mmurphy@cap.org
mailto:mzerant@cap.org
mailto:mzerant@cap.org


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CAP House of Delegates 
 
 

  

 Rules of the 
 House of Delegates 
  

Revised March 2, 2013 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 95



 
 

Rules of the House of Delegates 
 

of the 
 

College of American Pathologists 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Department of Governance Services 
College of American Pathologists 

325 Waukegan Road 
Northfield, Illinois 60093-2750 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 96



 

Outline Index To Contents 
Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 
 

Index Number Page 
 
Article I – Preamble ..................................................................................................................................... 1 
 
Article II - Membership 

Section 1: Requirement for membership and terms of office  .............................................................. 1 
 (a) Composition of the House ............................................................................................ 1 
 (b) One-third of House members elected annually ............................................................ 1 
 (c) Three-year terms .......................................................................................................... 1 
 (d) Speaker appoints to fill vacancies ................................................................................ 1 
Section 2: Apportionment 
 (a) Annual census .............................................................................................................. 1 
 (b) Apportionment formula ................................................................................................. 1 
Section 3: Reapportionment ................................................................................................................. 2 
Section 4: Nominations ........................................................................................................................ 2 
 (a) Self-nomination ............................................................................................................. 2 
 (b) State pathology society endorsement .......................................................................... 2 
 (c) No self-nominated candidates or state pathology society in an area ........................... 2 
 (d) Federal services nominations ....................................................................................... 2 
 (e) Residents Forum nominations ...................................................................................... 2 
Section 5: Nominations from other nations .......................................................................................... 2 
Section 6: Voting for Delegates and Alternates ................................................................................... 2 
Section 7: Delegation Chairs ................................................................................................................ 3 
 

 
Article III - Officers and Steering Committee 

Section 1: Speaker  .............................................................................................................................. 3 
Section 2: Vice Speaker  ...................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3: Secretary  ............................................................................................................................ 3 
Section 4: Sergeants-at-Arms  ............................................................................................................. 3 
Section 5: Steering Committee 
 (a) Composition  ................................................................................................................. 3 
 (b) Chair  ............................................................................................................................ 3 
 (c) Duties and meetings  .................................................................................................... 3 
Section 6: Term of Office  .................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 7: Succession 
 (a) Succession formula  ..................................................................................................... 4 
 (b) Simultaneous vacancies in Speaker and Vice Speaker offices  .................................. 4 
 (c) Simultaneous vacancies in all three officer positions  .................................................. 4 

 
 

 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 97



 

INDEX NUMBER PAGE 
 
Article IV - Elections 

Section 1: Method of Election 
 (a) Nominating Committee appointed ............. .................................................................. 4 
 (b) (1) Composition of committee  ..................................................................................... 4 
  (2) Limits on Committee membership  ......................................................................... 4 
  (3) Candidate selection  ................................................................................................ 5 
  (4) Concurrent candidacy in other elections ................................................................. 5 
  (5) Candidate interviews and notification of selection .................................................. 5 
  (6) Nominations by petition ........................................................................................... 5 
 (c) Nominations from the floor . ......................................................................................... 5 
Section 2: Installation 
 (a) Speaker presents newly-elected to assembled house  ................................................ 5 
 (b) When term of office begins  .......................................................................................... 5 
 (c) Special election—length of term  .................................................................................. 5 
Section 3: Special Election  .................................................................................................................. 5 
 (a) Speaker and Vice Speaker elections at next regular meeting  .................................... 5 
 (b) Vacancies occurring between regular meetings  ......................................................... 6 

 
Article V - Procedure of Meetings 

Section l: Meetings 
 (a) When meetings are held; open/executive sessions  .................................................... 6 
 (b) Speaker may call special meetings  ............................................................................. 6 
 (c) House members may petition for special meeting  ...................................................... 6 
 (d) Special meeting call—purpose and agenda  ................................................................ 6 
Section 2: Registration 
 (a) Delegates/Alternates must register before being seated  ............................................ 6 
 (b) Alternates substituting for Delegates  ........................................................................... 6 
 (c) Speaker can declare positions vacant and fill by appointment  ................................... 6 
Section 3: Order of business published; late business  ....................................................................... 7 
Section 4: Quorum  .............................................................................................................................. 7 
Section 5: Vote—majority required; ballots; declaration of outcome  .................................................. 7 
Section 6: Privileges of officers and governors of the College  ........................................................... 7 
Section 7: Disposition of action—House business taken to Board  ..................................................... 7 
Section 8: Rules of order 
 (a) House guided by CAP Constitution, Bylaws, Rules of the House.  .............................. 7 
 (b) Other parliamentary authority  ...................................................................................... 7 

 
Article VI - Business of the House of Delegates 

Section l: Resolutions 
 (a) Who may submit resolutions  ....................................................................................... 7 
 (b) How to submit resolutions  ........................................................................................... 7 
 (c) Deadline for resolutions; late resolutions  .................................................................... 8 
Section 2: Action Groups ..................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 3: Other Action Groups  .......................................................................................................... 8 

 
Article VII - Amendments (to Rules of the House) 

Section 1: Necessary majority and advance notice  ...................................................................... 8 
Section 2: Introduction and voting  ................................................................................................ 8 

  

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 98



 

Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 

 
 

Article I - Preamble 
The House of Delegates of the College of American Pathologists is to provide representation of the 
membership of the various states, other geographic areas and special groups. The House of 
Delegates shall act as a forum representing members of the College of American Pathologists. It 
shall serve as the voice of member pathologists to the Board of Governors, College Councils, 
Commissions, and Committees. The House of Delegates shall solicit issues from the membership 
through Delegation Chairs, provide a forum to deliberate the issues, and send reports on the issues 
(action items) to the Board of Governors, College Councils, Commissions, and Committees. It shall 
receive reports of the activities of the Board of Governors, College Councils, Commissions, 
Committees and Action Groups, including reports on issues (action items) sent to the above groups.  
The House will report to the Board of Governors, College Councils, Commissions, Committees and 
Action Groups the effectiveness of these activities in meeting member needs. The House may 
initiate its own business and assume such other responsibilities as may be assigned by provisions in 
the Bylaws.   
 
 
 
Article II - Membership 
Section l: Requirement for membership and terms of office 
(a) The House of Delegates shall be composed of Fellows of the College, elected or appointed, 

with an equal number of Delegates and Alternate Delegates. 
 
 (b) The election of Delegates and Alternate Delegates shall be conducted every third year. 
 
 (c) The terms of all Delegates and Alternate Delegates elected from any geographic area or 

appointed to a federal service delegation (Army, Navy, Air Force, Public Health Service and 
Veterans Affairs) shall be three years. Delegates or Alternate Delegates appointed to fill a 
vacant elective seat shall serve only the remaining portion of a term. Delegates and 
Alternates shall be eligible for re-election. Delegates and Alternates shall represent only 
their federal service or the geographic entity of their principal office. Upon removal of the 
Delegate's or Alternate's principal office to another state, district, territory, commonwealth or 
province, or separation from the federal service, the term shall be forfeited.  

 
 (d) Upon vacancy due to death, retirement, resignation, move from the area represented or 

separation from active federal service, the Speaker shall appoint a successor fulfilling the 
above requirements to complete the term. 

 
 
Section 2: Apportionment 
(a) The Chief Executive Officer will conduct an annual census on January 1, of the number of 

Fellows of the College of American Pathologists in each state, district, territory, 
commonwealth or province. The results of this census shall be certified to the Speaker and 
to the Secretary. 

 
 (b) Each state, district, territory, commonwealth or province shall be represented by one Delegate 

and Alternate Delegate for each fifty fellows of the College or any fraction of that number. 
Each federal service shall be represented by one Delegate and Alternate Delegate. States, 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 99



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

2 

districts, territories, commonwealths or provinces with more than one Delegate may divide 
themselves into geographic areas with each Delegate and Alternate elected to represent an 
area. Where there are a large number of College members in a designated area, it may be 
necessary to have more than one Delegate and Alternate to represent that area. The 
Delegate and Alternate must have their principal place of practice in the area which they 
represent. 

Section 3: Reapportionment 
Reapportionment of membership shall not deny to any Delegate or Alternate Delegate, elected 
or appointed to a term of office, the right to complete that term. 
 
 
Section 4: Nominations 
(a) All Fellows of the College in good standing shall have the opportunity to nominate 

themselves for election as a Delegate. 
 
(b) A list of all self-nominated Fellows from each geographic area will be forwarded to the pathology 

society of the appropriate state, district, territory, commonwealth or province for their 
endorsement of the candidate(s). If a state, district, territory, commonwealth or province is 
represented by more than one organized pathology society, each society may submit their 
endorsement. These societies may nominate additional candidates for election as a Delegate. 
State society presidents may serve as ex officio members of their state society delegation, if not 
already a member of the delegation. Candidates nominated by these societies must be vetted 
for CAP Fellow status and must  accept the nomination. Non- CAP member candidates will be 
requested to complete membership requirements of the College of American Pathologists. Upon 
completion of membership requirements, the candidate will be considered for election as a 
Delegate. Any society not responding by the published deadline may lose their opportunity to 
endorse candidates. 

 

(c) If there are no self-nominated candidates for a geographic area, and there is no properly 
organized or functioning pathology society in an area, the Speaker of the House shall 
directly nominate, or cause to be nominated, one or more Fellows of that geographic area. 

 
(d) The federal services shall be forwarded the names of any interested Fellows in their service 

and shall be invited to recommend candidates for appointment. 
 
(e) The Residents Forum shall be invited to nominate candidates for appointment of a Resident 

Delegate and Resident Alternate Delegate for a one-year term. 
 
 
Section 5: Nominations from other nations 
Fellows in other nations shall have the right to organize and to nominate Delegates and Alternate 
Delegates upon petition to the Board of Governors. When recognized, these national groups shall 
participate in elections and be entitled to proportional representation in a manner similar to states, 
districts, territories, commonwealths and provinces. 
 
 
Section 6: Voting for Delegates and Alternate Delegates 
Votes shall be cast by a secret ballot by Fellows practicing in a geographic area. After 
nominations have been made and the headquarters office properly informed of the 
endorsements by the societies, the headquarters office shall provide ballots to all Fellows 
eligible to vote no later than twenty-eight weeks prior to the CAP’s Annual Meeting. Ballots 
should be returned to the headquarters office for tabulation of results within six weeks. 
 
In accordance with the apportionment for each geographic area, those Delegates who receive 
the greatest amount of votes shall be the elected Delegates for that area. Those with next 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 100



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

3 

greatest amount of votes shall fill the Alternate positions for that area.  If there are more 
candidates than available positions, those candidates will be placed on a waiting list.   
 
Section 7: Delegation Chairs 
In any state, district, territory, commonwealth or province with more than one Delegate, a Delegation 
Chair shall be elected by vote of the members of the respective delegation. The respective 
delegation shall notify the national office of the College of the election results prior to the next Fall 
Meeting. The Chair of a Delegation will be responsible for seeing to the attendance of that 
Delegation and shall serve as the official contact between the Delegation and the College 
headquarters office. 
 
 
 
Article III - Officers and Steering Committee 

 

Section 1: Speaker 
The principal officer of the House of Delegates shall be the Speaker who will preside at 
meetings, maintain order and decorum and appoint Committees/Action Groups of the House as 
set forth in these rules. The Speaker shall issue the official call for meetings. The Speaker, with 
the assistance of the Steering Committee, has the ultimate authority and responsibility for 
conducting House business in a thorough, effective and efficient manner. It is the responsibility 
of the Speaker, with the assistance of the Steering Committee, to insure that Issues (action 
items) are addressed by the House, reports sent to the Board of Governors, College Councils, 
Commissions and Committees and reports back are received and presented to the House in a 
timely manner. The Speaker shall update Delegates on business of the House on an ongoing 
basis, as appropriate The Speaker shall have the right to vote only in the case of a tie. 
 
 
Section 2: Vice Speaker 
The Vice Speaker shall be an officer of the House and shall act as the principal officer of the 
House in the absence of the Speaker. The Vice Speaker shall assist in the duties of the 
Speaker, and shall have the responsibility of overseeing the Delegation Chairs. 
 
 
Section 3: Secretary 
The Secretary shall be an officer of the House, shall be responsible for all records of the House of 
Delegates and shall ensure that all pertinent business is accurately and promptly recorded. 
 
 
Section 4: Sergeants-at-Arms 
Two Sergeants-at-Arms shall be officers of the House and shall assist the Speaker in maintaining 
order and in seeking members for a vote if a quorum is not present. They will act as a credentials 
committee for the admission of Delegates or Alternate Delegates to the floor of the House. 
 
 
Section 5: Steering Committee 
(a) A Steering Committee, composed of the officers of the House and two Delegates elected at 

large, shall act as an executive committee, conducting House business during the interval 
between House meetings. 

 
(b) The Speaker shall serve as Chair of this Committee. 
 
(c) The Steering Committee shall assist in preparing the agenda and in carrying out the 

activities of the House. It shall meet prior to each general meeting of the House and may 
meet at any time on the call of the Speaker. 

 
Section 6: Term of Office 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 101



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

4 

The Speaker, Vice Speaker, Secretary, the two Sergeants-at-Arms, and the two 
Members-at-Large of the Steering Committee shall be elected for a term of two years, in even 
numbered years, at the Fall Meeting of the House and in the manner provided for in these rules. 
Only duly-qualified Delegates may serve as officers and Steering Committee members. Members 
of the Steering Committee shall be eligible for re-election. The tenure of each office shall be no 
more than two (2) full terms. Appointment for election to a partial term of office shall not be a 
consideration of such tenure. 
 
 
Section 7: Succession 
(a) If the Speaker dies, resigns, is removed from office or is otherwise unable to serve, the Vice 

Speaker shall assume the office, responsibilities, and duties of the Speaker and serve for 
the remainder of the unexpired term. If any other officer of the House dies, resigns, is 
removed from office or is otherwise unable to serve, a successor shall be appointed by the 
Speaker from the elected members of the Steering Committee to serve for the remainder of 
the unexpired term. Vacancies occurring in the position of Member-at-Large to the Steering 
Committee shall be filled by appointment by the Speaker for the duration of term. 

 
(b) If the offices of the Speaker and Vice Speaker are simultaneously vacant, the Secretary of 

the House shall assume the office, duties and responsibilities of the Speaker. At the next 
meeting of the House of Delegates, the unexpired terms of the Speaker and the Vice 
Speaker shall be filled by election or special election as appropriate. 

 
(c) In the event of the simultaneous vacancies of the offices of Speaker, Vice Speaker and Secretary, 

the President of the College of American Pathologists shall appoint a temporary presiding officer 
from the remaining members of the Steering Committee, to conduct the business of the House 
until such vacancies are filled by election or special election as appropriate. 

 
 
 
Article IV - Elections 

 

Section 1: Method of Election 
(a) During the first quarter in even-numbered years, the Speaker shall appoint a Nominating 

Committee to serve until the Fall Meeting at which time the Steering Committee elections will be 
held. 

 
(b) (1) The nominating committee shall be composed of five (5) Delegates or Alternate Delegates 

who will consider candidates, as prescribed herein, for vacancies in the offices of the 
House and/or House Steering Committee positions. 

 
 (2) With the exception of the Nominating Committee Chair, Delegates and Alternate 

Delegates are eligible to serve on the Nominating Committee no more than once every 
three years. The Speaker of the House shall choose the House Nominating Committee 
Chair from the membership of the previous Nominating Committee. No one may serve 
as Chair on two successive Nominating Committees. 

 
 (3) The Nominating Committee may select eligible candidates as it deems necessary to 

ensure balanced representation of the House of Delegates. The geographic distribution, 
practice patterns, and sub-specialties of candidates should be taken into account. The 
Nominating Committee should strongly consider candidates who have actively 
participated in House functions and deliberations. 

 
 (4) Delegates not concurrently seeking election as officers or governors of the College are 

eligible for consideration by the House of Delegates Nominating Committee. A Delegate 
who seeks nomination to a House office shall waive all rights under Article V, Section 2, 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 102



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

5 

Item B of the CAP Constitution to seek nomination, appointment, or election to the Board 
of Governors during the concurrent period of House nominations and elections. 

 
 (5) The Nominating Committee may at its discretion interview candidates for any position. If it 

determines to interview any candidate for a position, it shall interview all candidates for 
that position. If the Committee determines to hold in-person interviews for a position, the 
College shall pay the reasonable expenses of each candidate for that position. The 
Nominating Committee will report its slate of candidates to the Speaker of the House, all 
members of the House, and the President of the College, 120 days prior to the Fall 
Meeting. The Chair of the Nominating Committee will notify candidates of its selection. 

  
 (6) Additional nominations for House office may be made by signed petition of at least 

twenty (20) Delegates or Alternates submitted to the Chief Executive Officer no later 
than ninety (90) days before the Fall Meeting of the House of Delegates. Candidates 
seeking nomination by petition shall be qualified as in Article IV, Section I (b) (4) above. 

 
(c) The Delegates shall have the opportunity to nominate additional candidates from the floor at 

the Fall Meeting. 
 
 
Section 2: Installation 
(a) Upon the determination of the elected candidates for office, the Speaker shall present the 

newly-elected officers and Members-at-Large of the Steering Committee to the House. 
 
(b) The term of office of those elected shall begin at the time of adjournment of the Fall Meeting 

of the House. 
 
(c) In the event of a special election, the term of office of those elected will begin upon election 

and will continue until the next regularly scheduled election. 
 
 
Section 3: Special Election 
(a) A special election to elect a Speaker and Vice Speaker shall be held at the next regularly 

scheduled House of Delegates meeting if both offices become simultaneously vacant and if 
no regularly prescribed election has been scheduled. The nominees for each office shall be 
named by the nominating committee, appointed in conformity with Article IV, Section 1. 

 
(b) Should such vacancies occur between regularly scheduled meetings of the House of Delegates, 

notification of such special election shall be in conformity with Article IV, Section 1. If such 
simultaneous vacancies occur within thirty (30) days of the next regularly scheduled House of 
Delegates meeting or during the House of Delegates meeting, the requirement for thirty (30) 
days advance notice by the nominating committee shall be waived provided the House is given 
the maximum notification practical. 

 
 
 
Article V - Procedure of Meetings 

 

Section l: Meetings 
(a) The House of Delegates shall meet in conjunction with the Stated Annual Meeting of the 

College of American Pathologists and may hold a second meeting during spring each year. 
Meetings of the House shall be open to all CAP members. However, the House may hold 
executive sessions. 

 
(b) The House of Delegates may be called for special meetings by the Speaker.  
 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 103



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

6 

(c) Upon petition of thirty members of the House, the Speaker shall notify the Board of 
Governors and shall call a special meeting of the House within a period of sixty days, said 
meeting to be held by interactive technology or in the same general area in which the 
headquarters office of the College of American Pathologists is located. 

 
(d) The purpose and agenda of such special meetings shall be submitted with the call. 
 
 
Section 2: Registration 
(a) Before being seated at any session, each Delegate or Alternate shall present credentials 

and be recognized by the credentials Committee. 
 
(b) When a Delegate is unable to attend a specified session, an Alternate from the Delegation will 

substitute for that Delegate. Only duly elected Delegates or Alternates may be seated at any 
session of the House of Delegates unless the Chief Executive Officer of the College has been 
given due notice by the Chair of said delegation, of emergency substitution at that assembly, 
seven (7) days prior to the meeting. Only Fellows of the College are eligible for such emergency 
substitution. In the event that the Delegate or Alternate from the Residents Forum is not able to 
participate in a given meeting, the Residents Forum Executive Committee may designate an 
appropriate replacement from among the Junior Members in accordance with the above 
procedure. 

 
(c) If a Delegate's seat is not filled by either the Delegate or an Alternate for two consecutive 

meetings, the Speaker shall declare the position vacant and fill the vacancy by appointing a 
Fellow of the College under the provision of Article II. Section 1(d). 

 
 
Section 3: Order of business 
The official order of business of the House will be published in the Delegates' agenda book. The 
agenda book will be available to members of the House prior to the House meeting. The 
introduction of new business at the meeting will require a two-thirds majority vote. 
 
 
Section 4: Quorum 
Representation at the meeting by a majority of current delegations shall constitute a quorum.  
 
 
Section 5: Vote 
Unless otherwise specified in these rules, all questions proposed for consideration by members 
of the House of Delegates shall be determined by a majority of votes of those present and 
eligible to vote. Unless a matter is determined by ballot, a declaration by the presiding officer 
that an action item has been carried shall be sufficient evidence of the fact. 
 
 
Section 6: Privileges of officers and governors of the College 
Officers of the College, members of the Board of Governors and Past Presidents of the College 
shall have all privileges of the House but may not hold House office, vote or serve on 
committees. 
 
 
Section 7: Disposition of action 
All action items, and reports of the House of Delegates shall be presented by the Speaker to the 
Board of Governors at its next regular meeting. If a Speaker is unable to act, the Vice Speaker 
or Secretary shall carry out this duty. 
 
 
 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 104



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

7 

Section 8: Rules of order 
(a) The House of Delegates shall be guided in its actions by the Constitution and Bylaws of the 

College of American Pathologists and these rules of the House of Delegates. 
 
(b) When not in conflict with these rules or the Constitution and Bylaws of the College, the 

standard for parliamentary procedure accepted by the College shall govern the conduct of 
the meetings of the House.  The Speaker reserves the right to accept a motion to dismiss 
parliamentary procedure for meetings of the House. 

 
 
 
Article VI - Business of the House of Delegates 

 

Section 1: Action Items 
(a) Action Items may be submitted by any Delegate or member of the Board of Governors. It is 

the responsibility of the Delegation Chairs to solicit constituent member pathologists for 
issues (action items) prior to the Spring meeting of the House of Delegates. The manner in 
which this is accomplished is at the discretion of the Delegation Chair and may be done 
electronically or otherwise. The Speaker will solicit issues (action items) from each 
Delegation Chair prior to the Spring House meeting. The manner in which this is 
accomplished is at the discretion of the Speaker. These issues (action items) will be 
reviewed by the Speaker and the House Steering Committee, and compiled as part of the 
House agenda. 

 
(b) The Action Item must be in written form and must be in the hands of the Speaker or 

submitted to the Chief Executive Officer of the College not later than the published deadline 
three weeks prior to the House meeting. 

 
(c) The Steering Committee will review all action items submitted later than the published 

deadline to determine whether they shall be presented to the House. Late action items will 
be referred for consideration by the House only when they are: 
1. accepted by two-thirds consent, or 
2. of an urgent nature, or 
3. submitted by the Board of Governors, or 
4. submitted by the Residents Forum. 

 
 
Section 2: Committees/Action Groups 
The Speaker reserves the right to appoint HOD Committees/Action Groups as 
appropriate to address a specific issue of business.  Committees/Action Groups are 
composed of Delegates selected by the Speaker to meet by teleconference between 
meetings or conduct open hearings on matters of business of the House. 
 
 
Section 3: Other Committees/Action Groups  
The Speaker may appoint such additional Committees/Action Groups as are needed from time 
to time to conduct the business of the House. 
 
Section 4: Reports of Action Items 
Reports of all action items of the House of Delegates are sent to the Board of Governors and to 
College Councils, Commissions and Committees as appropriate. The House of Delegates will 
receive a report back on all action items sent no later than the next meeting of the House. The 
House may request a report back at a finite time prior to the next House meeting, provided that 
the requested time is congruent with internal CAP scheduling. 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 105



Rules of the House of Delegates 
Revised March 2, 2013 
 

8 

 
Article VII - Amendments 
 

Section 1: 
During the first quarter following House office elections, these rules will be reviewed.  These rules 
may be amended on the approval of two-thirds of the members of the House, provided that written 
notice of the proposed changes is given to Delegates at least thirty days prior to voting.  
Votes may be cast electronically or by other method as appropriate at the discretion of the 
Speaker. 
 
 

 
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 106



Updated: 9/16/2015

# of 
Delegate 

Seats

# of 
Alternate 

Seats

# of 
Delegates 
Appointed

# of 
Alternates 
Appointed

# of 
Delegate 

Vacancies

# of 
Alternate 

Vacancies
# of Wait 

Listed
Alabama 4 4 4 4 0 0 0
Alaska 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
Arizona 6 6 5 0 1 6 0
Arkansas 3 3 3 3 0 0 4
California 30 30 30 10 0 20 0
Colorado 5 5 5 1 0 4 0
Connecticut 5 5 4 0 1 5 0
Delaware 1 1 1 1 0 0 2
District of Columbia 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
Florida 20 20 20 13 0 7 0
Georgia 8 8 8 5 0 3 0
Guam 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
Hawaii 2 2 2 2 0 0 0
Idaho 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Illinois 14 14 14 11 0 3 0
Indiana 6 6 6 1 0 5 0
Iowa 4 4 4 1 0 3 0
Kansas 3 3 3 2 0 1 0
Kentucky 4 4 3 0 1 4 0
Louisiana 5 5 3 1 2 4 0
Maine 2 2 2 1 0 1 0
Maryland 7 7 5 0 2 7 0
Massachusetts 10 10 10 9 0 1 0
Michigan 10 10 10 8 0 2 0
Minnesota 6 6 5 0 1 6 0
Mississippi 2 2 1 0 1 2 0
Missouri 7 7 7 5 0 2 0
Montana 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
Nebraska 3 3 3 3 0 0 0
Nevada 2 2 0 0 2 2 0
New Hampshire 2 2 2 1 0 1 0
New Jersey 8 8 8 2 0 6 0
New Mexico 3 3 2 0 1 3 0
New York 18 18 18 9 0 9 0
North Carolina 9 9 9 7 0 2 0
North Dakota 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Ohio 12 12 12 8 0 4 0
Oklahoma 3 3 3 3 0 0 0
Oregon 4 4 4 0 0 4 0
Pennsylvania 15 15 14 0 1 15 0
Puerto Rico 2 2 2 0 0 2 0
Rhode Island 2 2 2 1 0 1 0
South Carolina 5 5 5 1 0 4 0
South Dakota 2 2 2 1 0 1 0
Tennessee 8 8 8 3 0 5 0
Texas 23 23 23 7 0 16 0
Utah 3 3 3 0 0 3 0
Vermont 2 2 2 2 0 0 0
Virgin Islands 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
Virginia 7 7 7 3 0 4 0
Washington 7 7 7 7 0 0 1
West Virginia 2 2 2 1 0 1 0
Wisconsin 6 6 6 2 0 4 0
Wyoming 1 1 1 0 0 1 0

House of Delegates 
2015 Apportionment

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 107



Updated: 9/16/2015

# of 
Delegate 

Seats

# of 
Alternate 

Seats

# of 
Delegates 
Appointed

# of 
Alternates 
Appointed

# of 
Delegate 

Vacancies

# of 
Alternate 

Vacancies
# of Wait 

Listed

House of Delegates 
2015 Apportionment

Canada
Alberta 1 1 1 1 0 0 1
British Columbia 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
Manitoba 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
New Brunswick 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
Newfoundland 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Nova Scotia 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
Ontario 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
Prince Edward Island 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
Quebec 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
Saskatchewan 1 1 0 0 1 1 0

Other Delegations
Residents Forum 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
US Army 1 1 1 0 0 1 0
US Veteran Affairs 1 1 0 0 1 1 0
US Navy 1 1 1 1 0 0 0
US Air Force 1 1 0 0 1 1 0

Total Seats 335 335 313 146 22 189 8
DEL SEATSALT SEATSDELS APPTALTS APPTOPEN DELSOPEN ALTS WAITLIST

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 108



 Key HOD Dates 
 

Key House of Delegates Dates 
 

2015 
Saturday, October 3 Fall ’15 House of Delegates Meeting, Nashville 

October 3 
Open Call for HOD Steering Committee Candidates 

Communication to HOD members regarding Steering Committee 
nomination process and elections 

Sunday- Wednesday, 
October 4-7 

CAP ’15 – THE Pathologists’ Meeting, Nashville 

2016 
March 

Communication to HOD members regarding Steering Committee 
nomination process and elections 

Saturday, March 12 Spring ’16 House of Delegates Meeting, Seattle 

Monday, April 1 Deadline: Nominations for HOD Steering Committee elections 

Monday-Wednesday, 
May 2-4 

CAP 2016 Policy Meeting, Washington, DC 

Friday, May 20 
Nominating Committee announces its slate for HOD Steering 

Committee 

Tuesday, June 21 
Deadline: Nominations by petition for 
HOD Steering Committee elections 

Saturday, 
September 24 

Fall ’16 House of Delegates Meeting, Las Vegas 
HOD Steering Committee elections 

 

 
 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 109



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

First Name Last Name Credentials 
with FCAP

State Email Address Phone Number All Committee Role 
Type

Syed Abeid MD syed.abedi@medportal.ca 289-339-8154 Delegate

Shweta Agarwal MD,MBBS OK shweta-agarwal@ouhsc.edu 208-863-5892 Delegate

Diana Agostini-Vulaj DO NY dianaaagostini@gmail.com 732-672-8550 Delegate

Samer Albahra MD,BA TX Albahra@uthscsa.edu 9032360770 Delegate

Monica Aldulescu MD,DO IL Monica.Aldulescu@lumc.edu Delegate

Deema Alkapalan MD IA deema-alkapalan@uiowa.edu Delegate

Mary-Margaret Allen MD TN mary-margaret.l.allen@vanderbilt.edu 615-343-9125 Delegate

Maria Alvi MD TX maria.alvi@gmail.com 214-207-1167 Delegate

Thomas Andrews BS MO twah58@health.missouri.edu 217-653-6231 Medical Student 
Forum

Ronald Araneta MD CT ronald.araneta@hhchealth.org 860-545-2249 Delegate

Jordan Arkin MD NY joa9097@nyp.org 212-746-2832 Delegate

Zuhha Ashraf GA zashraf@gmail.com 678-343-7794 Delegate

Zuhha Ashraf Primary 
Relationship

Joshua Baalwa MD TX Joshua.Baalwa@bcm.edu 713-798-5490 Delegate

Sabina Babayeva MD NY sabinanb@gmail.com 914-258-3829 Delegate

Raisa Balbuena-Merle MD PR raisa.balbuena@upr.edu 787-4209556 Delegate

Matthew Ball DO,MS OH matthew.ball@osumc.edu 800-293-5123 Delegate

Whitney Banks DO VA wbanks@gwu.edu 2029943391 Delegate

Tanner Bartholow MD PA bartholowt@upmc.edu 814-977-8288 Delegate

Natalia Belova FL nb3832@gmail.com 732-509-3044 Medical Student 
Forum

Alexander Berrebi MD MD aberrebi@umm.edu 304-276-0651 Delegate

Ryan Berry MD NM RBerry@salud.unm.edu 5054012446 Delegate

Marianne Beynon TX beynon@bcm.edu 3618152606 Delegate

Summer Blount MD,MT(ASCP) CA sblount@llu.edu 909-558-4000 x 
44094

Delegate

Aleh Bobr MD MN bobr.aleh@mayo.edu 507-538-4260 Delegate

Brian Bockelman MD PA bcbockelman@yahoo.com 330-501-6794 Delegate

Jesse Bond MD,BSc NH jesse.s.bond@hitchcock.org 603-650-5000 Delegate

Nora Bowers IL nbowers@cap.org 847-832-7802 Staff

Ryanne Brown MD CA rbrown85@stanford.edu Delegate

Yasmeen Butt MD TX yasmeen_m_butt@yahoo.com Delegate

Thomas Campi MD thomasc@auamed.net 410-829-0390 Medical Student 
Forum

Thomas Campi Primary 
Relationship

John Carney MD NC john.carney@duke.edu 919-970-9181 Delegate

Carla Caruso MD PA ccaruso3@hmc.psu.edu Delegate

Benjamin Chamberlain MD TN benjamin.k.chamberlain@vanderbilt.edu 859-749-7864 Delegate

Nathan Charles MD WI ncharles@uwhealth.org Delegate

Srinivasa Chekuri MBBS,MPH,M
S

MS schekuri@umc.edu 7692160089 Delegate

Bonnie Choy MD IL bonnie.choy@uchospitals.edu 585-317-3686 Delegate

Betty Chung DO,MPH,MA NJ chungbm@rwjms.rutgers.edu 617-596-6395 Delegate

Jared Cobb MD OR cobja@ohsu.edu Delegate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 110



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

David Cohen MD TX dacohen@houstonmethodist.org Delegate

Diane Cosner MD MI diane.cosner@beaumont.edu 313-914-2589 Delegate

Ryan Cristelli NJ cristerm@rowan.edu 609-651-1897 Medical Student 
Forum

Nicole Croom BS CA nicole.croom@ucsf.edu 209-609-4631 Medical Student 
Forum

Nicole Croom BS Primary 
Relationship

Ashley Cross MD SC crossaw@musc.edu 757-409-0008 Delegate

Areli Karime Cuevas-Ocampo MD MA areli.cuevasocampo@baystatehealth.org 413-794-3324 Delegate

Min Cui MD OH min.cui@uhhospitals.org 765-409-9602 Delegate

Valeria Dal Zotto AL vdalzotto@health.southalabama.edu 251-471-7790 Delegate

John Daniels DO,JD,MBA,M
PH

TX danielsJ@uthscsa.edu 2105674000 Delegate

Marjorie David MD AR mpdavid@uams.edu Delegate

Maria De la garza bravo MD TX mmdelgarza@HoustonMethodist.org 832-888-6548 Delegate

Maria De la garza bravo MD Primary 
Relationship

Christina Dean MD GA cdean6@emory.edu 734-320-4001 Delegate

Robert DeSimone NY rod9096@nyp.org Delegate

Christina Dicarlo MD PA cdicarlo@wpahs.org 740-632-4099 Delegate

Robin Dietz CA Rdietz@llu.edu 7872351767 Delegate

Tsetan Dolkar MD CT tsetan.dolkar@wcthealthnetwork.org 612-865-5253 Delegate

Nicole Dominiak SC nikkid717@gmail.com 419-283-5000 Delegate

Supriya Donthamsetty DO,MPH LA sdont1@lsuhsc.edu 706-518-4313 Delegate

Katie Doonan MA kdoonan@une.edu 978-314-6047 Medical Student 
Forum

Katie Doonan Primary 
Relationship

Meggie Doucet MD LA mdoucet3@tulane.edu 985-691-4542 Delegate

Buu Duong MD LA buutduong@gmail.com 205-566-1220 Alternate

Ellen East MD MI easte@med.umich.edu Delegate

Jill Eickhoff MD KY japa232@uky.edu 859-323-8041 Delegate

Lauren Eversmeyer MO lmeqq3@health.missouri.edu 480-216-2928 Medical Student 
Forum

Ashley Flowers MD LA afont1@lsuhsc.edu 318-675-5000 Delegate

Maren Fuller MD TX myfuller@houstonmethodist.org Delegate

Manoj Gadara MD CT manoj.gadara@hhchealth.org 2039196288 Delegate

Jonathan Galeotti MD,MS NC jonathan.galeotti@duke.edu 201-787-8116 Delegate

Pallavi Galera MD MA kanwar.p23@gmail.com 650-276-8439 Delegate

Paulo Garcia BS NV garciap9@medicine.nevada.edu 702-375-9985 Medical Student 
Forum

Paulo Garcia BS Primary 
Relationship

Daniel Gehlbach DO,MS TX daniel.gehlbach@phhs.org 214-789-4147 Delegate

Bradley Gibson MD KY b0gibs01@louisville.edu 859-948-7108 Delegate

Mark Girton BS TX markgirton@hotmail.com 419-230-0132 Medical Student 
Forum

Mark Girton BS Primary 
Relationship

Elizabeth Godbey MD NY eag2152@columbia.edu Delegate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 111



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

Allison Goldberg MD PA allison218@gmail.com 215-955-6352 Delegate

Adam Gomez MD CA ajgomez@stanford.edu 832-677-3668 Delegate

Richard Gomez MD,FCAP KS rrgomez53@gmail.com 785-295-8472 Advisor

Hannah Goyne MD,MS AR hannah.goyne@gmail.com 501-364-5924 Delegate

Tesha Guillory MD GA tesha.guillory@emory.edu 4093130709 Vice Chair

Rajarsi Gupta MD,PhD NY dr.rajarsi.gupta@gmail.com 217-721-1377 Delegate

Sarah Hackman MD MO hackmans@health.missouri.edu 636-795-3462 Delegate

Aaron Harper MD,MS,BS,AA
S

NY aaron.harper@downstate.edu 714-721-5817 Delegate

Oudai Hassan MD MI oudaihassan@hotmail.com 832-359-9621 Delegate

Oudai Hassan MD Primary 
Relationship

Patrick Henn MD,BS NY patrickh@buffalo.edu 814-573-9658 Delegate

Evan Himchak NY ehimchak@montefiore.org 908-370-5131 Delegate

Wesley Hiser MD FL whiser@ufl.edu 402-416-9692 Delegate

Andrea Ho MD MO andrea.ho@tmcmed.org 303-810-7680 Delegate

Stephanie Holdener BSc FL stephanie.holdener@gmail.com 850-291-6363 Medical Student 
Forum

Hedieh Honarpisheh MD,MSc CT hedieh.honarpisheh@yale.edu 310-990-3513 Delegate

Deepthi Hoskoppal MD TN dhoskopp@uthsc.edu 240-461-6151 Delegate

Niloufar Hosseini MD nfhosseini@gmail.com 647-3461994 Delegate

Yan Hu MD,PhD NY yanhu@buffalo.edu 7164798660 Delegate

Kenneth Hughes MD NY kenneth.hughes@mountsinai.org 214-415-8314 Delegate

Julie Huss MD,BS CA jhuss@mednet.ucla.edu 310-825-5789 Delegate

Ioannis Ioannidis MD AL ycioannidis@gmail.com 251-504-5651 Delegate

Niveen Issaq MD,MBChB MS nivin.ishaq@gmail.com 832-364-1754 Delegate

James Jarvis VA jarvisjm@vcu.edu 804-317-6023 Medical Student 
Forum

James Jarvis Primary 
Relationship

Rahul Jawale MBBS MA drjawalerahul@gmail.com 9969525368 Delegate

Fatima-Zhara Jelloul MD NY fjelloul13@nshs.edu Delegate

Bharati Jhaveri MD,FCAP IL bsjhaveri@aol.com 217-741-5110 Advisor

Shuying Ji MD,PhD jishuying@yahoo.com Delegate

Xueting Jin MD jinxueting.fdshmc@gmail.com 301-272-7931 Medical Student 
Forum

Xueting Jin Primary 
Relationship

Amy Joehlin-Price MD OH Amy.Joelin-Price@osumc.edu Delegate

Amy Joiner MD AR AKJoiner@uams.edu 501-603-1508 Delegate

Tatyana Kalinicheva MD MI tkalinic@med.wayne.edu 313-966-2105 x 
62105

Delegate

Zarine Kamaluddin MD OH zarine_k_s@yahoo.com 419-386-2357 Delegate

Neelima Kandula MBBS NE neelu.kandula@gmail.com 6172850463 Delegate

Priyanka Karam MD MA priyanka.karammd@baystatehealth.org 413-794-3324 Delegate

Muhammad Khurram MD MI muhammad.khurram@stjohn.org 347-285-6614 Delegate

Linda Kocovski MD,MBBS ON Linda.kocovski@medportal.ca 416-8288419 Delegate

Brent Larson DO CA brent.larson@cshs.org 310-423-3277 Delegate

Lik Hang Lee MD NY likhanglee@gmail.com 403-879-7849 Delegate

Daniel Levitan MD,BSc NY daniel.levitan@downstate.edu 917-697-8175 Delegate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 112



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

Natasha Lewis MD IL 8476870267 Delegate

Maria Cecilia Lezcano Lopez PA lezcanolopezm@upmc.edu Delegate

Guangyuan Li MD,PhD OH Guangyuan.Li@UHhospitals.org 216-632-3068 Delegate

Andrea Lightle MD,DO TN arlightle@gmail.com 469-226-9639 Delegate

Chengbao Liu MD NY Chengbao.Liu@Stonybrookmedicine.edu 2054102917 Delegate

Christine Louie MD CA cylouie@stanford.edu 914-623-8295 Delegate

Chuanyong Lu MD NY luchuanyong@hotmail.com 7182707313 Delegate

Miao Lu MD vivianlumiao@yahoo.ca Delegate

Shuhua Ma MD,PhD,MSc NC shuhuama2013@gmail.com 252-295-9661 Delegate

Nicholas Mackrides MD FL nicholas.mackrides@jhsmiami.org 484-410-9401 Delegate

Emilio Madrigal DO NY emadrigal@chpnet.org 212-362-2063 Delegate

Martin Magers MD MI magersm@med.umich.edu 574-612-2854 Delegate

Anita Malek MD MA anita.malek@bmc.org 617-997-3009 Delegate

Jose Mantilla Arango MD NY mantillaj@gmail.com 919-491-6755 Delegate

Shivali Marketkar MD RI smarketkar@lifespan.org Delegate

Dana Martin MS,BA PA dmartin01@tcmc.edu 619-944-2825 Medical Student 
Forum

Dana Martin MS,BA Primary 
Relationship

Shiloh Martin MD,PhD CA shiloh.martin@ucdmc.ucdavis.edu 916-734-7545 Delegate

Anthony Martinez MD GA apmart5@emory.edu Delegate

Nitin Marwaha MD MO marwahan@slu.edu Delegate

Natalie Matics MD SC masonn@musc.edu 8437924985 Delegate

Gene Maya MD VA gxmaya@gwu.edu 219-771-4114 Delegate

Benjamin Mazer MBA NY bmazer@gmail.com 484-326-1195 Medical Student 
Forum

Benjamin Mazer MBA Primary 
Relationship

Whitney McCarthy MD TX wamccart@bcm.tmc.edu 3615379448 Delegate

Robert McDonald DO KY rmc234@uky.edu 276-365-6285 Delegate

Nathan Mclamb BS,AAS NC nathan.b.mclamb@gmail.com 919-357-8657 Medical Student 
Forum

Nathan Mclamb BS,AAS Primary 
Relationship

Lily Mei MD IL lmei3@uic.edu 312-996-3880 Delegate

Kyle Meinke MD,DO IL kmeinke@uic.edu 660-748-8167 Delegate

Ricardo Mendoza MD,MS,CT(AS
CP)

VA mendozar@ecu.edu 757-537-5108 Immediate Past 
Chair

Jill Miller MD VT jill.miller@vtmednet.org 802-324-6065 Delegate

Rebecca Millius MD AZ rmillius@email.arizona.edu Delegate

Kristen Muller DO NH kristen.e.muller@hitchcock.org 603-650-5000 Delegate

Lauren Murer MD NE lauren.murer@unmc.edu 402-559-7678 Delegate

Claire Murphy MD WA murphyc1@uw.edu 206-997-4807 Delegate

Yalda Naeini MD CA yalda_bhb@yahoo.com 310-254-5922 Delegate

Vikas Nath MD MS vnath@umc.edu 210-218-1727 Delegate

Daniel Ng FL d7ng@knights.ucf.edu 760-672-3373 Primary 
Relationship

Ha Nguyen MD FL ha.nguyen@orlandohealth.com 571-449-6688 Delegate

John Nguyen MD CA vietomatic@gmail.com 785-550-4927 Delegate

Lynh Nguyen OH lnguyen2@metrohealth.org Delegate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 113



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

Shuang Niu MD,PhD TX xiaoyang12@gmail.com 512-221-5813 Delegate

Stephen Olsen MD MO solsen@path.wustl.edu 602-509-1279 Primary 
Relationship

Damon Olson MD CO damon.olson@ucdenver.edu 9704024361 Delegate

Janelle Otsuji BA HI jjotsuji@hawaii.edu 808-381-2234 Medical Student 
Forum

Janelle Otsuji BA Primary 
Relationship

Andrea Pannunzio OH amp73@case.edu 330-207-7368 Medical Student 
Forum

Andrea Pannunzio Primary 
Relationship

Vatsal Patel MD FL vatsalpatel@ufl.edu 832-978-2576 Delegate

Spencer Paulson MD AZ spencerpaulson@email.arizona.edu Delegate

Joseph Peevey MD IL joseph.peevey@northwestern.edu 312-926-5152 Delegate

Justus Philip OH justus.philip@rockets.utoledo.edu 248-6351299 Medical Student 
Forum

Anna Piskorski MD RI a_piskorski@yahoo.com 401-444-4000 Delegate

Ashley Porter MD TN aoldham2@uthsc.edu 7315140162 Delegate

Shyam Prajapati DO NY sprajapati@chpnet.org Delegate

Juan Putra MD NH Juan.Putra@hitchcock.org 603-650-8059 Delegate

Patricia Raciti MD NY pmrpath@gmail.com 914-602-4041 Delegate

Benjamin Ramos MD NM bdramos@salud.unm.edu Delegate

Gloria Ramos-Rivera MD NY gramosr@montefiore.org 787-642-0753 Delegate

Dmitry Ratner MA dmitry.ratner@gmail.com 339-545-1650 Medical Student 
Forum

Deepti Ravi MD Deepti.Ravi@medportal.ca Delegate

Bryan Rea MD,BS PA bryan.rea@uphs.upenn.edu 708-899-9056 Delegate

Opal Reddy MD CA oreddy@mednet.ucla.edu Delegate

Whitney Reid DO NE whitney.reid@unmc.edu 503-913-6420 Delegate

Cynthia Reyes barron BS TX creyesba711@gmail.com 915-274-7112 Medical Student 
Forum

Cynthia Reyes barron BS Primary 
Relationship

Justin Richey MD IN jdrichey@iupui.edu 801-602-1194 Secretary

Liliana Rincon MD TX lirincon@utmb.edu Delegate

Elizabeth Rinehart MD,BA MA erinehart@partners.org 785-760-3744 Member

Carrie Robinson MD MD carrie.robinson@med.navy.mil 8165197709 Delegate

Ana Rodrigues Pereira anarodriguespereira@yahoo.com 919002508 Medical Student 
Forum

Nicholas Rogers BA,BS AR nrogers2@uams.edu 501-690-5894 Medical Student 
Forum

Thomas Rogers DO VT thomas.rogers@uvmhealth.org 907-715-2268 Delegate

Ryan Romano DO MN romano.ryan@mayo.edu 5155543257 Delegate

Jason Rosen DO NY jrosen@winthrop.org 516-663-2450 Delegate

Jason Rosenbaum MD WI JNRosenbaumMD@gmail.com 608-262-7158 Delegate

Julia Ross MD,PhD CT julia.ross@yale.edu 561-596-1622 Delegate

Ana Ruano MD OH ruanoma@ccf.org 216-246-6516 Delegate

Natalia Rush MD IN natervin@iupui.edu 708-712-5755 Delegate

Patrick Rush DO WI PRush@uwhealth.org 757-515-9564 Delegate

Nida Safdar TN nida.s.zaid@gmail.com 513-532-6133 Primary 
Relationship

Samah Saharti MD CA sahrtsn@hotmail.com 7144566411 Delegate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 114



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

Ali Sakhdari MD,MSc MA ali.sakhdari@umassmemorial.org 508-793-6290 Delegate

Atif Saleem MA CA atif.saleem@tu.edu 408-561-7838 Primary 
Relationship

Siavash Samimi MD CA siamimi1@gmail.com 541-554-5413 Delegate

Rosalind Sandell MD MN rosalind.sandell@gmail.com 630-886-7319 Delegate

Rosalind Sandell MD Primary 
Relationship

Joseph Sanfrancesco MD MO jsanfrancesco@path.wustl.edu 610-639-2203 Delegate

Angela Sanguino Ramirez MD PA asanguino@yahoo.com 832-606-0356 Delegate

Erica Savage MD,FCAP IA erica-savage@uiowa.edu 651-587-6051 Delegate

Kurt Schaberg MD CA kschaber@stanford.edu 802-355-0872 Delegate

Robert Seifert MD FL seifert.md@gmail.com 904-537-4583 Delegate

Seema Sethi MD MI drsethi7@gmail.com 248-635-6225 Delegate

Alaleh Shandiz MD IN alalesma@iupui.edu 510-676-5078 Delegate

Divya Sharma MD,ACP OH sharmadi@UCMAIL.UC.EDU 585-766-2198 Delegate

Afzal Sheikh BS NY afzalsheikh1@gmail.com 347-586-8293 Medical Student 
Forum

Jian Shen MD,PhD NE jasonshen@creighton.edu 402-280-2700 Delegate

Rong Shen MD VA rong.shen@gunet.georgetown.edu 703-727-5754 Delegate

Archana Shenoy MBBS MO ashenoy@path.wustl.edu 314-362-0101 Delegate

Hemlata Shirsat MD shirsat.h@dal.ca Delegate

Jared Shows MD CO jared.shows@ucdenver.edu Delegate

Julia Silva BS NM jsmsilva@salud.unm.edu 575-644-6850 Medical Student 
Forum

Julia Silva BS Primary 
Relationship

Ayaka Silverman MD,PhD CA amsilver@uci.edu 714-456-6141 Delegate

Nirupama Singh MD,PhD AL neeru51203@gmail.com 205-533-6088 Delegate

Namita Sinha MD drnamitasinha1@gmail.com 902-4896259 Delegate

Joni Skipper MD NC 803-687 1714 Delegate

Amber Smith MD OH smitha9@ccf.org 2819795486 Delegate

Abha Soni DO,MPH AL abhasoni@uabmc.edu 256-286-5225 Delegate

Melissa Stalling DO,MS OH melissaflannery@gmail.com 6143128161 Delegate

Melissa Straub OH MelissaStraub114@gmail.com 330-7204628 Medical Student 
Forum

Lauren Stuart MD,MBA GA lauren.stuart@emory.edu 404-712-8211 Chair

Michael Stump MD SC stumpm@musc.edu Delegate

Lauren Sumida MD HI sumidal@hawaii.edu 808-258-2243 Delegate

Ashwyna Sunassee MD SD ash.sunassee@yahoo.com 267-844-1122 Delegate

Laura Taylor MD PA laura.taylor@uphs.upenn.edu Delegate

Irene Thung MD CA ithung@ucsd.edu 925-330-4488 Delegate

Russell Tipton MD GA russell.tipton@emory.edu 865-548-1251 Delegate

Michael Toussaint MD GA mtoussa@emory.edu 404-727-4283 Delegate

Jessica Tracht AL jtracht@uabmc.edu 9374752575 Delegate

Darshan Trivedi MD,PhD LA dtrivedi@tulane.edu Delegate

Hamilton Tsang MD NY hat9010@nyp.org 626-354-4242 Delegate

Louis Vaickus MD MA lvaickus@partners.org Delegate

Kavita Varma MD MI kvarma1@hfhs.org 313-916-7389 Delegate

Jaylou Velez-Torres FL jveleztorres@med.miami.edu 939-640-9991 Delegate

Meggen Walsh DO FL meggen.walsh@ufl.edu 814-873-0010 Alternate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 115



Residents Forum Roster
August 31, 2015

Peng Wang MD,PhD MD pwang.dr@gmail.com 703-389-5665 Delegate

Qi Wang MD LA qwang3@lsuhsc.edu 318-675-4820 Delegate

Rebecca Waters MD,DO TX reewater@utmb.edu 713-829-6515 Delegate

Jaclyn Watkins MD MA jcwatkins@partners.org Delegate

Grace Weyant MD PA gweyant@hmc.psu.edu 717-531-8246 Delegate

Rumeal Whaley BA KY rdwhal01@louisville.edu 502-338-1495 Medical Student 
Forum

Emily Wilding MD MD ewilding@umm.edu Delegate

Kimberly Williams DO PA kimberly.williams2@uphs.upenn.edu 215-829-3547 Delegate

Brian Wong brian.wong2010@gmail.com 306-7510575 Medical Student 
Forum

Willard Wong MD,MBBS willardwong@hotmail.com 647-6672823 Delegate

Jennifer Woo MD CA jswoo@mednet.ucla.edu Delegate

Richard Wu MD,PhD MI rwu@med.wayne.edu 313-745-9288 Delegate

Jia Xu MA jxu3@bidmc.harvard.edu 352-328-5066 Delegate

Ling Yan MD,PhD OR yali@ohsu.edu 314-443-2461 Delegate

Maggie Yell MD WV mayell@hsc.wvu.edu 304-598-4000 Delegate

Edward Yoon MD MA eyoon@bidmc.harvard.edu Delegate

Esther Yoon NY Yoone@wcmc.com Delegate

Allison Zemek MD CA azemek@stanford.edu Delegate

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 116



Fall ’15 HOD Meeting 

Panelists’ Bios 
 

Richard S. Cooper, JD – Attorney, McDonald Hopkins  

Richard S. Cooper, JD, is the manager of McDonald Hopkins’ National Healthcare Practice Group and is 
co-chair of its Healthcare Restructuring Practice Group. Mr. Cooper served on the firm's Board of 
Directors from 1992-2012. He focuses his national practice in healthcare law, representing clients in 
transactional, restructuring, corporate, compliance, regulatory, licensure, reimbursement, contractual, 
strategic planning, and venture matters. 

 

Frank Dookie, MBA – National Contracting, Humana Inc. 

Frank Dookie is responsible for execution of Humana’s laboratory strategy. He has over 25 years of 
diagnostics experience having worked for LabCorp, Pharmacia Diagnostics, and Humana. 

He has a BA in Economics from Rutgers University and an MBA in Healthcare from University of Phoenix. 

 

Jeffrey Guy, MD – Chief Medical Officer, TriStar Health System 

Dr. Jeffrey Guy received his medical degree from Northeastern Ohio Universities College of Medicine and 
completed his residency in general surgery at Northeastern Ohio University College of Medicine, Akron 
General Medical Center in Akron, Ohio. He completed fellowships in trauma surgery research at Case 
Western Reserve University School of Medicine in Cleveland, surgical critical care and trauma surgery at 
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in Chapel Hill, N.C., and burn surgery at North Carolina Jaycee 
Burn Center at University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. He also completed the Charles Fox Traveling 
Burn Fellowship with the American Burn Association. In 2009, Guy received a Masters of Management in 
Health Care from Vanderbilt’s Owen Graduate School of Management. 

As the Chief Medical Officer for TriStar Health, Dr. Guy supervises the implementation of initiatives and 
best practices that improve clinical outcomes and ensure patient safety for almost 126,000 patient 
admissions and over 640,000 emergency room visits annually. He is also responsible to the clinical 
engagement of over 5,300 physicians and 14,000 employees at 22 hospitals in three states. 

Prior to joining TriStar Health, Dr. Guy was Chief Medical Director for the pediatric program at TriStar 
Centennial Women’s & Children’s Hospital and Director of the Regional Burn Center and acute operative 
services at Vanderbilt University Medical Center in Nashville. He also served as an associate professor of 
surgery, chief of the division of burn surgery, fellowship director of burn surgery, and course director of 
the critical illness immersion course at the Vanderbilt University School of Medicine. 

In addition to his healthcare leadership roles, Dr. Guy has authored over sixty papers and book chapters.  
For his efforts in training military medical providers, Dr. Guy is the recipient of the U.S. Army’s 
Commanders Award for Public Service and the Special Operations Medicine Service Award.  He was also 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 117



the associate global medical director of a pre-hospital Trauma Life Support (PHTLS) which has trained 
over 500,000 civilian and military providers in 48 countries.  Dr. Guy has also been involved in a variety of 
child advocacy projects and has been recognized by the State of Tennessee for the prevention and 
recognition of child abuse. 

Dr. Guy’s personal interests include writing, training for marathons, baseball and hockey. He and his wife, 
pediatric endocrinologist Deanna Aftab Guy, have five children. 

 

Barry Portugal – Owner, Health Care Development Services, Inc. 

Barry Portugal is President of Health Care Development Services, Inc., a strategic business planning 
management consulting firm. He has been in practice for more than thirty-four years representing 
hospitals, large healthcare systems, pathology groups, and businesses with interests in the health care 
industry. 

Mr. Portugal has undergraduate and graduate degrees in business administration from the University of 
Illinois and the University of Pennsylvania respectively. He also attended Northwestern University School 
of Law. 

His firm’s special area of interest is group organizational dynamics, strategic planning, and business 
development for health systems and pathology groups. In this role, Mr. Portugal and his team have 
designed business plans which have achieved goals desired by client organizations. 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 118



A new reality

Over the coming years, changes in health care could drastically affect 
pathologists’ practices. Emerging technologies will require practices to expand 
in-house competencies. Consolidation will alter the competitive landscape. The 
transition from the traditional fee-for-service to value-based payment systems  
will reshape the way pathology practices have traditionally done business.

The health care industry is facing unprecedented change. 

To assist CAP members in adapting to changing market forces while also 
preparing for the transition to emerging payment systems, the CAP has 
created the Value-Based Business Center.

VALUE-BASED BUSINESS CENTER OVERVIEW

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 119



2

VALUE-BASED BUSINESS CENTER OVERVIEW

What is the Value-Based Business Center?

The Value-Based Business Center is a set of toolkits that will assist your practice 
with increasing its success in the current health care landscape while preparing 
for emerging payment systems. The Business Center is the only resource of its kind, 
created specifically for pathology practices. 

The Business Center is launching with a set of toolkits—Practice Self-Awareness, 
Practice Assessment, Market Awareness, Market Assessment, and Value Impact 
Analysis—that offer support throughout the adaptation process. Easy to use and 
implement, the Value-Based Business Center is available for free to all CAP members.

What will the Value-Based Business Center  
help my practice accomplish?

With the Value-Based Business Center, your practice can perform a variety of 
assessments and analyses that can improve its current situation while simultaneously 
preparing you for the ongoing emergence of value-based pricing systems.

While the shift from fee-for-service to value-based payment will eventually affect 
everyone in the industry, practices with the foresight to act fast will be in a position 
to capitalize on new opportunities. The Value-Based Business Center will help you:  

• Identify your practice’s strengths and opportunities for improvement.

• Uncover areas of untapped expertise within your practice, opening doors  
to new revenue sources.

• Identify the concerns, challenges, and opportunities facing your clients, 
helping you to assess the services your practice offers.

• Assess your practice’s competencies, capabilities, and capacities, ensuring 
decisions can be made based on factual evidence.

• Allow you to conduct market research in a manner designed specifically  
for pathology practices.

• Guide your practice in planning and executing value-generating health  
care improvement projects.

Addressing the current health care market while preparing to implement new 
payment systems will be critical for every practice’s continued success, and  
should be approached with a plan in place. The toolkits have been developed  
to help your practice address key elements of the transition.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 120



3

VALUE-BASED BUSINESS CENTER OVERVIEW

Gather Data

Make Decisions

Pursue Opportunities

• Awareness/Exploration
• Change Leader(s) Identified

• Assess Practice 
• Assess Market

• Select New Business Model(s)

• Build Evidence Base
• Negotiate Payment

• Implement
• Monitor and Improve

Practice Self-Awareness Toolkit

Practice Assessment Toolkit

Value Impact Analysis Toolkit Got Value Toolkit

Market Awareness Toolkit

The graphic below represents the Value-Based Business Center. While the toolkits 
may be completed individually, they will be most effective when used together.

*Business Dashboard 

*Proposed 
future tools

*Decision Making Toolkit

*Conflict Management Toolkit

*Collaboration and Leadership Toolkit

ACPE Basic Negotiation Skills  
Online Course

*Applying Negotiation Principles  
to Pathologists’ Scenarios

*Hiring Best Practices Toolkit

*Practice Mergers/Acquisitions Toolkit

*Various ACO/value-based  
payment toolkits

Market Assessment Toolkit

Billing Assessment

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 121



4

VALUE-BASED BUSINESS CENTER OVERVIEW

Practice Self-Awareness Toolkit

The Practice Self-Awareness Toolkit utilizes surveying to help your practice gain 
insight into what your pathologists think about your practice and its future. This 
toolkit will assist your practice in developing and implementing a common  
vision and strategic direction. 

The Practice Self-Awareness Toolkit will provide:

• Insight into how your pathologists view your practice and its future.

• Information necessary for developing a common vision, the first step  
in creating a sustainable strategic direction.

Practice Assessment Toolkit

The Practice Assessment Toolkit provides an objective review of your practice’s 
medical skill sets, organizational capabilities, and capacities. By identifying 
strengths and opportunities for growth, your practice will be more competitive  
and able to capitalize on current and future conditions. 

The Practice Assessment Toolkit will provide:

• An evaluation of your practice’s medical competencies.

• A determination of your practice’s organizational capabilities.

• An assessment of your practice’s capacities regarding anatomic  
pathology services.

Market Awareness Toolkit

The Market Awareness Toolkit utilizes surveying to help your practice gain insight 
from clients. Survey questions address how your practice’s services align with  
your clients’ concerns, opportunities, areas for growth, etc.

The Market Awareness Toolkit will provide: 

• Information regarding your clients and their opportunities, challenges, etc.

• Client-based opinions of your practice and its strengths and opportunities for growth.

• Information for identifying next steps, implementing practice improvements, 
and capitalizing on market opportunities. 

Market Assessment Toolkit

The Market Assessment Toolkit will help your practice to better understand your 
market, uncover new opportunities, and develop a strategic plan to make the 
most of your findings.

The Market Assessment Toolkit will provide:

• An analysis of current market conditions.

• Visibility into the unmet needs/expectations of your market.

• Definitions for your practice’s market(s) of interest.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 122



5

VALUE-BASED BUSINESS CENTER OVERVIEW

Billing Assessment Toolkit

The Billing Assessment Toolkit is designed to help your practice navigate the complex 
processes involved in billing and collections, commonly referred to as the revenue 
cycle. Your practice can increase its revenue by either performing more services or  
by generating more cash from the services it currently provides.

The Billing Assessment Toolkit will provide:

• Key performance indicators to help identify problem(s) within the billing process 

• An evaluation of payments and bad debt write-offs 

• A process to calculate various revenue cycle metrics 

• A method to evaluate your practice’s charge capture 

• Example letters to adapt to your practice for denial appeals

Value Impact Analysis Toolkit

The Value Impact Analysis Toolkit will provide your practice with a framework 
to identify health care improvement projects and to communicate the value 
contributed by your practice. 

The Value Impact Analysis Toolkit will provide:

• Information necessary for planning health care improvement projects.

• Visibility into the costs and outcomes of your practice’s activities.

• Analysis of your practice’s impact on patient care and system resources.

Additional resources

In addition to the above toolkits, the Value-Based Business Center includes 
information to help your practice enhance its negotiation skills and better 
understand the opportunities for pathologists in value-based payment systems.

Will my practice be able to utilize all of the  
Value-Based Business Center’s toolkits?

The Value-Based Business Center is scalable to all practice sizes. Whether you’re a 
small practice serving a limited geographic area or a regional/national chain, the 
Business Center will provide the tools necessary for gathering the information you 
need to implement new payment systems. While some practices may choose to 
utilize the services of external service providers to assist them in the process,  
the toolkits can be completed utilizing only your practice’s internal resources.

As with all of our products and services, the CAP will be offering a breadth of support 
to our members in this endeavor. Any questions will be addressed by the Business 
Center developers, ensuring you receive information from subject matter experts.   

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 123



6© 2014 College of American Pathologists. All rights reserved.
99085 0914

VALUE-BASED BUSINESS CENTER OVERVIEW

Questions can be emailed to practicemanagement@cap.org or contact:

Doug Knapman
Director, Practice Management, 
Membership & Professional Development
dknapma@cap.org
800-323-4040 ext. 7738 or 847-832-7738 

Anthony Battistone
Senior Manager, Value Practices, Practice Management, 
Membership & Professional Development
abattis@cap.org
800-323-4040 ext. 7548 or 847-832-7548 

A new day in health care

Moving forward, the ability to adapt to changing 
conditions will separate successful practices from those  
that will fall by the wayside. For savvy organizations,  
this new reality is not an obstacle. It’s an opportunity.  
How you take advantage of it is up to you.

Learn more at cap.org/practicemanagement.

Gather Data
Make Decisions
Pursue Opportunities

More to come

These toolkits are only the beginning of the Value-Based Business Center. 
The CAP is continuing to develop new resources that will assist CAP members 
and their practices with not only adapting to the changing health care 
industry, but identifying new opportunities for continued success. New 
toolkits, along with webinars, course work, online resources, and more will 
address the mission-critical aspects of operating pathology practices in  
a value-based environment.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 124



  

 
House of Delegates Members Honored with 

2015 CAP Meritorious Service Awards 
 
 

Donald S. Karcher, MD, FCAP 
2015 CAP Pathologist of the Year Award 

 
Stephen G. Ruby MD, MBA, FCAP 

2015 CAP Distinguished Service Award 
 

Michael J. Misialek MD, FCAP 
2015 CAP Outstanding Communicator Award 

established in honor of William L. Kuehn 
 

Rajesh C. Dash, MD, FCAP 
2015 CAP Pathology Advancement Award 

 
Jerad M. Gardner, MD, FCAP 

2015 CAP Resident Advocate Award 
 

Ronald B. Lepoff, MD, FCAP 
2015 CAP Lifetime Achievement Award 

 

  
October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 125



How to Update Your CAP Member Contact Information 

Please update your member data online. 
1. Log in at www.cap.org – (HELLO LOG IN MY CAP)

2. Select Update My Profile in MY CAP dropdown.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 126

http://www.cap.org/


3. Choose Change Personal and Professional Details under Personal
Details.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 127



HOD Discussion Board Instructions and Guidelines 
 
To Access the HOD Discussion Board follow the steps below: 
 

1. Go to http://www.cap.org/collaboration/groups/HOD and log in. 

 

2. Save this site to your Favorites so you can easily access it again later. 

3. Click on the drop down box on upper right hand corner and under My Profile – choose Access my 
Committees 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 128

http://www.cap.org/collaboration/groups/HOD


4. Click the link for HOUSE OF DELEGATES on the left hand navigation pane. 

 

5. Click the “Delegate Discussion: Potential Rules Changes” Discussion Forum.  

 

6. Start a New Conversation thread in this forum.  Or - click on the issue to open it to view the previous 
posts/responses.   

 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 129



7. Click the “REPLY TO THIS” button. 

 

8. In the “BODY TEXT” box, type your response and then click the “POST COMMENT” button. 

 
 
  

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 130



TO BE AUTOMATICALLY ALERTED WHEN A NEW COMMENT HAS BEEN POSTED 
 

1. Once you are logged into the Collaboration Space, click the “subscribe” button in the MAIL 
SUBSCRIPTION box in the upper left hand navigation pane.   

 
 
 
When posting your comments, please observe the following guidelines:  
 

• Be clear and concise. If possible and appropriate, indicate upfront if you agree or disagree with the 
statement or issue to which you are responding. Avoid meaningless threads, one word (or short) 
nonsense posts, etc.  

• Rudeness, profanity, insulting posts, personal attacks or purposeless inflammatory posts cannot be 
tolerated and will be removed.  

• Please no advertising, spamming or trolling.  

• Discussion of illegal activities such as antitrust violations is prohibited. 

• While these guidelines cover most common situations, we cannot anticipate everything. In 
promoting the interests of all Delegates, there may be times when we must take actions to ensure 
that the HOD Forum is not disrupted or abused. 

• We suggest that you never give out your log-in information to anyone. We are unable to prevent 
undesirable consequences that might arise should you disclose this information.  

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact House Speaker, James E. Richard, DO, FCAP @ 
housespeaker@cap.org or CAP HOD Staff Jan Glas @ jglas@cap.org. 
 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 131

mailto:housespeaker@cap.org
mailto:jglas@cap.org


CAP Expenses 12/31/08.xls  05-8234R9

House of Delegates Member Expense Reimbursement Form

Please complete demographic and travel related information below.
Name

Address

City State Zip

Reason for Travel (Please be specific, e.g. list full committee name.) House of Delegates Meeting

Date(s) of Travel Destination

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday
Dates   m/d/yy 10/04/15 10/02/15 10/03/15
Air/Rail $0.00
Hotel $0.00
Meals

Breakfast ($40) $0.00
Lunch ($45) $0.00
Dinner ($130) $0.00

Auto
Personal Auto 1 (Enter miles in line 30 below) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Auto Rental (include gas) $0.00
Tolls/Parking $0.00
Taxi $0.00

Gratuities $0.00
Miscellaneous 2 $0.00
TOTAL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

# of Miles
1  Personal car allowance =  $0.575
2  Includes up to $25 per day for phone, fax, internet connection, and health related activities (with proper documentation)

Total Expenses Incurred $0.00

 
For Office Use Only: Account Combination Total

01-70-7095-59040-000000-00000

Signed Date

For Office Use Only: Approved Date

I wish to donate my reimbursement to the CAP 
Foundation (please initial on the line to the right)

Please return form and receipts via fax to Leah Noparstak at 847-832-8438.

10/2 - 3/2015 Nashville, TN

I hereby certify that the above expenses were incurred by me while on official 
business for the College of American Pathologists and that reimbursement is due 
me.

House of Delegates Members are eligible for up to $100 reimbursement for attending one meeting per calendar year and 
up to $300 total for attending two meetings per calendar year. Receipt(s) must be submitted for expense amount claimed.

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 132



 

Save the Dates! 

 

2016 Policy Meeting 
May 2-4, 2016 
Washington, DC 
 

Spring ’16 House of Delegates Meeting 
March 12, 2016 
Seattle, WA 
 

Fall ’16 House of Delegates Meeting 
September 24, 2016 
Las Vegas, NV 
 

CAP ’16 – THE Pathologists’ Meeting™ 
September 25-28, 2016 
Las Vegas, NV 
 

 

October 3, 2015 | House of Delegates | CONFIDENTIAL Page 133


	00Front Cover.HOD
	01Cover front inside - Going Green in Twenty15
	02Table of Contents v4
	Agenda Book Contents

	03 Fall 15 HOD Agenda_v8
	04 Minutes HOD 03-21-2015 v7
	10Mission Vision Strategic Initiatives
	11PPT HOD Mtg F15 Dashboard and Data
	12Sec Treas Rpt Fall Commentary
	Year-to-date revenue of $95.0 million exceeds the prior year by $5.2 million and the budget by $0.7 million. Growth in PT sales and an increase in LAP fees drive the revenue increase.  The revenue for LAP fees and PT are favorable to budget by $1.6 mi...

	13_2014 CAP Financials
	College of American Pathologists
	Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

	College of American Pathologists
	Notes to Financial Statements
	December 31, 2014


	1501-1386344_College of American Pathologists_Schedules_14-13_Final.pdf
	3-Assets
	4-Liabilities
	6-Cash Flow


	14June 2015 CoA Report
	15June 2015 COE Report
	16AUG 2015 CMPD Meet Rpt_HOD FINAL
	20 Liaison Report to COA
	21 Liaison Report COE
	22 Liaison Report CSA
	30 AG on Comm Netw report to F15 HOD 08272015
	31 AG on Rules III report to HOD 07282015
	32 Proposed Amendments to Rules of HOD 2015-08-20 v.4
	40 2016 Steering Committee Elections Timeline
	41 2016 Candidate Information Request Form
	50 Delegate Questions - Updated 2015-09-14
	60 014-2017 HOD Roster4AgendaBook
	61 RULES 03022013
	Outline Index To Contents
	Rules of the House of Delegates
	Index Number Page
	INDEX NUMBER PAGE
	Rules of the House of Delegates
	Article I - Preamble
	Article II - Membership
	Section l: Requirement for membership and terms of office
	Section 4: Nominations


	Article IV - Elections
	Article VII - Amendments






	62 2015 House Apportionment
	Sheet2

	63 Key Dates 2015-2016 as of 2015-09-03
	64 Residents Forum Roster
	Sheet1

	65 BIOs Panelists
	66 Value Based Business Center Overview
	67 CAP Meritorious Service Awards HOD members
	69 HOD Discussion Board Instructions and Guidelines (2)
	70HOD Fall '15 Reimbursement Form
	Expense Record

	80Back Cover.HOD



